

Research Foundation





















Contents

Introduction	4
Social & Emotional Development	6
SED 1 Self-Awareness	8
SED 2 Self-Regulation	1C
SED 3 Social Relationships	12
SED 4 Problem-Solving	14
Approaches to Learning	16
ATL 1 Attention & Persistence	18
ATL 2 Flexibility & Play	20
Physical Development	
PD 1 Gross Motor	24
PD 2 Fine Motor	
PD 3 Safety	
PD 4 Personal Care	
PD 5 Nutrition	32
Language & Literacy	
LLD 1 Listening	36
LLD 2 Communication	38
LLD 3 Phonological Awareness	
LLD 4 Alphabetic Knowledge	
LLD 5 Concepts of Print	
LLD 6 Reading Comprehension	46
LLD 7 Writing	48

Mailiellaires	50
M 1 Number Sense	52
M 2 Spatial Awareness	54
M 3 Shapes	56
M 4 Measurement	58
M 5 Patterns	60
M 6 Classification	62
Science	64
SCI 1 Investigation & Inquiry	
SCI 2 Natural & Earth Science	68
SCI 3 Physical Science	70
SCI 4 Technology	72
Social Studies	74
SS 1 Culture & Community	76
SS 2 Civics & Economics	78
SS 3 Geography	80
SS 4 History & Sense of Time	82
Creative Arts	84
CA 1 Music	
CA 2 Dance & Movement	88
CA 3 Visual Arts	90
CA 4 Drama	92
Second Language Acquisition	94
CIA 1 A A	tion
SLA 1 Approach to Second Language Acquisi	

Experience Early Learning specializes in the development and publication of research-based curriculum, books, music and authentic assessment tools for early childhood teachers and parents around the world. Our mission is to inspire children to experience learning through creative expression, play and open-ended discovery. We believe in educational materials that invite children to engage fully (physically, emotionally and intellectually), support their ongoing development and encourage them to become the authors of their own unique learning stories.



Research Foundation

The Experience Early Learning Assessment and Curriculum System is uniquely designed to:

- Serve children from birth through kindergarten.
- Feature 36 skills and 73 sub-skills that research correlates with school success.
- Align with state early learning standards.
- Be inclusive of dual language learners and children with special needs.
- Gather authentic data by observing children in natural play or within a classroom routine.
- Monitor and chart progress over time.
- Offer educators support on how to use the assessment data to scaffold activities, design environments and nurture relationships.





This Research Foundation outlines the latest research and theories in the field of early childhood education and forms the basis of the skills reinforced throughout all Experience Early Learning curricula. Because development is gradual and reflects cumulative influences over time, each child's learning journey is unique. Educators can use this research foundation to better understand the theory and research behind how and why a child's knowledge develops, as well as what skills, concepts and approaches to learning will support the overall growth and development of the child.

This resource includes skills that research has shown to be strong predictors of success in school and later in life. Skills are presented on a developmental continuum to represent the ongoing process of early childhood growth and development. These skills and developmental benchmarks are embedded within all Experience Early Learning curricula and resources, including Experience Preschool, Experience Toddler and Experience Baby Curriculum. The skills are grouped into nine domains of learning:

- 1. Social & Emotional Development
- 2. Approaches to Learning
- 3. Physical Development
- 4. Language & Literacy Development
- 5. Mathematics
- 6. Science
- 7. Social Studies
- 8. Creative Arts
- 9. Second Language Acquisition



8 DOMAINS WITH 36 SKILLS

DEVELOPMENTAL CONTINUUM

for each of the 73 sub-skills

		expresses confidence	or turning hand to used purce Employs hands and but.	ine Semptional schaing class often			expresses confidence in our stalling		pride in paramed accomplishments.	Engine's house and apply a growth mindest
		GIO 15 Expresses words and probremes	Vicalian or mous to sepan	at ar suporedate faccelse or allega, objects or pumple.	Especias Dan and dollars	When given him to fine options, chances that must decired option.	Describes and company, policenses of self- and others	Especies and adventise for ma's needs or personal patheterium.	Understands others might have different reach and professorars then self.	Expressional advantas unputer self and off- lands perfolyate according to arisy as palenton to attack different work.
	SED 1 Self-Awgreness	III) I - Completes teals Independently	Resolve to a healter object	independently	Complete funder toda or solution independently May all need adult securities accession.	Especial interest is planning or trying new or complex trails and antidias with help.	Salan rain and public will in accomplish new teals independently	Servick a banifur test or activity with a officered approach.	Recisis and place a benillar took and describes surpt to improve results.	Facility have self-and otherweight he oblic to po to a tend and describes and plans what is result to itemate.
		IID 14 Identificameters	Make foold aspressions or to express angugament containing or stress or disconfest.	s range of emotions with facial one and gestoms	Barrignian and same a few personal leadings	liferiffes and describes personal lealings	Sampian Anthologous Aurya	Marifles complex ballegs and exceptions that hay one have more than one finding with some time.	Martiles yest, covers and better backers and asplains when they night experience different backers.	Antispata, an amalianal separan Baltany na a given akantan
	SED 2 Self-Regulation	IID in Manages Indings and industries	Calmy with appear from new	et a familiar adolt, han er ette pensida enembet allam upuat ana altanton.	Ragins to use othergies to regulate emolium or behavior with support from Semilar askab	Unas e vertely of drebegies to segulate amotors or habitation. May all resed exist prompting or normalism.	to againts amotions or habitation	effect entire entire contrates	alustora	Applies strategies for managing numerations of Subscience
	StD 2 See-Regulation	US 25 Falleres restines and transitions	Escario in chargas in torus of a expression.	one is hardler resistance and re with support	Baropian v bedler artify or motes and radiosis to a new artify with appent	Antiques wherems nervelline delp make. Rempies whe Rengini make is not followed and deaths he sharps.	followedally review. With apport, regulates unpoli- to handle new reviews or transitions.	Sensions from one entity to the next and helps others brough the transition.	Eventher storagies to subject and rain reward in new or streets! charless.	minimal above.
		with milds	princely rangium.	na in and interest with handler a combut and apport.	Engages in interestions with new solubs, but nature to the princery conspicers for conflict and appear.	Engages is positive bank and both interactions with nature bendler which	ir kadı and beh autorger vilt adds	Martifles trained solubs in the community and describes when to seek help.	Executive of americal size of the lead and all seed and and all seeds help when resolved.	Searches have trained adults our provide suppression writings and how to build position while
	SED 3 Social Relationships	GID 3h Develops relationships with poors			Describbed it intensing will pure and may demonstrate polarance for qualify pure.	Nank flat Ray play with consistently	Demonstrates connection with others and identifies similar interests on Yumila.	Describes paramel trianshitips, and manningful relationships.	Exercises observatariates of positive friends/lips and how to lead of positive relationships.	Describes different spac of windomskips. Salars and, when and considers the resolved others.
	Relationships	III) In Participates compared only in groups	Engages in simple useful inter engames the peak action.	artism, all obtain	inite agreep and participates in an entirity when asked	With appear from an eal-It, initiates play with pears and was prosonial behavior wills such as sharing, walking and taking turns	billates play with pears and uses prescried liaburate skills such as sharing, uniting and skiing-turns. May all roand solub prompting or surrasion.	identifies roles of self and others during group teals, or extintion. Offervio help others.	working in a group.	Engine to our notice listering and industry of a likes to appear collaboration in a group sating
		USD 3rd Infantifies and respects constitute of others	Adjoin balancer according to to facial susuming of a hardle	a different facial expressions, such	Samples to environ of other and demonstrate, consent for others	Esplains bour and why someone may be bailing a sprinter amotion.	blanifar, complex facings of others and sequends. accordingly.	Esplains how self and others may be lainted or different in a variety of citations and explains why	Easts to understand and appear often' facings.	Samminian report for other utching differ hallow and reach. Drops amonths to other
		SID-Sa Salvas praklama	Uses simple reported artists	how hings work using repeated	Securiors a poblem and poly-lic adult	Supports and purchase populate solutions to a	Day maring knowledge to determine which solution	Emineteracyclife solutions to a solution to Window	Explains the sequence of their problem	Enhan problems by connecting personal exper-
	SED 4 Problem-Solving		Resista successiva chaires.	ame to adva a problem.	help is usine the problem.	problem with support from our solub. With solub support Tota Onions or solubors hallow.	erry for when arising a position. Makes independent designs broad on rules	Armyly flair potential south and consequences Consider, when't before when making dentains.	solving strategy. Evolution annulate solutions and that companyones	to possible solutions. Demonstrates researchilds decision, making by
		GID th Responsible Decision Making	see fring for a ray when male are southinks	ions	uch in "El from my by Englished".	making education.	and himes.	Conservation and conservation	habita sering	obbliggion, extenses as an operators
C		ATL To Atlanda	Facures for a short-line on a	to what others we looking at or	Persona on an angaging nativity for a	Procuse on an anguiging activity for a short partial	Somin have be at land for minder, even if there	Latein books afam'en ninde, even I han en	Europe Tong for at least King minute, year. I flow	Exercises how for herp Everninates, warn Prince
Ĝ	ATI 1 Attention &	43.16 Parties	anadorthing Ensure is a continued inter-	artery's mine made	dest parte del tima with solut recordan.	distribution of seasons	en detectors Basis to section a chelerolog article with	detection. Senior on a chillrenina articly independents	and detections.	distantion. Flore steps to pursue on ideas and implements in
	Persistence		activity with a hardlest object		enticity chain for help on recorded	Represent delight our a surround dyropin.	hadar upper	read in a reading army majorismy.	challenging antidy or like and implement it with persistence.	peristance independently
		AT. In these feebliy	Shifts intention from one parts to another	antice from one test to another repting and solid support	With soled support, demonstrates ability to shift ideas, plane or insegmenter while senting on a simple tests or satisty.	With solid support, diamenstrates skilly in skill dates, pilens or inseglection while perforpering in complex trade or role play awarene.	Commission shifty in shift ideas, plans or integrisation while protestparing in simple tests or trie play commiss independently	Demonstrates shally be shift ideas, plans or integritation while completing complex balls or genes independently	Imagines new ways to approach a teal or diamor information when obstacles we present	Summinutes ability to fluority shift approaches complainted a independently
	ATL 2 Flexibility & Play	AT. 26 Engages in play	Explores and manipulates ma	n and plays by themselves adult or still insolvement	Wathausharuping and plays side by side with another person.	inin a group and participates in group play. Hely have different purposes of play.	Engages in conpension play by shoing, inding turns and offering in help offers, identifies color of self-and others during trade and play.	Engages in until play and resite goals and sweet're Heritocile resite polities, white	With solub support plays, games or articles with complex rules.	Figs genes or articles with observine bow or rules. May reside own rules to genes
G	PD 1 Gross Motor	FO 1 Builds strength,	Bolly crossly sits independent self-into a standing position of	natirlanka Carrias, ahaga, kirin as ahiaris	Sun. Balances on a wide base. Tomas dilarit in an intended district. Catches	Balancan and hope or one has Tomas both marked and analythmid Catches or links	Piga from ana four to Raceflan Bagins to dip. Constitutes multiple movement in simple serverses.	Changes disorter and speed of movement.	Balances on a unitary of objects. Color or others manifest deligible of a supergraph Lances. Street	Date conditioning males is a strengther muscle increase and across. Countries in Miles com-
ي	PD 1 Gross Moror	large moudes			dijet spinskoly	moving aligners.			at a boundary	mountain in conforma play
	PD 2 Fine Motor	PO 2 Builds strongth and coordination of another property	Baselias for objects in sight or hands or faul to make contact an object	Edy groups skjerte with finger els. Uses hands to accomplish ch as faud on will	Opens, closes, steries, tudes and pulls diparts with one or both hands	Uses hands and lingues to manipulate objects, such as artinging large leasts or expering with orients.	Manipulates objects from the balls like buttering signing has blog being and following a simple line when continues and concinues.	Manipulates abjects forcept tools like following an enfore with evisions, tying stone, and alreading self.	Thereis and heath. Stole and object. Uses arisen to not more shallenging material, such as helpin or continue.	Manipulates objects of all since with operall and accuracy.
	PD 3 Safety	PO 3 Demandrates safe presiden	Reservo or unexpected resides, straights.	this possible dangers conset and avoids them constal.	Politon simple safety value and movids damper	Polinus soluty rains and helps others follow rains identifies disagreess shouldons and under helps	Execution seasons for sofety rules and nation's often to believe them.	Apples general solely value to a variety of excepting absolute with life prompting.	Matthe energety shoton and how to belone accordingly Describes how to get help.	Tales appropriate initiative in designment and emergency absolute.
	PD 4 Personal Co-	PO de Implemente sulli como musicos including resi, sulleitos	Cries or mouse lendy when pl are not mail	n participata in salf.com activities agricus ha difference between d classe.	Will help, participates in self-rose moltres	Recognises personal reads and loss to get then met and implements with solut support	Mask mod paramel and hygiene needs when prompted by an adult	Michigan paramed names and proper hygiene with semanismal seminders.	Independently maintains parsonal and hygiera needs	Equipm how to manage health and role of one and sort in self-and others.
	Po a Paradillo			to body early when economical	Metilia boir body sets.	Country for boston of basis body were Care	Eastern how more second and describes simple	Manhalm		The same
-						locate body pain.	atomagias for presenting the spread.			
				-	Region to interestly bareline founds,	identifies hand and arran a portion into a local or slots and back self.	Maritian food groups, anti-food and			

Within the first eight domains are 36 skills. Each skill is defined and may be broken down further into 73 sub-skills. Each sub-skill includes a series of observable benchmarks that track ongoing development from birth through primary levels. Development is a dynamic process. The transition between learning and development occurs within the "zone of proximal development" (Vygotsky 1978). This is the distance between the most difficult task a child can perform without help and the most difficult task they can do with support.

Post-Vygotskian researchers developed the idea of "scaffolding" to represent the support that children receive from their educators and peers in reaching new developmental goals (Wood, Bruner, & Ross 1976). Benchmarks 1–8 within the Experience Early Learning Developmental Continuum of Skills offer educators a framework for understanding how to scaffold and set learning goals aligned within the child's zone of proximal development.

The Experience Early Learning Assessment and Curriculum System offers families, educators and states a comprehensive and multidimensional view of a child's learning journey by mapping the child's learning with the Developmental Continuum of Skills and documenting the progress within the assessment framework. The Experience Early Learning Assessment and Curriculum System can be used as one of many tools to inform parents, directors, educators or states on a child's progress. This system recognizes the importance of inviting educators and families to collaboratively observe children, set learning goals and communicate in ways that acknowledge child developmental theory and value cultural reciprocity. Cultural reciprocity is based on mutual respect, communication, collaboration and negotiation of culturally based beliefs, values and assumptions (Day and Parlakian 2003).

The Experience Developmental Continuum of Skills offers measurable benchmarks that can be observed during meaningful experiences within a child's natural play or typical school routine. Therefore, it is inclusive of children who are developmentally accelerated, those with developmental delays or disabilities and dual-language learners.





Social & Emotional Development

Social and emotional development refers to a child's growing capacity to recognize themself as an individual, identify and manage feelings, build relationships and navigate social environments. Responsive relationships are foundational in this process, providing children with the support needed to explore and learn.

A child's earliest experiences of warmth and closeness while being held and fed begin this important process of building trust and emotional security. The initial bond of trust with a parent or primary caregiver is what helps a child feel comfortable forming new relationships and exploring the world with curiosity. As children transition into classroom settings, nurturing and safe environments with positive, caring relationships become critical to children's social and emotional growth (Mahoney et al. 2021).

Brain research confirms the relationship between emotional and cognitive development, identifying that brain networks supporting intelligence and memory also support skills like emotion regulation (Immordino-Yang et al. 2018). Children with strong social and emotional skills are more likely to exhibit positive behaviors, form healthy relationships and achieve improved cognitive and academic outcomes (Greenberg 2023).

Proper brain development and subsequent learning rely on factors such as nutrition, sleep, physical activity, social relationships and emotional experiences. While emotional health and positive relationships can positively impact a child's ability to learn, the absence of these factors can increase vulnerability to the opposite (Immordino-Yang et al. 2018).

Educators increasingly recognize that social-emotional development during early childhood lays the foundation for future success. Research indicates that early social and emotional skills directly impact later school readiness and academic success, mental health and other life outcomes, such as productive employment (Hosokawa et al. 2024; Jones et al. 2015).

The Experience Developmental Continuum of Skills includes four Social & Emotional Development skills and 12 sub-skills.

		SED 1a Knows self and expresses confidence
CED I		SED 1b Expresses needs and preferences
SED I	Self-Awareness	SED 1c Completes tasks independently
		SED 1d Identifies emotions
CED O	Self-Regulation	SED 2a Manages feelings and behavior
SED 2		SED 2b Follows routines and transitions
		SED 3a Develops relationships with adults
CED 0	Social Relationships	SED 3b Develops relationships with peers
SED 3		SED 3c Participates cooperatively in groups
		SED 3d Identifies and respects emotions of others
CED 4	D 11 61:	SED 4a Solves problems
SED 4	Problem-Solving	SED 4b Responsible Decision-Making

 $\mathbf{6}$

Development §

SED 1 Self-Awareness



The Experience Developmental Continuum of Skills includes 4 Social & Emotional Development skills:

SED 1 Self-Awareness

Recognizes self and expresses confidence, communicating needs and preferences, completing tasks independently and identifying emotions.

SED 2 Self-Regulation

Manages feelings and behavior, as well as following routines and transitions.

SED 3 Social Relationships

Builds social relationships with adults and peers, participates cooperatively in groups and identifies and respects the emotions of others.

SED 4 Problem-Solving

Approaches challenges effectively, solves problems and makes responsible decisions.

Self-awareness refers to a child's ability to recognize themself as a unique individual with thoughts, feelings and preferences that may be different from others. It includes not only identifying and understanding these differences, but also growing confident in what makes them special. That confidence enables children to express their ideas and desires as they learn and grow.

From birth, babies gather information about themselves through interactions with their environment. By touching their faces and bodies, or by grabbing and kicking at people or objects, they begin to explore their influence on their environments. At around 18 months, children begin to recognize themselves in the mirror, an early sign of self-awareness (Chinn et al. 2024). Social relationships, making social comparisons and evolving cultural values also contribute to a child's developing self-concept (Brummelman and Thomaes 2017).

Self-awareness is foundational to cognitive, emotional and social development. Having a clear sense of self contributes to an array of other skills, as it is a building block for many other social competencies. For example, being able to identify one's own emotions is a precursor to regulating those emotions. Furthermore, a child who understands themself will have an easier time understanding the unique qualities of others. Self-awareness contributes to the development of empathy and the ability to help others (Krol and Bartz 2021). As children grow, self-awareness and emotional knowledge also impact achievement and school adjustment (Blankson et al. 2016).

SED 1 Self-Awareness

	Infant		Toddler	Preschool
Sub-skill / Definition	Benchmark 1	Benchmark 2	Benchmark 3	Benchmark 4
SED 1a Knows self and expresses confidence	Responds to name by cooing, smiling or turning head toward person talking. Explores hands and feet.	Responds to name and interacts with self in mirror. Recognizes self as being separate from others.	Names self and names basic body parts.	Identifies characteristics of self.
SED 1b Expresses needs and preferences	Vocalizes or moves to express needs.	Seeks out or responds to favorite or preferred toys, objects or people.	Expresses likes and dislikes.	When given two to three options, chooses their most desired option.
SED 1c Completes tasks independently	Reaches for a familiar object or toy.	Attempts to do a familiar task or explore objects independently.	Completes familiar tasks or activities independently. May still need adult support on occasion.	Expresses interest in planning or trying new or complex tasks and activities with help.
SED 1d Identifies emotions	Makes facial expressions or vocalizations to express engagement, contentment, stress or discomfort.	Shows a range of emotions with facial expressions and gestures.	Recognizes and names a few personal feelings.	Identifies and describes personal feelings.

		Primary			
Benchmark 5	Benchmark 6	Benchmark 7	Benchmark 8		
Describes thoughts and characteristics of self and expresses confidence in own abilities.	Identifies own strengths and personal talents.	Apply strengths to accomplish a task and exhibits pride in personal accomplishments.	Reflects and describes strengths and areas of growth. Begins to have and apply a growth mindset.		
Describes and compares preferences of self and others.	Expresses and advocates for one's needs or personal preferences.	Understands others might have different needs and preferences than self.	Expresses and advocates ways for self and others to both participate according to unique preferences and to attain differing wants.		
Takes risks and pushes self to accomplish new tasks independently.	Revisits a familiar task or activity with a different approach.	Revisits and plans a familiar task and describes ways to improve results.	Predicts how self and others might be able to perform in a task and describes and plans what is needed to improve.		
Recognizes that feelings can change.	Identifies complex feelings and recognizes that they can have more than one feeling at the same time.	Identifies past, current and future feelings and explains when they might experience different feelings.	Anticipates an emotional response that may result from a given situation.		

EARLY LEARNING

SED 2 Self-Regulation

The Experience Developmental Continuum of Skills includes 4 Social & Emotional Development skills:

SED 1 Self-Awareness

Recognizes self and expresses confidence, communicating needs and preferences, completing tasks independently and identifying emotions.

SED 2 Self-Regulation

Manages feelings and behavior, as well as following routines and transitions.

SED 3 Social Relationships

Builds social relationships with adults and peers, participates cooperatively in groups and identifies and respects the emotions of others.

SED 4 Problem-Solving

Approaches challenges effectively, solves problems and makes responsible decisions.

Self-regulation refers to a child's ability to manage their emotions, behaviors and body when faced with challenges. It includes identifying feelings, calming down after emotional events and controlling reactions, such as frustration or excitement.

Early indications of these skills include an infant self-soothing by sucking their hand or a toddler waiting patiently for their turn. Learning to cope with frustration or discomfort when a need is not immediately met is essential for developing self-regulation. Warm and responsive relationships contribute significantly to a child's ability to self-regulate during these formative years (Rosanbalm and Murray 2017)

Achieving self-regulation is an essential milestone in early childhood development. Children lacking these skills may struggle with friendships, exhibit frequent tantrums and face strained parent-child relationships. Conversely, well-regulated children tend to form positive relationships and demonstrate readiness for learning. They maintain better attention, exhibit problem-solving capabilities and perform well on tasks requiring delayed gratification and perspective-taking (Rosanbalm and Murray 2017).

SED 2 Self-Regulation

	Infant		Toddler	Preschool
Sub-skill / Definition	Benchmark 1	Benchmark 2	Benchmark 3	Benchmark 4
SED 2a Manages feelings and behavior	Calms with support from caregiver.	Seeks out a familiar adult, item or behavior to provide comfort when upset or in a new situation.	Begins to use strategies to regulate emotions or behavior with support from familiar adult.	Uses a variety of strategies to regulate emotions or behavior. May still need adult prompting on occasion.
SED 2b Follows routines and transitions	Reacts to changes in tone of voice or expression.	Participates in familiar routines and transitions with support.	Recognizes a familiar activity or routine and redirects to a new activity with support.	Anticipates what comes next within a daily routine. Recognizes when the typical routine is not followed and identifies the change.

Primary					
Benchmark 5	Benchmark 6	Benchmark 7	Benchmark 8		
Independently chooses and uses a variety of strategies to regulate emotions or behavior.	Describes and demonstrates appropriate responses to different emotions and behaviors.	Describes strategies to calm oneself in new or stressful situations.	Applies strategies for managing own emotions and behaviors.		
Follows daily routines. With support, negotiates ways to handle new routines or transitions.	Transitions from one activity to the next and helps others through the transition.	Describes strategies to adjust and calm oneself in new or stressful situations.	Adapts to new situations or routines quickly and with minimal stress.		

Oo Prience ARLY LEARNING

SED 3 Social Relationships

The Experience Developmental Continuum of Skills includes 4 Social & Emotional Development skills:

SED 1 Self-Awareness

Recognizes self and expresses confidence, communicating needs and preferences, completing tasks independently and identifying emotions.

SED 2 Self-Regulation

Manages feelings and behavior, as well as following routines and transitions.

SED 3 Social Relationships

Builds social relationships with adults and peers, participates cooperatively in groups and identifies and respects the emotions of others.

SED 4 Problem-Solving

Approaches challenges effectively, solves problems and makes responsible decisions.

Social relationship skills refer to a child's ability to positively interact and bond with other people. These skills are used in one-on-one interactions as well as group settings. Young children demonstrate these social relationship skills by connecting, cooperating, caring and responding to the needs of others.

Social relationship skills are rooted in the trust and security established in a child's first relationships with their primary caregivers. Recognizing and responding to a baby's signals aids in the development of a powerful initial bond, providing necessary regulatory support. Children continue to build social competence through observation and comparing their own beliefs with those of others. Children with positive, responsive early relationships often experience healthier future relationships, improved cognitive development and increased academic achievement (Baker 2024).

As children grow, they seek shared experiences with peers, engaging in activities that highlight their similarities and differences. These interactions facilitate emotional connections and relationship-building. A child's ability to build positive relationships with both adults and peers is important to social-emotional development and success in school (Baker 2024).

SED 3 Attention & Persistence

	Infant		Toddler	Preschool
Sub-skill / Definition	Benchmark 1	Benchmark 2	Benchmark 3	Benchmark 4
SED 3a Develops relationships with adults	Recognizes, interacts with and responds to primary caregivers.	Stays close to and interacts with familiar adults for comfort and support.	Engages in interactions with new adults, but returns to the primary caregivers for comfort and support.	Engages in positive back- and-forth interactions with new or familiar adults.
SED 3b Develops relationships with peers	Notices, responds to and looks at peers.	Engages in simple interactions with peers.	Shows interest in interacting with peers and may demonstrate preference for specific peers.	Engages in interactions with peers and has preferred friends that they play with consistently.
SED 3c Participates cooperatively in groups	Engages in simple social interactions, such as games like peek-a-boo.	Mimics actions of others.	Joins a group and participates in an activity when asked.	With support from an adult, initiates play with peers and uses prosocial behavior skills such as sharing, waiting and taking turns.
SED 3d Identifies and respects emotions of others	Adjusts behavior according to emotional or facial response of a	Explores different facial expressions, such as in pictures.	Recognizes the emotions of others and demonstrates concern for others.	Explains how and why someone may be feeling a certain emotion.

		Primary	
Benchmark 5	Benchmark 6	Benchmark 7	Benchmark 8
Initiates interactions and uses prosocial behavior skills in backand-forth exchanges with adults.	Identifies trusted adults in the community and describes when to seek help.	Describes characteristics of trusted adults and seeks help when needed.	Describes how trusted adults can provide support in various settings and how to build positive relationships.
Demonstrates connection with others and identifies similar interests as friends.	Describes personal friendships and meaningful relationships.	Describes characteristics of positive friendships and how to build positive relationships.	Describes different types of relationships. Takes care of self, others and considers the needs of others.
Initiates play with peers and uses prosocial behavior skills such as sharing, waiting and taking turns. May still need adult prompting on occasion.	Identifies roles of self and others during group tasks or activities. Offers to help others.	Fulfills personal roles and responsibilities when working in a group.	Begins to use active listening and inclusion of other's ideas to support collaboration in a group setting.
Identifies complex feelings of others and responds accordingly.	Explains how self and others may feel similar or different in a variety of situations and explains why.	Seeks to understand and support others' feelings.	Demonstrates respect for others who have differing feelings and needs. Shows empathy to others.

SED 4 Social Relationships



The Experience Developmental Continuum of Skills includes 4 Social & Emotional Development skills:

SED 1 Self-Awareness

Recognizes self and expresses confidence, communicating needs and preferences, completing tasks independently and identifying emotions.

SED 2 Self-Regulation

Manages feelings and behavior, as well as following routines and transitions.

SED 3 Social Relationships

Builds social relationships with adults and peers, participates cooperatively in groups and identifies and respects the emotions of others.

SED 4 Problem-Solving

Approaches challenges effectively, solves problems and makes responsible decisions.

Problem-solving involves a child's ability to recognize a problem, think of potential solutions and select the most effective option. It is a fundamental part of being socially and emotionally competent. (Hardy et al. 2024).

Children develop problem-solving abilities through natural play and social interactions, as well as planned problem-solving or open-ended tasks. Safe and supportive environments encourage children to make and learn from mistakes, further advancing their ability to solve problems. As children grow, these skills evolve from simple trial-and-error approaches to more advanced reasoning that considers the feelings and perspectives of others.

Developing social problem-solving skills in early childhood contributes to social functioning, but also prepares children to handle academic challenges throughout their years of learning (Walker et al. 2013). As problem-solving is linked to executive function, it also contributes to resilience later in life (Rungsattatharm et al. 2025). When problem-solving is done in a social setting, such as collaborating with peers to solve a problem, children learn perspective-taking, negotiation and how to create mutually beneficial solutions.

SED 4 Social Relationships

	Infant		Toddler	Preschool
Sub-skill / Definition	Benchmark 1	Benchmark 2	Benchmark 3	Benchmark 4
SED 4a Solves problems	Uses simple repeated actions or movements to solve a problem.	Explores how things work using repeated trial and error to solve a problem.	Recognizes a problem and asks for adult help to solve the problem.	Suggests and explores possible solutions to a problem with support from an adult.
SED 4b Responsible Decision-Making	Begins to recognize choices, such as reaching for a toy when multiple options are available.	Responds to simple guidance on safe and kind choices.	Identifies basic consequences of actions, such as "If I throw my toy, it might break".	With adult support, lists choices or solutions before making a decision.

		Primary	
Benchmark 5	Benchmark 6	Benchmark 7	Benchmark 8
Uses previous knowledge to determine which solution to try first when solving a problem.	Eliminates possible solutions to a problem by thinking through their potential results and consequences.	Explains the sequence of their problem solving strategy.	Solves problems by connecting personal experiences to possible solutions.
Makes independent choices based on rules and fairness.	Considers others' feelings when making decisions.	Evaluates possible solutions and their consequences before acting.	Demonstrates responsible decision-making by applying past experiences to new situations.



Approaches to Learning

Approaches to learning refers to young children's traits and behaviors as they engage with new experiences and manage learning tasks. Key facets include curiosity, initiative, persistence, cognitive flexibility and sustained attention. These domain-general learning behaviors support all areas of development and are strong predictors of school readiness and later academic success (Shah et al. 2018; Leonard et al. 2017). For example, greater early curiosity has been linked with higher kindergarten reading and math achievement (Shah et al. 2018), and persistence in goal-oriented tasks—independent of IQ—is associated with better long-term academic outcomes (Leonard et al. 2017). Young children who show eagerness to learn, initiate activities, stay focused and adapt to challenges tend to acquire knowledge and skills more quickly and efficiently.

The period from birth to age 8 is characterized by dramatic growth in how children approach learning. Infants and toddlers begin by exploring the world with intense curiosity but fleeting attention, relying on caregivers to scaffold their efforts. By the preschool years, children show increased self-directed initiative, longer attention spans, greater persistence in the face of mild frustration and begin to demonstrate flexible thinking, in the context of play and guided discovery. These capacities lay the groundwork for the formal learning of early elementary school, where children's curiosity becomes more focused and inquiry-based, their persistence and attention more self-regulated and their cognitive flexibility more pronounced.

The Experience Developmental Continuum of Skills includes two Approaches to Learning skills with four sub-skills.

ATL T Allert's a O Dend'stance	ATL 1a Attends
ATL 1 Attention & Persistence	ATL 1b Persists
ATLACI III OD	ATL 2a Shows flexibility
ATL 2 Flexibility & Play	ATL 2b Engages in play

 $\mathbf{6}$

ATL 1 Attention and Persistence



The Experience Developmental Continuum of Skills includes 2 Approaches to Learning skills:

ATL 1 Attention & Persistence

Develops the ability to focus, manage distractions and persists through challenges.

ATL 2 Flexibility and Play

Demonstrates adaptability, creative thinking and problem-solving through varied and imaginative play.

From infancy through early childhood, attention and persistence are foundational for learning. Infants begin to sustain attention during shared play with caregivers, and this joint engagement helps lengthen focus over time (Yu and Smith 2016). As toddlers develop, they begin to stick with tasks longer, especially when modeled by adults. In one study, infants who observed an adult persist at a task were more likely to keep trying on their own (Leonard et al. 2017). By preschool, children can remain engaged in an activity for extended periods and show growing ability to manage distractions and frustrations. Preschoolers who demonstrate high persistence and attention are more likely to achieve gains in literacy and math (Shah et al. 2018). These traits—staying focused, working through difficulties and returning to unfinished tasks—are crucial indicators of school readiness.

ATL 1 Attention & Persistence

	Infant		Toddler	Preschool
Sub-skill/Definition	Benchmark 1	Benchmark 2	Benchmark 3	Benchmark 4
ATL 1a Attends	Focuses for a short time on a person, sound or thing.	Attends to what others are looking at or pointing to.	activity for a short period of	Focuses on an engaging activity for a short period of time independently.
ATL 1b Persists	Engages in a continued interaction or activity with a familiar object or adult.	Repeats actions to gain a result.	end a preferred activity. Asks for help as needed.	Practices or repeats an activity until successful. Expresses delight over a successful project.

	Primary					
Benchmark 5	Benchmark 6	Benchmark 7	Benchmark 8			
Sustains focus for at least five minutes, even if there are distractions.	Sustains focus for at least ten minutes, even if there are distractions.	Sustains focus for at least thirty minutes, even if there are distractions.	Sustains focus for forty-five minutes, even if there are distractions.			
Begins to persist on a challenging activity with teacher support.	Persists on a challenging activity independently.	With adult support, plans steps to pursue a challenging activity or idea and implements it with persistence.	Plans steps to pursue an idea and implements it with persistence independently.			

ATL 2 Flexibility & Play

experience experience

The Experience Developmental Continuum of Skills includes 2 Approaches to Learning skills:

ATL 1 Attention & Persistence

Develops the ability to focus, manage distractions and persists through challenges.

ATL 2 Flexibility and Play

Demonstrates adaptability, creative thinking and problem-solving through varied and imaginative play.

Flexibility and play reflect a child's ability to adapt, try new approaches and explore creatively. During early childhood, cognitive flexibility grows rapidly. Toddlers begin to switch focus between activities and, by preschool, children can adjust to changes in rules and tasks (Blakey et al. 2016). This flexibility enables problem-solving and collaboration, especially during pretend play where children negotiate roles, change storylines and experiment with materials. Play itself fosters flexible thinking and creative exploration. Children who engage in varied, open-ended play experiences often show stronger executive function and are more capable of adapting their strategies when initial efforts don't work (Zelazo 2015). These flexible learning behaviors help children navigate both social and academic challenges, making play an essential context for developing adaptive thinking skills.

ATL 1 Attention & Persistence

	Infant		Toddler	Preschool
Sub-skill / Definition	Benchmark 1	Benchmark 2	Benchmark 3	Benchmark 4
ATL 2a Shows flexibility	Shifts attention from one person or thing to another.	Shifts attention from one task to another with prompting and adult support.	With adult support, demonstrates ability to shift ideas, plans or imagination while working on a simple task or activity.	With adult support, demonstrates ability to shift ideas, plans or imagination while participating in complex tasks or role-play scenarios.
ATL 2b Engages in play	Explores and manipulates materials.	Entertains and plays by themselves without adult or child involvement.	Watches others play and plays side by side with another person.	Joins a group and participates in group play. May have different purposes of play.

Primary				
Benchmark 5	Benchmark 6	Benchmark 7	Benchmark 8	
Demonstrates ability to shift ideas, plans or imagination while participating in simple tasks or role-play scenarios independently.	Demonstrates ability to shift ideas, plans or imagination while completing complex tasks or games independently.	Imagines new ways to approach a task or discover information when obstacles are present.	Demonstrates ability to fluently shift approaches within complex tasks independently.	
Engages in cooperative play by sharing, taking turns and offering to help others. Identifies roles of self and others during tasks and play.	Engages in social play and creates goals and scenarios that involve creative problem-solving.	With adult support, plays games or activities with complex rules.	Plays games or activities with others that have complex rules. May create own rules to games.	





Physical Development

Physical development is fundamental to children's general well-being, impacting both their physical and emotional health. It includes the development of both gross motor skills, such as walking and jumping, and fine motor skills, such as drawing and grasping. Healthy motor development requires appropriate nutrition, routine physical activity and proper personal care.

Children naturally engage with the world through movement and play, which are essential for their learning and development. Regular physical activity supports not only physical growth but also contributes significantly to emotional, cognitive and social development. Early childhood is especially important, as it is a key time for the rapid development of both physical fitness and cognitive abilities (Westfall et al. 2018; Wick et al. 2021). It produces lifelong health and self-esteem, strengthens attachment with caregivers and prevents many health issues.

Early movement experiences, along with foundational nutrition and personal care, have a direct impact on a child's brain development. Through children's participation in activities like crawling, walking and playing, their brains make connections, or neural pathways, that enhance sensory integration, attention and executive function. These experiences foster emotional and social development by building confidence and encouraging interactions. Studies show that regular movement in early childhood builds brain plasticity, memory and continued learning (Pascual-Leone et al. 2005; Lenroot et al. 2009; Chaddock et al. 2012).

The Experience Developmental Continuum of Skills includes five physical development skills with six sub-skills.

PD 1 Gross Motor	PD 1 Builds strength, coordination and balance of large muscles	
PD 2 Fine Motor	PD 2 Builds strength and coordination of small movements	
PD 3 Safety	PD 3 Demonstrates safe practices	
PD 4 Personal Care	PD 4a Implements self-care routines including rest, toileting, handwashing, exercise and dressing	
	PD 4b Understands bodily functions	
PD 5 Nutrition	PD5 Follows healthy nutrition routines	

Physical Developmer

PD1 Gross Motor



The Experience Developmental Continuum of Skills includes 5 Physical Development skills:

PD 1 Gross Motor

Builds strength, coordination and balance of large muscles.

PD 2 Fine Motor

Builds strength and coordination of small movements.

PD 3 Safety

Understands and demonstrates safe practices.

PD 4 Personal Care

Implements self-care routines, such as rest, toileting, handwashing, exercise, and dressing, as well as understanding bodily functions.

PD 5 Nutrition

Understands and follows healthy nutrition routines.

Gross motor skills involve the control of large body muscles for activities like sitting, crawling, walking and running. These abilities are crucial for a child's development and independence. Gross motor skills typically develop in a predictable sequence from infancy to preschool, but the rate of development differs between children. "Children all develop at their own pace. However, most children pass through specific changes at roughly the same time as they get older" (Cleveland Clinic 2023). The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention indicates that infants usually start lifting their heads at two months, rolling over by six months and sitting without support at approximately nine months (CDC 2024). These initial milestones pave the way for more complex motions, like crawling and walking.

Toddlers between the ages of one and three experience significant advancements in their gross motor skills. They walk independently, climb stairs, kick a ball and run with greater coordination and confidence. Research indicates that such motor development is not an entirely biological process but is also affected by environmental factors, such as opportunities for practice and exploration (Hospodar et. al. 2021). For instance, toddlers exposed to active play environments tend to develop better balance and strength compared to those with minimal opportunities for movement.

During the preschool years, children continue to build their gross motor skills, which enhance their balance, agility and strength. Skills like hopping, skipping, throwing and catching become integral to their daily play. Regular physical activity at this age not only promotes physical well-being, but also significantly supports brain development, correlating with improved attention and learning abilities in preschoolers (American Academy of Pediatrics 2021). These emerging motor skills are also essential for social and cognitive development, facilitating participation in group activities and organized games.

Environmental factors, such as access to safe play spaces and caregiver interaction, significantly influence gross motor development. Structured activities, outdoor play and movement-based learning opportunities enhance motor skills. Early motor skills may be a precursor to levels of physical activity and overall health in later childhood (Jones et. al. 2020). Supporting gross motor development through purposeful, active engagement during early childhood is critical to a lifetime

PD 1 Gross Motor

	Infant			Toddler		Preschool
Sub-skill / Definition	Benchmark 1	Ben	chmark 2	Benchmark 3		Benchmark 4
PD 1 Builds strength, coordination	Rolls, crawls, sits independently and pulls	Walks and Carries, dro	climbs. ags, kicks and	Runs. Balances on a wide beam. Throws objects in an		ances and hops on one t. Throws both overhand
and balance of large muscles	self into a standing position. Kicks or grabs from a seated	tosses obje	•	intended direction. Catches objects against body.	and	l underhand. Catches or as moving objects.

Primary					
Benchmark 5	Benchmark 6	Benchmark 7	Benchmark 8		
Hops from one foot to the other. Begins to skip. Coordinates multiple movements in simple sequences.	Changes direction and speed of movement.	Balances on a variety of objects. Kicks or strikes moving objects with aim and accuracy. Leaps. Stops at	Uses conditioning methods to strengthen muscles and increase endurance. Coordinates		
		a boundary.	multiple complex movement continuous play.		

Physical Developmer

PD 2 Fine Motor



The Experience Developmental Continuum of Skills includes 5 Physical Development skills:

PD 1 Gross Motor

Builds strength, coordination and balance of large muscles.

PD 2 Fine Motor

Builds strength and coordination of small movements.

PD 3 Safety

Understands and demonstrates safe practices.

PD 4 Personal Care

Implements self-care routines, such as rest, toileting, handwashing, exercise, and dressing, as well as understanding bodily functions.

PD 5 Nutrition

Understands and follows healthy nutrition routines.

Fine motor skills involve the small muscles in the hands and fingers that help children perform tasks like grasping toys, feeding themselves, drawing and eventually writing. These skills begin developing in infancy and become increasingly refined through the preschool years. Early fine motor development sets the stage for everyday independence and academic readiness. Infants as young as two to four months begin developing fine motor control by reaching for objects and bringing their hands to their mouth (CDC 2024a).

As they approach toddlerhood, children begin to refine their fine motor skills with practice and experience. Children develop a pincer-grasp around the age of one, holding small objects between the thumb and index finger. This skill is essential to independent feeding, such as picking up small snacks or spoons. According to Developmental Foundations of School Readiness for Infants and Toddlers, daily activities like block building, turning pages in a book and drawing with crayons are foundational fine motor skills (Horm et al. 2016). The more practice toddlers get in discovering objects with their hands, the better their fine motor coordination.

In the preschool years, fine motor skills become more defined and purposeful. Children start using scissors, drawing shapes, stringing beads and eventually writing letters. These are critical to school readiness and self-sufficiency, with activities like dressing up and personal hygiene. Play-based learning, as stated by the American Academy of Pediatrics (2021), is vital at this stage since physical interaction enables hand muscle strengthening and coordination. Play activities like engaging with small blocks or playdough are not only good for fine motor development, they also enhance creativity and problem-solving skills.

Both home and early childhood environments can significantly influence the way fine motor skills develop. Providing access to a variety of materials suitable for each child's age and development, like crayons, blunt scissors, puzzles and manipulative toys, can make a big difference. Preschool children with well-developed fine motor skills are better prepared for kindergarten academic activities, especially writing and mathematics (Cameron et al. 2012). Supporting fine motor skills early will build children's confidence and ability in everyday tasks and learning experiences.

PD 2 Fine Motor

	Infant	Toddler		Preschool		
Sub-skill / Definition	Benchmark 1	Bene	chmark 2	Benchmark 3		Benchmark 4
PD 2 Builds strength and coordination of small movements	Reaches for objects in sight and uses hands or feet to make contact with an object.	with finger		Opens, closes, stacks, twists and pulls objects with one or both hands.	mar as s	es hands and fingers to nipulate objects, such stringing large beads or oping with scissors.

	Primary					
Benchmark 5	Benchmark 6	Benchmark 7	Benchmark 8			
Manipulates objects through tasks like buttoning, zipping, buckling, lacing and following a straight line when cutting and copying drawings.	Manipulates objects through tasks like following an outline with scissors, tying shoes and dressing self.	Threads small beads. Stacks small objects. Uses scissors to cut more challenging materials, such as fabric or cardstock.	Manipulates objects of all sizes with speed and accuracy.			

hveiral Developmen

PD 3 Safety



The Experience Developmental Continuum of Skills includes 5 Physical Development skills:

PD 1 Gross Motor

Builds strength, coordination and balance of large muscles.

PD 2 Fine Motor

Builds strength and coordination of small movements.

PD 3 Safety

Understands and demonstrates safe practices.

PD 4 Personal Care

Implements self-care routines, such as rest, toileting, handwashing, exercise, and dressing, as well as understanding bodily functions.

PD 5 Nutrition

Understands and follows healthy nutrition routines.

As young children grow and become more mobile, learning safety skills becomes an important part of their physical development. From rolling over to running across the playground, each new movement opens up more opportunities and more risks. For example, infants begin to explore their environment by reaching, crawling and eventually walking. While these milestones are exciting, they also mean that parents and caregivers need to be more aware of potential hazards. Injuries during early development are a significant part of preventative care, especially with greater mobility (American Academy of Pediatrics 2021).

In toddlerhood, children begin climbing, running and exploring independently, increasing the inevitable risk for falls, bumps and other minor injuries. At this age, children are able to learn and follow basic safety instructions. Research shows that toddlers who learned basic safety rules, such as not touching hot surfaces or waiting to be helped, were less likely to engage in hazardous activities (Morrongiello and Dawber 2004). However, supervision is still essential, as young children are developing impulse control and the ability to recognize danger.

By preschool age, children are not only stronger physically, they are also more socialized and adventurous. This is a good time to introduce more structured safety habits, such as looking both ways before crossing the street or wearing a helmet during bike rides. Modeling and practicing safety habits with children can reduce the risk of injury (CDC 2023). Children at this age are better able to follow rules and understand cause and effect, especially when caregivers explain the "why" behind the safety practices.

Creating a safe environment also supports healthy risk-taking, which is essential to physical growth. Children need space to climb, jump and explore, but in an area that can be supervised and is well suited for their age. Providing children with clear expectations, routine and concrete instructions allows them to feel secure while building coordination, muscle and confidence. Research shows that providing children with some independence to engage in risk-taking activities builds their ability to assess and manage dangers over time (Brussoni et al. 2012).

PD 3 Safety

	Infant		Toddler	Preschool
Sub-skill / Definition	Benchmark 1	Benchmark 2	Benchmark 3	Benchmark 4
PD 3 Demonstrates safe practices	Reacts to unexpected noises, lights or sights.		Follows simple safety rules and avoids danger.	Follows safety rules and helps others follow rules. Identifies dangerous situations and seeks help.

Primary					
Benchmark 5	Benchmark 6	Benchmark 7	Benchmark 8		
Describes reasons for safety rules and reminds others to follow them.	Applies general safety rules to a variety of everyday situations with little prompting.	Identifies emergency situations and how to behave accordingly. Describes how to get help.	Takes appropriate initiative in dangerous and emergency situations.		

Physical Developmer

PD 4 Personal Care



The Experience Developmental Continuum of Skills includes 5 Physical Development skills:

PD 1 Gross Motor

Builds strength, coordination and balance of large muscles.

PD 2 Fine Motor

Builds strength and coordination of small movements.

PD 3 Safety

Understands and demonstrates safe practices.

- PD 4 Personal Care

Implements self-care routines, such as rest, toileting, handwashing, exercise, and dressing, as well as understanding bodily functions.

PD 5 Nutrition

Understands and follows healthy nutrition routines.

Personal care or self-help skills are an important part of a child's physical development, helping them become more independent as they grow. These skills include activities like feeding, dressing, brushing teeth and toilet training. Infants begin to develop a foundation of self-care skills early in life through activities like holding a bottle, reaching for a spoon or bringing their hands to their mouth. Although still reliant on the caregiver, these early movements assist in building muscles and coordination in preparation for eventual independence. These small actions play a big role in the development of motor skills during the first years of life (CDC 2024b).

Toddlers become more interested in doing things on their own. They start feeding themselves with a spoon, take off their shoes or hats and attempt to help with dressing. This is also when toilet training typically begins. Most children show a readiness for toilet training around 18 months of age (Schum et al. 2002). Encouraging self-help opportunities at this point not only supports physical coordination, but also confidence and independence.

By preschool age, children can do more personal care activities with minimal help. They can dress, wash their hands and brush their teeth with supervision, and they understand basic hygiene habits. These habits require fine motor skills, balance and body awareness, which are rapidly developing during this time. Promoting habits of self-care not only supports physical development but also prepares children for kindergarten and social situations where independence is expected (American Academy of Pediatrics. 2021 a).

Helping children master personal care skills means creating opportunities for them to try things on their own, even if it's messy and takes a little longer. Offering them praise and encouragement, step-by-step instructions and child-size tools can make a big difference. Children who are offered consistent opportunities to practice self-care become more independent and perform more effectively in school environments (La Paro, Karen M., Angela C. Williamson, and Bridget Hatfield. 2014.). Supporting personal care development is not merely teaching routines, but helping children develop the physical and emotional tools they will need for independence.

PD 4 Personal Care

	Infant		Toddler		
Sub-skill / Definition	Benchmark 1	Benchmark 2	Benchmark 3	Benchmark 4	
PD 4a Implements self-care routines including rest, toileting, handwashing, exercise and dressing		Begins to participate in self-care activities and recognizes the difference between dirty and clean.	With help, participates in self-care routines.	Recognizes personal needs and how to get them met and implements with adult support.	
PD 4b Understands bodily functions	Explores body parts, such as hands and feet.	Points to body parts when prompted.	Identifies basic body parts.	Describes the function of basic body parts. Can locate body pain.	

		Primary	
Benchmark 5	Benchmark 6	Benchmark 7	Benchmark 8
Meets most personal and hygiene needs when prompted by an adult.	Maintains personal needs and proper hygiene with occasional reminders.	Independently maintains personal and hygiene needs.	Explains how to manage health and role of exercise and rest in self and others.
Explains how germs spread and describes simple strategies for preventing the spread.	When feeling sick, describes symptoms. Describes some contagious diseases.	Identifies basic organs.	Describes the functions of basic organs.

ex

PD 5 Nutrition

The Experience Developmental Continuum of Skills includes 5 Physical Development skills:

PD 1 Gross Motor

Builds strength, coordination and balance of large muscles.

PD 2 Fine Motor

Builds strength and coordination of small movements.

PD 3 Safety

Understands and demonstrates safe practices.

PD 4 Personal Care

Implements self-care routines, such as rest, toileting, handwashing, exercise, and dressing, as well as understanding bodily functions.

PD 5 Nutrition

Understands and follows healthy nutrition routines.

Providing children with proper nutrition is essential for their physical development, building strong bones and supporting a healthy weight. It significantly influences brain development, impacting cognitive skills like learning, memory and concentration. Establishing healthy eating habits from infancy through the preschool years has significant long-term advantages. These early patterns are key to reducing the risk of future health problems, such as obesity, type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease. By prioritizing nutritious foods early in life, we contribute to children's overall well-being and a higher quality of life (Kozioł-Kozakowska 2023).

Providing children with daily access to healthy foods like fruits and vegetables is important for their development. These foods are packed with essential vitamins, minerals and fiber that support healthy growth, development and a strong immune system. Recognizing that early food experiences significantly influence lifelong dietary preferences, it is important to introduce young children to a diverse range of healthy foods, especially the varied colors and textures of fruits and vegetables (CDC, 2025). Exposure to a broad range of nutritional foods establishes a palate that welcomes healthy choices as the child grows. These early introductions are an investment in their lasting health and well-being, building a positive relationship with nutritious foods.

PD 5 Nutrition

	Infant		Toddler	Preschool
Sub-skill / Definition	Benchmark 1	Benchmark 2	Benchmark 3	Benchmark 4
PD 5 Follows healthy nutrition routines	Cries when hungry.	Communicates the need to eat and feeds self some finger foods.	,	Identifies food and serves a portion into a bowl or plate and feeds self.

Primary					
Benchmark 5	Benchmark 6	Benchmark 7	Benchmark 8		
Identifies food groups, sorts food and identifies food that is nutritious	Describes how nutritious food helps the body grow and develop and helps to prepare food.	Describes what happens after the consumption of food.	Prepares simple food for self.		



Language & Literacy

Language and literacy development refers to a child's capacity to communicate and connect with others through listening, speaking, reading and writing. These foundational competencies are central to cognitive, social and academic development.

Language development is a process that begins even before a child is born and proceeds with rapid growth in the first few years of life. Infants experience a rapid progression in their ability to process and produce language, with major milestones occurring in the first two years of life. During this time, the brain exhibits remarkable plasticity, and early experiences with language-rich environments strongly influence linguistic and cognitive outcomes (Kuhl 2011; Werker and Hensch 2015).

The impact of language and literacy skills upon a child is significant and multi-layered. Research demonstrates that oral language skills developed in early childhood—such as vocabulary, syntax and narrative abilities—are among the most reliable predictors of later academic achievement, particularly in areas like reading fluency, reading comprehension and written expression (Hjetland et al. 2020; Rohloff et al. 2024). These findings highlight the critical importance of fostering language development during the early years to support long-term educational success.

The Science of Reading provides a comprehensive, interdisciplinary body of evidence on how children acquire reading skills. This research underscores that reading is not a naturally acquired process, but one that must be explicitly and systematically taught over time. Foundational reading competencies include phonological awareness, phonics, alphabet knowledge, vocabulary, reading comprehension, fluency, oral language comprehension, writing and concepts of print (Wright et al. 2022). Effective instruction in these areas is most successful when delivered through structured, intentional strategies (Wolff and Gustafsson 2022; Roberts 2021), while also incorporating developmentally appropriate practices, such as play-based learning (Morrow and Rand 2021).

Children acquire language and communication skills through consistent interaction with caregivers during daily routines and social experiences. From early infancy, infants engage in intentional communicative behaviors—such as gestures and vocalizations—which are precursors to verbal language. These behaviors reflect a foundational desire to communicate and play a critical role in the emergence of expressive and receptive language skills (Donnellan et al. 2019).

Two primary domains of early language development are widely recognized: receptive language, encompassing the ability to listen and understand spoken language, and expressive language, referring to the ability to articulate thoughts, feelings and ideas. The transition from infancy to toddlerhood is marked by the rapid advancement of both domains, driven in part by the quality and frequency of caregiver-child interactions (Yang et al. 2021). This developmental progression reflects the evolving relationship between language and cognition. As Vygotsky (1962, 125) described, the interplay between thought and speech "is not a thing, but a process, a continual movement back and forth from thought to word and from word to thought." Language, therefore, becomes a vital tool through which young children construct meaning, express internal states and engage with the world around them.

The Experience Developmental Continuum of Skills includes seven skills and 15 sub-skills.

IID I Catanina	LLD 1a Understands and interprets language	
LLD 1 Listening	LLD 1b Follows directions	
	LLD 2a Uses language to express information and ask/answer questions	
LLD 2 Communication	LLD 2b Uses conversational skills	
LLD 2 Communication	LLD 2c Uses sentence structure	
	LLD 2d Uses and expands vocabulary	
	LLD 3a Rhyme	
LLD 3 Phonological Awareness	LLD 3b Hears Large Units of Sound	
	LLD 3c Hears Small Units of Sound	
LLD 4 Alphabetic Knowledge	LLD 4 Identifies letters, makes letter-sound connections and decodes words	
LLD 5 Concepts of Print	LLD 5 Uses print concepts and explores books and other text	
LLD 6 Banding Communication	LLD 6a Responds to text	
LLD 6 Reading Comprehension	LLD 6b Retells, asks and answers questions about a text or story	
IID 7 Weiting	LLD 7a Emergent Writing	
LLD 7 Writing	LLD 7b Uses writing to represent meaning	

 $\mathbf{34}$

LLD 1 Listening



Experience Early Learning Framework includes 7 Language & Literacy **Development skills:**

LLD 1 Listening

Understands and interprets language (both words and gestures). Acts in response to language and verbal cues.

LLD 2 Communication

Uses verbal and nonverbal communication to express ideas with increasingly complex vocabulary and sentences.

LLD 3 Phonological Awareness

Recognizes rhymes, hears large units of sound like syllables and discerns smaller units of sound, such as phonemes.

LLD 4 Alphabetic Knowledge

Identifies letters and symbols in print and understands that letters represent sounds.

LLD 5 Concepts of Print

Uses print concepts and explores books and other text.

LLD 6 Reading Comprehension

Responds to stories and narratives, as well as retelling, asking and answering questions about the content.

LLD 7 Writing

Demonstrates emergent writing to represent meaning.

Listening comprehension refers to a child's ability to hear, understand and act on spoken language. It plays a key role in language development and is strongly linked to later reading comprehension (Hogan et al. 2014; Lervåg et al. 2018). Unlike hearing, which is passive, listening requires children to attend to and process spoken language (Liu 2020).

Listening is the first language skill children develop and forms the foundation for later language and cognitive growth. Children learn to speak by hearing language in their environment, so ensuring they can hear well is essential. When hearing loss goes undetected, children miss crucial language input and may experience delays in communication (Tomblin et al. 2015).

Listening comprehension includes children's receptive language skills, which can be described as their ability to listen and understand spoken language. Receptive language skills include such things as understanding the names of common objects, knowing the names of family members and the ability to follow a direction, such as "come here" or "give the toy to Mommy." By understanding verbal directions, children can respond to, recall and follow instructions given verbally. Teachers continuously give directions in classrooms (Goodson and Layzer, 2009) and kindergarten teachers often report that the greatest difficulty in transitioning into kindergarten is with following directions (Curby et al. 2010).

LLD 1 Listening

	Infant		Toddler	Preschool
Sub-skill / Definition	Benchmark 1	Benchmark 2	Benchmark 3	Benchmark 4
LLD 1a Understands and interprets language	Turns head toward the person speaking.	Shows understanding of a variety of single familiar words, such as by pointing at named objects, people or body parts.	Shows understanding of a wide variety of phrases and sentences.	Listens, then responds appropriately.
LLD 1b Follows directions	Responds to speaking in the environment and imitates actions.	With prompts and gestures, follows a one-step direction.	Follows related two-step directions given verbally.	Follows unrelated two-step directions given verbally.

		Primary		
Benchmark 5	Benchmark 6	Benchmark 7	Benchmark 8	
Listens and understands inferred requests.	Shows understanding of a series of complex statements that explain how or why.	Shows understanding about key details from information or stories shared verbally.	Listens to gather new information and demonstrates understanding.	
With prompting, follows multi-step directions given verbally.	Follows multi-step directions given verbally.	Remembers and follows previous rules or directions given verbally.	Responds to verbal statements that have implied directions or requests	

LLD 2 Communication



Experience Early Learning Framework includes 7 Language & Literacy Development skills:

LLD 1 Listening

Understands and interprets language (both words and gestures). Acts in response to language and verbal cues.

LLD 2 Communication

Uses verbal and nonverbal communication to express ideas with increasingly complex vocabulary and sentences.

LLD 3 Phonological Awareness

Recognizes rhymes, hears large units of sound like syllables and discerns smaller units of sound, such as phonemes.

LLD 4 Alphabetic Knowledge

Identifies letters and symbols in print and understands that letters represent sounds.

LLD 5 Concepts of Print

Uses print concepts and explores books and other text.

LLD 6 Reading Comprehension

Responds to stories and narratives, as well as retelling, asking and answering questions about the content.

LLD 7 Writing

Demonstrates emergent writing to represent meaning.

Communication is a child's ability to use spoken or signed language to share thoughts, ideas and emotions. Early exposure to rich caregiver speech strongly predicts later language development (Swanson et al. 2019). Strong communication skills also support self-regulation and independence, helping children express needs and reduce frustration. Children with more advanced language tend to show better emotional control, while those with smaller vocabularies may experience more tantrums and behavioral challenges (Morgan et al. 2015; Manning et al. 2019).

Language development is closely linked to school readiness and later academic achievement. Early communication skills—such as producing sounds, understanding grammar and building vocabulary—form the foundation for literacy and learning (Morgan et al. 2015). Vocabulary includes both receptive language (words a child understands) and expressive language (words a child uses), and expands through meaningful interaction and exposure to language-rich environments.

Expressive language encompasses both verbal and pre-verbal skills, such as crying to signal hunger, waving "bye-bye" or pointing while vocalizing. These early gestures evolve into words and sentences that allow children to convey increasingly complex ideas. Strong expressive language fosters confidence and social connection, laying the groundwork for long-term academic and interpersonal success.

LLD 2 Communication

	Infant		Toddler	Preschool
Sub-skill / Definition	Benchmark 1	Benchmark 2	Benchmark 3	Benchmark 4
LLD 2a Uses language to express information and ask/answer questions	Uses vocalizations and gestures to communicate.	Uses a few words, signs or word-like sounds to communicate.	Communicates needs, desires and ideas or asks simple questions.	Uses descriptions and observations to communicate information and answer questions, or asks more complex questions.
LLD 2b Uses conversational skills	Responds with babbles or sounds with prompting.	Responds to one exchange, but is not on topic.	Responds on topic for one exchange.	Stays on topic for two to three exchanges.
LLD 2c Uses sentence structure	Mimics single sounds.	Communicates using one- to two-word sentences.	Communicates using two- to four-word sentences.	Communicates in sentences. May not always follow grammatical rules.
LLD 2d Uses and expands vocabulary	Uses sounds and gestures to communicate.	Repeats words heard frequently in environment.	Identifies familiar people, places and objects. Asks what a specific person or object is called.	Describes familiar people, places and objects. Seeks additional words for new ways to describe.

		Primary	
Benchmark 5	Benchmark 6	Benchmark 7	Benchmark 8
Talks about activities or tells stories. Answers "who," "what," "when," "why" and "how" questions.	Explains personal thoughts about familiar people, places and events.	Discusses ideas and feelings about a wide range of ageappropriate topics.	Uses expression, tone and pacing to reinforce the meaning of what they are communicating.
Engages in conversations through multiple exchanges.	Initiates conversation with adults and peers.	Demonstrate understanding of conversation norms, such as listening, taking turns talking, distance between talkers and body orientation.	Asks for clarification about information or topics that occur during a conversation.
Communicates in simple, complete sentences.	Uses question words in speech. Speaks audibly. Makes nouns plural by adding /s/. Uses common prepositions.	Uses many types of sentences, including simple and compound. Uses verb tense to express past, present and future.	Uses common irregular plural nouns and conjugated verbs.
Includes new and technical words in everyday conversations. Asks what unfamiliar words mean.	Uses new or technical words learned in conversations or through reading. Compares words and their meanings.	Identifies words whose meaning are similar. Determines the meaning of unknown words from context or root word.	Explains the difference between closely related words. Uses multiple strategies to determine and learn the meaning of unfamiliar words.

Literacy Development

LLD 3 Phonological Awareness



Experience Early Learning Framework includes 7 Language & Literacy Development skills:

LLD 1 Listening

Understands and interprets language (both words and gestures). Acts in response to language and verbal cues.

LLD 2 Communication

Uses verbal and nonverbal communication to express ideas with increasingly complex vocabulary and sentences.

LLD 3 Phonological Awareness

Recognizes rhymes, hears large units of sound like syllables and discerns smaller units of sound, such as phonemes.

LLD 4 Alphabetic Knowledge

Identifies letters and symbols in print and understands that letters represent sounds.

LLD 5 Concepts of Print

Uses print concepts and explores books and other text.

LLD 6 Reading Comprehension

Responds to stories and narratives, as well as retelling, asking and answering questions about the content.

LLD 7 Writing

Demonstrates emergent writing to represent meaning.

Phonological awareness is a child's understanding of the sound structures of speech and the ability to manipulate those structures. It involves the ability to recognize and play with the sounds in spoken words, from larger units like syllables and rhyming parts of words down to the individual sounds or phonemes (International Literacy Association, 2020). Phonological awareness encompasses a broad range of sound skills, such as rhyming, syllable clapping and alliteration.

Phonemic awareness, a subset of phonological awareness, refers specifically to recognizing and manipulating the smallest sound units, phonemes, in words. Phonemic awareness is the most advanced level of phonological awareness because it requires detecting and working with individual phonemes (for example, identifying the /b/ sound at the beginning of "ball" or blending the sounds /c/-/a/-/t/ to make "cat").

Phonological awareness in the preschool years lays a critical foundation for learning to read. Decades of research have shown that a child's skill at detecting and manipulating sounds is one of the strongest predictors of their later reading and spelling success (Snowling et al. 2021; Landerl et al. 2022). Providing purposeful, developmentally appropriate instruction in phonological awareness, such as through games and activities, during preschool and kindergarten has been shown to boost children's reading-related skills and make learning to decode and spell much easier (Porta and Ramirez, 2019; Rice et al. 2022).

Young children typically develop phonological awareness gradually through exposure and practice. Before they can isolate individual phonemes, many 3- to 5-year-olds first tune into larger sound patterns, like rhymes (e.g., knowing "cat" and "bat" sound alike) and alliteration (noticing when words start with the same sound, like tongue twisters). With guidance, they learn to break words into syllables, blend syllables or sounds together and later segment words into their component phonemes. This progression relies on auditory discrimination skills – the child's ability to hear and differentiate sounds - and it accelerates with playful, intentional practice. Early childhood educators often use music and playful language to nurture these skills. Oral language activities like nursery rhymes, songs, chants and storybooks with repetitive sound patterns get children clapping to syllables and giggling at rhymes, which helps them "tune in" to the sound structure of words. For example, singing rhyming songs, playing "I spy" games with beginning sounds or engaging in interactive fingerplays (rhythmic rhymes with hand motions) encourages children to listen for and manipulate sounds in words. Such experiences can target multiple levels of phonological awareness at once, from hearing whole rhymes down to picking out initial or ending sounds-all while keeping learning fun.

Explicit yet playful practice with sound manipulation (for instance, asking a child to change the /m/ in "mat" to /c/ to make "cat") can significantly strengthen phonemic awareness. In fact, research in the past decade has demonstrated that young children make notable gains in phonological and phonemic awareness when adults deliberately incorporate these kinds of activities into daily routines (International Literacy Association, 2020).

LLD 3 Phonological Awareness

	Infant		Toddler	Preschool
Sub-skill / Definition	Benchmark 1	Benchmark 2	Benchmark 3	Benchmark 4
LLD 3a Rhyme	Listens to and moves to rhyming songs.	Repeats the last word in familiar rhymes when prompted.	Suggests a missing rhyming word within a poem or song.	Identifies when two words rhyme.
LLD 3b Hears Large Units of Sound	Babbles and vocalizes using sound, volume and inflection.	Repeats words or short sentences.	Shows awareness of separate words in spoken language.	Blends large units of sound, such as compound words, syllables or onset-rime.
LLD 3c Hears Small Units of Sound	Coos and makes sounds such as "oo" and "ah."	Imitates or repeats sounds and tones.	Engages in word and sound play through songs and games.	Identifies and produces words that have the same beginning sound.

		Primary		
Benchmark 5	Benchmark 6	Benchmark 7	Benchmark 8	
Produces rhyming words when given a word.	Rhymes with real and nonsensical words.	Independently identifies and repeats rhyming word pairs from a poem or song.	Creates an original rhyming song or poem.	
Segments large units of sound, such as compound words, syllables or onset-rime.	Deletes large units of sound.	Substitutes large units of sound.	Manipulates, blends, substitutes and deletes large units of sound.	
Identifies the end sound of a word and blends two-phoneme words.	Identifies medial sound of a word and blends CVC (consonant-vowel-consonant) words.	Segments phonemes in words.	Substitutes and deletes phonemes in words.	

Language & Literacy Developm

LLD 4 Alphabetic Knowledge



Experience Early Learning Framework includes 7 Language & Literacy Development skills:

LLD 1 Listening

Understands and interprets language (both words and gestures). Acts in response to language and verbal cues.

LLD 2 Communication

Uses verbal and nonverbal communication to express ideas with increasingly complex vocabulary and sentences.

LLD 3 Phonological Awareness

Recognizes rhymes, hears large units of sound like syllables and discerns smaller units of sound, such as phonemes.

LLD 4 Alphabetic Knowledge

Identifies letters and symbols in print and understands that letters represent sounds.

LLD 5 Concepts of Print

Uses print concepts and explores books and other text.

LLD 6 Reading Comprehension

Responds to stories and narratives, as well as retelling, asking and answering questions about the content.

LLD 7 Writing

Demonstrates emergent writing to represent meaning.

Alphabetic knowledge, the understanding of letter names and the sounds they represent, is a foundational skill in early literacy and a strong predictor of future reading success (Roberts et al. 2018; Castles et al. 2018). This knowledge includes both letter-name recognition and letter-sound correspondence, which are related but distinct skills. Studies confirm that learning letter names supports learning letter sounds, especially when the name contains the corresponding sound, for example, the name of B "bee" starts with /b/ (Treiman et al. 2020).

Effective literacy instruction targets both of these skills simultaneously. Teaching letter names and sounds together has been shown to yield better outcomes than teaching either in isolation (Roberts et al. 2019). Children benefit from explicit, systematic phonics instruction, particularly when it is presented in decontextualized formats that isolate individual letters and sounds. Research shows that direct teaching strategies, such as paired-associate learning, which links visual letter forms to their corresponding names and sounds, are especially effective. Research has found that activities like using letter cards, interactive games and targeted practice significantly improve children's letter recognition. When these lessons are delivered in short, playful sessions, they remain highly engaging and motivating for preschoolers (Roberts 2021).

Understanding letters as symbols for sounds is also key to symbolic thinking. Preschoolers who recognize that written words consistently represent spoken language are taking important cognitive steps toward reading (Treiman et al. 2016). Letter-sound knowledge supports phonemic awareness and both are central to decoding, spelling and reading fluency. Strong letter-name and letter-sound knowledge gives children the tools to sound out words, or decode, and to spell phonetically, both of which are foundational to reading and writing. As Castles, Rastle and Nation (2018) observe in their comprehensive review, achieving this alphabetic insight is a critical phase in becoming a skilled reader, and it requires both phonemic awareness (recognizing individual sounds in words) and grapheme-phoneme knowledge (knowing which letters correspond to which sounds).

LLD 4 Alphabetic Knowledge

	Infant		Toddler		Pr	eschool
Sub-skill / Definition	Benchmark 1	Bend	hmark 2	Benchmark 3	Bench	mark 4
LLD 4 Identifies letters, makes letter-sound connections and decodes words	Explores books and toys with letters and related images.	Participates and activitie	es.	letter and letter sound in	Identifies five t and lowercase letter sounds.	

	Primary				
Benchmark 5	Benchmark 6	Benchmark 7	Benchmark 8		
Identifies eleven to twenty upper- and lowercase letters and letter sounds.	Identifies all upper- and lowercase letters and letter sounds.	Decodes words with long and short vowel sounds, digraphs and blends with increasing automaticity.			

LLD 5 Concepts of Print



Experience Early Learning Framework includes 7 Language & Literacy Development skills:

LLD 1 Listening

Understands and interprets language (both words and gestures). Acts in response to language and verbal cues.

LLD 2 Communication

Uses verbal and nonverbal communication to express ideas with increasingly complex vocabulary and sentences.

LLD 3 Phonological Awareness

Recognizes rhymes, hears large units of sound like syllables and discerns smaller units of sound, such as phonemes.

LLD 4 Alphabetic Knowledge

Identifies letters and symbols in print and understands that letters represent sounds.

LLD 5 Concepts of Print

Uses print concepts and explores books and other text.

LLD 6 Reading Comprehension

Responds to stories and narratives, as well as retelling, asking and answering questions about the content.

LLD 7 Writing

Demonstrates emergent writing to represent meaning.

Concepts of print refer to a child's understanding of how written language works. This includes knowing how to handle books, recognize letters and words, understand the direction of text (left to right, top to bottom) and realize that print conveys meaning. Children typically develop knowledge of print through everyday literacy experiences and shared reading with caregivers or teachers. These interactions help children learn to identify parts of a book, track text as it is read and connect spoken and written language (Han and Neuharth-Pritchett 2015).

During shared reading, children benefit when adults point out print features—such as the title, cover and individual words—and model reading behaviors like tracking text with a finger or discussing story elements. These print-referencing practices are simple but powerful ways to help children gain early literacy knowledge (Han and Neuharth-Pritchett 2015). As children's print awareness grows, they begin to understand that writing represents spoken language and carries meaning (Snowling and Hulme 2005). This understanding lays the groundwork for future reading and writing development.

LLD 5 Concepts of Print

	Infant		Toddler	Preschool
Sub-skill / Definition	Benchmark 1	Benchmark 2	Benchmark 3	Benchmark 4
LLD 5 Uses print concepts and explores books and other text	Opens and closes books, looks at them and points to pictures.	Recognizes if pictures are right-side up. Turns pages from the front to the back of the book.	Distinguishes between pictures and words. Identifies the front and back cover.	Distinguishes between letters and words. Indicates where to start reading on a page.

	Primary					
Benchmark 5	Benchmark 6	Benchmark 7	Benchmark 8			
Identifies some punctuation and recognizes spaces between words.	Recognizes common types of text, such as poems, storybooks or fact books. Names author and illustrator. Identifies punctuation.	Explains the difference between books that tell stories and those that give information.	Identifies and uses text features to find information in texts.			

Language & Literacy Development

LLD 6 Reading Comprehension



Experience Early Learning Framework includes 7 Language & Literacy **Development skills:**

LLD 1 Listening

Understands and interprets language (both words and gestures). Acts in response to language and verbal cues.

LLD 2 Communication

Uses verbal and nonverbal communication to express ideas with increasingly complex vocabulary and sentences.

LLD 3 Phonological Awareness

Recognizes rhymes, hears large units of sound like syllables and discerns smaller units of sound, such

LLD 4 Alphabetic Knowledge

Identifies letters and symbols in print and understands that letters represent sounds.

LLD 5 Concepts of Print

Uses print concepts and explores books and other text.

LLD 6 Reading Comprehension

Responds to stories and narratives, as well as retelling, asking and answering questions about the content.

LLD 7 Writing

Demonstrates emergent writing to represent meaning.

Reading comprehension is the ability to make meaning from text and begins developing well before children can read independently. In early childhood, especially from birth through preschool, comprehension emerges through listening to stories, engaging in conversation and participating in shared reading (Petscher et al. 2018). Foundational skills include retelling stories, asking and answering questions and making personal connections to texts (Cartwright and Guajardo 2015; Cao and Kim 2021).

Retelling is a powerful indicator of early comprehension. When children recount stories in their own words, they demonstrate understanding of narrative structure and key details (Cao and Kim 2021). Asking and answering questions, especially during shared reading, encourages children to process information, make predictions and clarify ideas. Dialogic reading, where adults prompt children to engage with the story, improves both language and comprehension outcomes (Pillinger and Vardy 2022).

Oral language forms the foundation of comprehension. Receptive and expressive vocabulary, grammatical skills and listening comprehension all contribute to a child's ability to understand stories (Jago et al. 2025). Children with stronger vocabulary and syntax are better able to follow plots, interpret character motivations and answer inferential questions (Tompkins et al. 2013). These skills begin developing in infancy and are shaped by language-rich environments, including regular conversations and read-alouds.

Shared reading is a key strategy for building comprehension. It exposes children to new vocabulary and more complex language structures. When adults ask open-ended or inferential questions during reading, children engage more deeply with the content (Blewitt and Langan 2016). Interactive approaches like dialogic reading are especially effective in promoting vocabulary, narrative understanding and engagement (Noble et al. 2019; Pillinger and Vardy 2022).

Connecting stories to personal experiences also supports comprehension. When children relate a story to their own lives, they are better able to understand and remember it. Activating prior knowledge during reading helps children build meaning and fosters engagement (Cartwright and Guajardo 2015). Teachers can prompt these connections by asking questions like, "Have you ever felt like this character?"

Comprehension is also supported by cognitive factors like attention and working memory. Children who can understand others' thoughts and feelings tend to be better at inferring character motivations and story outcomes (DeBruin-Parecki and Cartwright 2023). These cognitive skills can be nurtured through storytelling, pretend play and rich social interactions.

LLD 6 Reading Comprehension

	Infant		Toddler	Preschool
Sub-skill / Definition	Benchmark 1	Benchmark 2	Benchmark 3	Benchmark 4
LLD 6a Responds to text	Interacts by reaching for or patting when a book is read.	Chooses and holds a book and looks intently at each page.	Talks about pictures and ideas in familiar stories.	Anticipates what comes next in familiar stories. Expresses likes or dislikes within the story.
LLD 6b Retells, asks and answers questions about a text or story	Looks at and listens to books read aloud by an adult.	With prompting, answers "where" questions by pointing to pictures and repeating words from familiar stories	Identifies the characters and setting in a story.	Retells portions of a story using pictures, gestures or props.

	Primary			
Benchmark 5	Benchmark 6	Benchmark 7	Benchmark 8	
Relates to the characters or events of the story and shares a similar experience or object from their own life.	With support, compares similarities between two texts.	Makes many text-to-text, text-to-self and text-to-real-world connections. Compares similarities and differences between texts.	Evaluates texts based on content, personal experiences and knowledge of the world. Compares the main points of two texts.	
With prompting, answers simple questions about the characters, setting and events in a story and retells a story.	Asks and answers questions about the characters, setting and events in a story and retells the events of a story in sequence.	Makes inferences about character goals or causal connections in a story, and retells stories in sequence using more details.	Summarizes texts and their messages. Describes the points of view of various characters.	

Language & Literacy Development

LLD 7 Writing



Experience Early Learning Framework includes 7 Language & Literacy **Development skills:**

LLD 1 Listening

Understands and interprets language (both words and gestures). Acts in response to language and verbal cues.

LLD 2 Communication

Uses verbal and nonverbal communication to express ideas with increasingly complex vocabulary and sentences.

LLD 3 Phonological Awareness

Recognizes rhymes, hears large units of sound like syllables and discerns smaller units of sound, such as phonemes.

LLD 4 Alphabetic Knowledge

Identifies letters and symbols in print and understands that letters represent sounds.

LLD 5 Concepts of Print

Uses print concepts and explores books and other text.

LLD 6 Reading Comprehension

Responds to stories and narratives, as well as retelling, asking and answering questions about the content.

LLD 7 Writing

Demonstrates emergent writing to represent meaning.

Emergent writing refers to children's earliest attempts to express ideas through marks, scribbles, drawings and letter-like forms. This process begins in infancy and continues through preschool and early elementary years as children develop an understanding that writing represents language (Rowe 2018). Children progress through typical stages: starting with scribbles and drawings and moving to letter-like forms, then to name writing and invented spelling. These stages reflect three key domains: conceptual knowledge (understanding that print carries meaning), procedural knowledge (how to form letters and words) and generative knowledge (creating original messages) (Puranik and Lonigan 2014).

Name writing is often the first word children learn to write and is strongly associated with early literacy skills, like phonological awareness and letter knowledge (Puranik and Lonigan 2012). Another key milestone is invented spelling, where children use letters to represent the sounds in words. For example, writing "KAK" for "cake" reflects early phonological and alphabetic knowledge. Invented spelling is not only a sign of development, it also strengthens reading and spelling (Sénéchal et al. 2023).

Educators play a critical role in fostering early writing. Research shows that children engage more in writing when classrooms offer varied materials, daily opportunities and positive reinforcement for all forms of writing, including scribbles and invented spelling (Gerde et al. 2012).

LLD 7 Writing

	Infant		Toddler	Preschool
Sub-skill / Definition	Benchmark 1	Benchmark 2	Benchmark 3	Benchmark 4
LLD 7a Emergent Writing	With adult support, makes a mark with a writing tool or other material.	Makes random marks or draws with writing tools.	Marks or scribbles. Begins to make letter-like forms.	Writes letter-like forms or mock letters and letter strings from left to right.
LLD 7b Uses writing to represent meaning	Explores various tools used to write.	Makes handprints or fingerprints with adults.	Scribbles or draws marks as a representation of an object or person.	Uses a combination of drawing, dictating and writing to explain who or what something represents.

	Primary				
Benchmark 5	Benchmark 6	Benchmark 7	Benchmark 8		
Writes first name and some letters. Begins to use inventive spelling. Letters may be out of order or backward.	Writes first and last name and upper- and lowercase letters appropriately. Writes short phrases with more accuracy.	Writes simple sentences. Begins to use conventional spelling.	Writes simple and compound sentences. Uses punctuation. Checks and corrects spelling.		
Uses a combination of drawing, dictating and writing to record an event or idea.	Draws and writes to express ideas or share an opinion.	Writes to give information about a topic, including some facts. Provides a concluding statement.	Writes ideas or groups information in logical order. Uses descriptive words in writing.		



Mathematics

Mathematics is a foundational domain in early childhood that supports the development of skills essential for long-term academic success. These skills include counting, number sense, spatial awareness, pattern recognition, sorting, comparing and measuring. Research shows that early mathematical reasoning is linked to later achievement, not only in math but across subjects (Onoshakpokaiye 2023; Baroody et al. 2009).

From birth to age six, children develop core mathematical concepts through exploration and interaction. These early experiences form the basis for problem-solving and critical thinking abilities (Björklund et al. 2020; Bowman et al. 2001). Children are naturally curious and begin to notice differences in quantity, shape and size through play and everyday activities (Gopnik et al. 2001). Play provides a powerful context for learning math. Through block building, sorting and shape manipulation, children develop spatial and reasoning skills (Sarama and Clements 2009). However, adults play a vital role in introducing math vocabulary and guiding deeper understanding during these activities (Bowman et al. 2001).

Math and literacy development are interconnected. Studies show that when math is taught alongside reading, children often gain more than when taught in isolation (Institute of Medicine and National Research Council 2015; National Research Council 2009). Shared reading, storytelling and "math talk" enrich both language and number sense.

The Experience Developmental Continuum of Skills includes six math skills with twelve sub-skills.

	M 1a Verbally counts numbers
	M 1 b Identifies and writes numerals
M 1 Number Sense	M 1c Counting one-to-one, and composing and decomposing numbers
	M 1d Number Quantities and Comparison
	M 1e Addition and Subtraction
	M 2a Understands how objects move in space
M 2 Spatial Awareness	M 2b Determines object location
M 3 Shapes	M 3 Identifies shapes and their characteristics
	M 4a Measures and Estimates
M 4 Measurement	M 4b Compares and Orders
M 5 Patterns	M 5 Copies, Creates, and Extends Patterns
M 6 Classification	M 6 Sorts and graphs

M 1 Number Sense



Experience Early Learning Framework includes 6 Mathematics skills:

M 1 Number Sense

Develops number sense by understanding concepts of number and quantity through counting, one-to-one correspondence, quantities and comparisons.

M 2 Spatial Awareness

Explores spatial awareness by understanding how objects move in space and determining their location.

M 3 Shapes

Identifies shapes and their characteristics

M 4 Measurement

Measures and estimates quantities, and compares and orders objects based on various attributes.

Copies, Creates, and Extends Patterns

M 6 Classification

Organizes data through classification by sorting objects and graphing for visual representation and analysis.

Number sense encompasses children's ability to identify, understand and manipulate numbers and quantities, including skills like numeral recognition, one-to-one correspondence, counting and simple operations (Clements and Sarama 2009). It emerges in stages—from rote verbal counting and recognizing numerals in toddlers, to understanding quantity, cardinality and using numbers to solve problems in preschool and early primary years.

Research suggests that the benefits of strong early number sense endure for many years and that the learning gains that children make in early mathematics are especially predictive of their later math success (Watts et al. 2014). Specific skills, like counting and understanding cardinality in preschool, are especially predictive of fifth-grade outcomes (Nguyen et al. 2016).

M 1 Number Sense

	Infant		Toddler	Preschool
Sub-skill / Definition	Benchmark 1	Benchmark 2	Benchmark 3	Benchmark 4
M 1a Verbally counts numbers	Listens to counting songs and chants.	Says or sings random numbers, may be out of order.	Verbally counts to five.	Verbally counts to ten.
M 1b Identifies and writes numerals	Sees numbers in everyday context.	Begins to identify numbers. Identifies the numeral 1.	Identifies numerals up to five.	Identifies numerals up to ten and understands the numeral reflects the quantity of objects. Writes numerals up to five.
M 1c Counting one-to-one, and composing and decomposing numbers	Points to objects.	Uses one-to-one correspondence to match objects or pictures.	Points to one object at a time while counting up to five.	Counts up to ten objects and indicates that the last number counted tells how many objects were counted.
M 1d Number Quantities and Comparison	Looks for an object that is taken out of sight.	Recognizes amounts up to two without counting.	Recognizes amounts up to three without counting.	Recognizes amounts up to five without counting. Creates and counts groups of up to five objects and identifies which group has more, less or if they are equal.
M 1e Addition and Subtraction	Watches an adult add or take away toys.	Adds to and removes objects from a group as prompted.	Adds and subtracts by adding or removing objects and demonstrating understanding of the total up to three.	Adds and subtracts by adding to or removing objects and recounting to find the total up to five.

Gaps in number sense at kindergarten entry, particularly among children from disadvantaged backgrounds, can persist without early intervention (Jordan et al. 2022). For educators, recognizing number sense in everyday classroom activities—such as when children count snacks, compare who has "more" or solve problems during play—provides opportunities to extend learning. Research encourages using intentional, playful instruction to build number sense, as early gains lead to stronger arithmetic and reasoning abilities (Raghubar and Barnes 2017).

	Primary				
Benchmark 5	Benchmark 6	Benchmark 7	Benchmark 8		
Verbally counts to twenty.	Verbally counts to 100 by ones and tens. Counts forward from a given number.	Verbally counts in sequence to 120 from a given number.	Verbally counts by fives, tens and hundreds to 1000.		
Identifies numerals up to twenty and understands the numeral reflects the quantity of objects. Writes numerals up to ten.	Identifies numerals up to fifty. Writes numerals up to twenty.	Identifies numerals to 100 and understands place value for two- to three-digit numbers.	Identifies and writes numerals to 1000. Understands place value for three- to four-digit numbers.		
Count up to twenty objects and indicates that the last number counted tells how many objects were counted.	Understands that a whole number is greater than its parts and can identify the number combinations that add up to five with prompting.	Identifies the number combinations that add up to five.	Decomposes numbers less than or equal to ten in more than one way.		
Creates and counts groups of up to five objects and recognizes which group has more, even if the objects in the larger group are smaller.	Creates and counts groups of up to ten objects and identifies which group has more, less or if they are equal.	Uses the concept of a number line to compare which numbers are closer to each other.	Uses place value to compare numbers.		
Adds and subtracts by adding to or removing objects and recounting to find the total up to ten.	Adds and subtracts by counting on or counting up to for totals up to ten.	Uses addition and subtraction strategies to solve problems with totals up to twenty.	Solves for the unknown in one- and two-step addition or subtraction word problems. Explains problem-solving strategies.		

M 2 Spatial Awareness



Experience Early Learning Framework includes 6 Mathematics skills:

M 1 Number Sense

Develops number sense by understanding concepts of number and quantity through counting, one-to-one correspondence, quantities and comparisons.

M 2 Spatial Awareness

Explores spatial awareness by understanding how objects move in space and determining their location.

M 3 Shapes

Identifies shapes and their characteristics

M4 Measurement

Measures and estimates quantities, and compares and orders objects based on various attributes.

M 5 Patterns

Copies, Creates, and Extends Patterns

M 6 Classification

Organizes data through classification by sorting objects and graphing for visual representation and analysis.

Spatial awareness refers to a child developing understanding of space, dimension and the relative position of objects, including their own body, in relation to other objects and people. This foundational cognitive ability enables children to locate objects, navigate their environments and comprehend spatial relationships. It encompasses skills such as flipping, rotating and mentally transforming objects, abilities that are crucial for problem-solving and later academic success (Seefeldt and Galper, 2008; Fox et al. 2025).

From birth, children demonstrate an innate sense of spatial awareness. Infants can track movement through space and show a preference for human-like faces, indicating early spatial discrimination (Platas 2017). As children grow, their spatial reasoning is further refined through active engagement with their environment. Concrete experiences, such as manipulating puzzles, playing with blocks and participating in guessing games, provide essential kinesthetic and visual-spatial feedback. These activities not only strengthen fine motor and perceptual skills but also prepare children for the mental manipulation of objects, which is a key step toward abstract thinking (Schindler 2002).

Language plays a significant role in expressing and reinforcing spatial concepts. As children's vocabulary develops, they begin to use spatial terms like "on," "under," "over," "behind" and "between" to describe the location of objects. This spatial language allows them to communicate thoughts, describe their surroundings and articulate needs more clearly ("Ball under bed!"). The ability to understand and use spatial language is closely linked to later success in both mathematical reasoning and verbal skills, particularly those related to following multi-step directions (Murata and Tan 2009; Temple et al. 2020).

M 2 Spatial Awareness

	Infant		Toddler	Preschool
Sub-skill / Definition	Benchmark 1	Benchmark 2	Benchmark 3	Benchmark 4
M 2a Understands how objects move in space	Tries to put one object inside another.	Purposely manipulates objects, such as turning or spinning them, to discover how things move or fit into a space.	Recognizes objects that are upside-down and turns them right-side up. Puts together three pieces to create a whole object.	Moves objects to assemble a whole, such as simple puzzles with prompting.
M 2b Determines object location	Participates as caregiver raises arms or legs and says up/down.	Follows simple positional directions such as on/off, over/under and up/down.	Finds or places objects next to, between, in front of or behind self.	When prompted, places objects next to, between, in front of or behind objects not related to self.

Primary			
Benchmark 5	Benchmark 6	Benchmark 7	Benchmark 8
Moves objects to assemble a whole, such as simple puzzles. May take several attempts to determine the correct orientation.	Identifies and corrects the orientation of familiar objects and symbols. Assembles a puzzle without using a guide.	Creates complex pictures or objects by putting together or taking apart shapes.	Determines when shapes have been slid, turned or flipped and describes the translation.
Explains the location of an object in relation to another object.	Makes simple maps or models to represent the location of objects.	Gives and follows positional instructions to find objects.	Uses representations, coordinates systems and maps to identify locations of objects or places.

M 3 Shapes



Experience Early Learning Framework includes 6 Mathematics skills:

M 1 Number Sense

Develops number sense by understanding concepts of number and quantity through counting, one-to-one correspondence, quantities and comparisons.

M 2 Spatial Awareness

Explores spatial awareness by understanding how objects move in space and determining their location.

M 3 Shapes

Identifies shapes and their characteristics

M4 Measurement

Measures and estimates quantities, and compares and orders objects based on various attributes.

M 5 Patterns

Copies, Creates, and Extends Patterns

M 6 Classification

Organizes data through classification by sorting objects and graphing for visual representation and analysis. A child's understanding of shapes involves the ability to identify, name, recreate and compare common two- and three-dimensional shapes. This foundational knowledge includes recognizing and manipulating the characteristics of geometric forms, such as circles, squares, triangles, cubes and cylinders. Developing shape awareness is not only critical for early geometry learning but also enhances overall spatial reasoning and cognitive development.

Geometry in early childhood education encompasses more than just identifying shapes. It includes children's understanding of spatial properties in their environment. According to Clements (2019), a key early-geometry skill is when children recognize common shapes, name them and describe their characteristics. For example, noting how many sides or corners a shape has. As young children grow, their ability to use math vocabulary to describe their surroundings strengthens their geometric reasoning (Ginsburg 1989).

This ability to describe and view shapes in their environment contributes to a broader awareness of spatial relationships, which is strongly correlated with later success in geometry and mathematics (Hindman et al. 2010). Mastering shapes also allows children to break complex shapes into smaller components and reassemble shapes into new forms. Research by Bobis (2008) suggests that this kind of part-whole manipulation in geometry carries over to mathematics—it helps children learn how whole numbers can be split into parts and thereby strengthens their number sense.

Geometry is recognized as a fundamental cognitive skill for young children and serves as a "unifying theme" in the math curriculum. It emphasizes the use of concrete objects and shapes, making it highly accessible for young children. For example, toddlers and preschoolers begin to identify familiar shapes, such as circles, squares and triangles, and use shape names to describe items in their environment (Aslan et al. 2024). The National Council of Teachers of Mathematics (2006) recommends that geometry, including shape instruction, be taught using hands-on meaningful activities.

M 3 Shapes

	Infant		Toddler	Preschool
Sub-skill / Definition	Benchmark 1	Benchmark 2	Benchmark 3	Benchmark 4
M 3 Identifies shapes and their characteristics	Manipulates objects that are a variety of shapes.	Matches two identical shapes.	Identifies one to three two-dimensional shapes.	Identifies four to six two- dimensional shapes.

	Primary					
Benchmark 5	Benchmark 6	Benchmark 7	Benchmark 8			
	Compares shapes by describing the attributes, such as the number and length of the sides and the number of angles or "corners" and recognizes shapes regardless of orientation.	Describes objects in the environment as two- and three-dimensional shapes. Identifies one to four three- dimensional shapes.	Separates a shape into halves, thirds and fourths.			

M 4 Measurement



Experience Early Learning Framework includes 6 Mathematics skills:

M 1 Number Sense

Develops number sense by understanding concepts of number and quantity through counting, one-to-one correspondence, quantities and comparisons.

M 2 Spatial Awareness

Explores spatial awareness by understanding how objects move in space and determining their location.

M 3 Shapes

Identifies shapes and their characteristics

M 4 Measuremen

Measures and estimates quantities, and compares and orders objects based on various attributes.

M 5 Patterns

Copies, Creates, and Extends Patterns

M 6 Classification

Organizes data through classification by sorting objects and graphing for visual representation and analysis. Measurement is a foundational mathematical concept that includes estimation, seriation and the use of both standard and nonstandard tools to determine attributes such as length, size, weight, volume and duration (Erikson Institute's Early Math Collaborative 2014). Early measurement experiences support children's understanding of "how much" of something they have and are critical in developing abstract mathematical reasoning and problem-solving skills (VanDerHeyden et al. 2011).

Children begin acquiring measurement concepts in infancy and refine them throughout early childhood. Their understanding progresses developmentally, starting with intuitive comparisons, moving to informal or nonstandard strategies (e.g., using hands, blocks or string) and ultimately to standard units and instruments (Szilágyi, Clements, & Sarama 2013). Everyday experiences, such as comparing toy lengths, food portions or cup capacities, provide opportunities for this learning. These hands-on interactions foster vocabulary acquisition with terms like longer, shorter, heavier and smaller, and introduce children to quantitative thinking through meaningful contexts—particularly in social play, where fairness and measurement often intersect (e.g., "She had it for longer!" or "I want the bigger cookie!").

Beyond measurement, children also develop skills in seriation, or the ability to order objects based on characteristics such as size or color intensity. Seriation not only strengthens children's grasp of sequence and comparison but also serves as a predictor for understanding arithmetic concepts (Ginsburg 1987). This skill, together with comparing and ordering objects, supports core mathematical abilities, such as pattern recognition, logical reasoning and structured thinking (Carpenter et al. 1999).

Estimation and measurement help children quantify and approximate characteristics, providing a bridge from informal, concrete experiences to formal mathematical understanding. Research confirms that early proficiency in measurement serves as a strong indicator of future success in more advanced mathematics (VanDerHeyden et al. 2011; Seefeldt and Galper 2008).

M 4 Measurement

	Infant		Toddler	Preschool
Sub-skill / Definition	Benchmark 1	Benchmark 2	Benchmark 3	Benchmark 4
M 4a Measures and Estimates	Recognizes when to use whole hand or just two fingers to pick up an object.	Explores size and weight of objects in relation to self.	Determines which object is bigger when given two to three objects.	Identifies that things can be measured and uses nonstandard measurement tools. Uses measurement vocabulary such as weight, length or volume.
M 4b Compares and Orders	Picks up and puts down objects.	Places objects in a row in any order.	Compares and orders two to three objects. Identifies the first object.	-

Primary				
Benchmark 5	Benchmark 6	Benchmark 7	Benchmark 8	
Compares the length, weight and capacity of two objects to determine which is bigger or if they are the same and uses measurement vocabulary.	Makes logical estimates and uses measurement tools to check estimation.	Explains which measurement tool makes the best sense for the object being measured. Tells time in hours and half-hours.	Tells time. Estimates length in inches, feet, centimeters or meters. Measures an object using a variety of measurement standards.	
Compares and orders up to ten objects. Describes order using words like first to tenth.	Orders objects by one feature, then reorders using a different feature. Orders events in time.	Compares objects by using a measuring tool, then orders.	Compares and explains how much longer one object is than another using standard units of measurement.	

M 5 Patterns



Experience Early Learning Framework includes 6 Mathematics skills:

M 1 Number Sense

Develops number sense by understanding concepts of number and quantity through counting, one-to-one correspondence, quantities and comparisons.

M 2 Spatial Awareness

Explores spatial awareness by understanding how objects move in space and determining their location.

M 3 Shapes

Identifies shapes and their characteristics

M 4 Measurement

Measures and estimates quantities, and compares and orders objects based on various attributes.

M 5 Patterns

Copies, Creates, and Extends Patterns

M 6 Classification

Organizes data through classification by sorting objects and graphing for visual representation and analysis.

Patterns are sequences that repeat logically and appear in many forms—colors (e.g., green, orange or green), shapes, daily routines or natural events, like sunrise and sunset (Rittle-Johnson et al. 2015; Hindman et al., 2010). Exploring these patterns helps young children recognize regularity and predict what comes next, building a strong foundation for algebraic thinking and problem-solving.

In early education, it's important for children to identify, copy and extend simple patterns, such as AB or AABB, to support their developing math skills (National Council of Teachers of Mathematics 2006). Research shows that early patterning skills are linked to stronger number knowledge in later grades (Zippert et al. 2020).

Working with patterns also strengthens memory. Even before they use language, young children can remember and replicate sequences they've seen, highlighting the importance of providing rich opportunities to explore patterns (Rovee-Collier 1999). These experiences not only support math development, but also help children make sense of their environment through structure and repetition.

M 5 Patterns

	Infant	Toddler		Preschool
Sub-skill / Definition	Benchmark 1	Benchmark 2	Benchmark 3	Benchmark 4
M 5 Copies, Creates, and Extends Patterns	Plays predictable activities with caregivers, such as pata-cake and peekaboo.	Notices things that repeat in the environment.	Fills in the missing piece of an AB pattern.	Copies, creates and extends AB patterns.

	Primary				
Benchmark 5	Benchmark 6	Benchmark 7	Benchmark 8		
Fills in the missing piece of complex patterns, such as ABC or AABB.	Copies, creates and extends complex patterns, such as	Identifies the smallest unit of a pattern, such as AAB as the smallest	Develops and explains own formula for creating a variety		
	ABC or AABB.	unit of the pattern AABAABAAB.	of patterns.		

M 6 Classification



Experience Early Learning Framework includes 6 Mathematics skills:

M 1 Number Sense

Develops number sense by understanding concepts of number and quantity through counting, one-to-one correspondence, quantities and comparisons.

M 2 Spatial Awareness

Explores spatial awareness by understanding how objects move in space and determining their location.

M 3 Shapes

Identifies shapes and their characteristics

M 4 Measurement

Measures and estimates quantities, and compares and orders objects based on various attributes.

M 5 Patterns

Copies, Creates, and Extends Patterns

M 6 Classification

Organizes data through classification by sorting objects and graphing for visual representation and analysis.

Classification is one of the first cognitive tools children use to make sense of their surroundings. It begins in early childhood and involves recognizing shared features among objects and sorting them into groups, such as putting all of the red blocks together or setting animals apart from vehicles. These early attempts at organizing the world help children begin to think analytically and develop logical reasoning (Alessandroni and Rodríguez 2020).

In the classroom, this skill often starts with matching, or finding items that are the same in one way, and gradually becomes more complex. As children grow, they learn to sort objects by more than one feature at a time, such as color and shape. This ability to consider multiple characteristics not only supports their understanding of the world, but also lays the foundation for higher-order thinking (Sousa 2008). Teachers can encourage this growth by incorporating matching and sorting activities that challenge children to notice how things are alike and different.

Additionally, children also begin to engage in cross-classification, recognizing that an object can belong to more than one category at the same time. For example, a "blue triangle" fits in both the category of "blue things" and "triangles." This type of flexible thinking is more cognitively demanding because it requires children to shift attention between multiple attributes. Research suggests that developing the skill of cross-classification is important for later math, science and reading comprehension when a child must group, compare and relate information across multiple dimensions (Nguyen and Murphy 2019; Nguyen and Gelman 2021).

By offering opportunities to classify, sort and re-sort objects using different rules, educators support children's growing brains and build the foundation for lifelong learning. These simple activities prepare students to reason more deeply and solve problems more effectively as they move through school.

M 6 Classification

	Infant		Toddler	Preschool
Sub-skill / Definition	Benchmark 1	Benchmark 2	Benchmark 3	Benchmark 4
M 6 Sorts and graphs	Notices when two objects are similar in some way.	Creates groups of objects by common characteristics but may be mixed or inconsistent.	, ,	After sorting objects by one feature, sorts again by a different feature

	Primary					
Benchmark 5	Benchmark 6	Benchmark 7	Benchmark 8			
Sorts objects by more than one feature and explains why.	Gathers, sorts and categorizes objects or data into two categories and counts how many are in each.	Gathers, represents and answers questions about objects or data in three categories.	Gathers, represents and answers questions about objects or data in four categories.			



Science

Science skills include a child's ability to inquire, make predictions and evaluate observations. They support a child's exploration of everyday life and physical properties, and help them make sense of concepts such as weather, natural habitats and technology.

Science education plays an important role in early childhood development. For young children, it involves nurturing their natural curiosity, encouraging safe exploration and fostering a sense of wonder about the world around them. As they grow, children learn to think like scientists by observing closely, asking questions and trying things out, long before they can articulate formal hypotheses. Introducing science early offers many benefits. It supports cognitive development and strengthens skills such as problem solving, reasoning and communication across multiple domains (Stone 2024). Early science experiences also help children develop positive attitudes toward learning and confidence in their ability to explore and understand new concepts, which can foster a greater interest in science later on (Head Start ECLKC 2024). Recognizing this, researchers and educators emphasize the value of hands-on, inquiry-driven instruction at an early age (National Science Teachers Association 2014).

The Experience Developmental Continuum of Skills includes four science skills with seven sub-skills.

SCI 1 Investigation & Inquiry	SCI 1a Asks questions and makes predictions SCI 1b Observes, describes and records
SCI 2 Natural & Earth Science	SCI 2a Understands living and nonliving things SCI 2b Demonstrates knowledge of Earth's environment
SCI 3 Physical Science	SCI 3a Explores forces and motion SCI 3b Explores the physical properties of materials
SCI 4 Technology	SCI 4 Uses tools and technology to perform tasks

SCI 1 Investigation & Inquiry



Experience Early Learning Framework includes 4 Science skills:

SCI 1 Investigation & Inquiry

Observes, describes and records observations, asks questions and makes predictions.

SCI 2 Natural & Earth Science

Understands living and nonliving things and their characteristics and demonstrates knowledge of Earth's environment.

SCI 3 Physical Science

Explores forces and motion, and examines the physical properties of materials.

SCI 4 Technology

Uses tools and technology to perform tasks

Young children are naturally curious and like to explore. They develop an understanding of the world around them by observing, experimenting and discovering how things work (National Science Teachers Association 2014). In fact, "the desire to question, hypothesize, explore and investigate is part of their very being" (Bosse et al. 2009, 10). In early childhood education, scientific inquiry refers to children's active exploration of their environment—asking questions, trying things out and observing what happens. The National Science Teachers Association (2014) emphasizes that engaging in science and engineering practices during the early years "can foster children's curiosity and enjoyment in exploring the world around them and lay the foundation for a progression of science learning in K–12 settings and throughout their entire lives."

SCI 1 Investigation & Inquiry

	Infant		Toddler	Preschool
Sub-skill / Definition	Benchmark 1	Benchmark 2	Benchmark 3	Benchmark 4
SCI 1a Asks questions and makes predictions	Looks for a person or toy that has moved out of sight.	Asks simple questions about a familiar environment through words or gestures.	Begins to understand how things are connected and asks more complex questions about a familiar environment.	When given a question, guesses a possible answer or outcome.
SCI 1b Observes, describes and records	Uses senses to explore environment.	Demonstrates curiosity about objects by touching and manipulating them. Begins to understand cause and effect.	and record a simple scientific phenomenon with	Observes and uses prior knowledge to describe and record a scientific phenomenon with teacher prompting.

Primary				
Benchmark 5	Benchmark 6	Benchmark 7	Benchmark 8	
Asks questions about a familiar environment or scientific phenomenon and makes predictions about the outcome.	Predicts multiple outcomes to a question or situation and explains personal reasoning.	Uses prior knowledge and gathered information to make predictions about a scientific phenomenon. Makes hypotheses about scientific phenomena with teacher support.	Asks questions and makes hypotheses about scientific phenomena or hypothetical problems. Conducts an experimen multiple times.	
Observes, describes and records a scientific phenomenon.	Gathers information or experiments to prove/disprove a prediction.	Records findings in charts or diagrams and explains one's problem-solving strategy.	Records and discusses observations and evaluates information to explain a phenomenon or prove/disprove a hypothesis.	

SCI 2 Natural & Earth Science



Experience Early Learning Framework includes 4 Science skills:

SCI 1 Investigation & Inquiry

Observes, describes and records observations, asks questions and makes predictions.

SCI 2 Natural & Earth Science

Understands living and nonliving things and their characteristics and demonstrates knowledge of Earth's environment

SCI 3 Physical Science

Explores forces and motion, and examines the physical properties of materials.

SCI 4 Technology

Uses tools and technology to perform tasks

Knowledge in life science allows children to understand the needs and characteristics of living things. It includes the ability to distinguish between living and nonliving things, as well as classifying living organisms. Young children learn natural and earth science through exploration and play, guided by their own curiosity. According to the National Academies of Sciences, Engineering and Medicine (2022), "even very young children... can make sense of their world in sophisticated ways." Specifically, children begin to connect ideas, recognize patterns and build basic concepts about how things work. They are capable of engaging in simple scientific reasoning, such as understanding that bigger objects may be heavier or that plants need water, when these ideas are grounded in concrete, observable experiences. Engaging in natural and earth science also supports the development of executive function skills, including attention, memory and self-regulation. For example, following steps in an investigation, staying focused on a task or taking turns during group activities all promote these cognitive skills. Research summarized by the National Academies (2022) suggests that preschool science activities, particularly those involving planning and experimentation, can enhance children's executive functioning and problem-solving abilities (Schachter and Jo 2018; Fayez et al. 2020, as cited in NASEM 2022). Perhaps most importantly, early science experiences lay the foundation for sustained interest and achievement in science. High-quality early science experiences help establish the foundational skills and knowledge children need for later science learning (Raven and Wenner 2023).

SCI 2 Natural & Earth Science

	Infant		Toddler	Preschool
Sub-skill / Definition	Benchmark 1	Benchmark 2	Benchmark 3	Benchmark 4
SCI 1a Asks questions and makes predictions	Looks for a person or toy that has moved out of sight.	Asks simple questions about a familiar environment through words or gestures.	Begins to understand how things are connected and asks more complex questions about a familiar environment.	When given a question, guesses a possible answer or outcome.
SCI 1b Observes, describes and records	Uses senses to explore environment.	Demonstrates curiosity about objects by touching and manipulating them. Begins to understand cause and effect.	and record a simple scientific phenomenon with	Observes and uses prior knowledge to describe and record a scientific phenomenon with teacher prompting.

	Primary			
Benchmark 5	Benchmark 6	Benchmark 7	Benchmark 8	
Asks questions about a familiar environment or scientific phenomenon and makes predictions about the outcome.	Predicts multiple outcomes to a question or situation and explains personal reasoning.	Uses prior knowledge and gathered information to make predictions about a scientific phenomenon. Makes hypotheses about scientific phenomena with teacher support.	Asks questions and makes hypotheses about scientific phenomena or hypothetical problems. Conducts an experiment multiple times.	
Observes, describes and records a scientific phenomenon.	Gathers information or experiments to prove/disprove a prediction.	Records findings in charts or diagrams and explains one's problem-solving strategy.	Records and discusses observations and evaluates information to explain a phenomenon or prove/disprove a hypothesis.	

SCI 3 Physical Science



Experience Early Learning Framework includes 4 Science skills:

SCI 1 Investigation & Inquiry

Observes, describes and records observations, asks questions and makes predictions.

SCI 2 Natural & Earth Science

Understands living and nonliving things and their characteristics and demonstrates knowledge of Earth's environment

SCI 3 Physical Science

Explores forces and motion, and examines the physical properties of materials.

SCI 4 Technology

Uses tools and technology to perform tasks

Physical science in early childhood focuses on children's natural exploration of forces, motion and material properties. From infancy, children begin to build intuitive understandings of how the physical world works by manipulating objects, observing movement and engaging their senses. Children's early engagement with physical science supports later learning in physics and chemistry. Developmentally appropriate exploration, through play and sensory interaction, enables children to test ideas, build vocabulary and develop scientific reasoning.

Research shows that even infants possess basic expectations about motion, such as that unsupported objects fall or solid objects block others. They use violations of these expectations to explore and learn (Stahl and Feigenson 2015). Toddlers and preschoolers actively experiment with cause and effect through actions like pushing toys or rolling balls and often engage with gravity, friction and magnetism during free play (Solis et al. 2017). Preschoolers may rely on rules, such as thinking heavier objects fall faster, however, they show growing awareness of how force changes motion (Harris et al. 2018). These early experiences lay a foundation for scientific thinking about physical interactions.

Infants can distinguish solids from liquids by sight and touch, detecting differences in texture, hardness and flow (Imura et al. 2015; Hespos et al. 2009). Toddlers explore materials by squeezing, shaking or sorting them based on sensory cues. By ages 3–5, children describe materials using terms like "soft," "sticky" or "cold," and begin identifying solids, liquids and visible changes like melting or dissolving (Christodoulakis and Adbo 2024). However, their reasoning is often concrete; they may believe matter "disappears" when it evaporates. Even so, their experiences support early chemistry concepts, such as state changes and material classification.

SCI 3 Physical Science

	Infant		Toddler	Preschool
Sub-skill / Definition	Benchmark 1	Benchmark 2	Benchmark 3	Benchmark 4
SCI 3a Explores forces and motion	Kicks feet or shakes arms to make other objects move.	Uses body to push or pull toys.	Explores motion by moving, rolling, blowing on or dropping a toy.	Explains how vehicles, animals or people move.
SCI 3b Explores the physical properties of materials	Uses senses to explore objects in an immediate environment.	Reacts to changes in texture, temperature, smell, sound or sight.	Begins to name colors.	Describes basic physical properties of objects, such as textures and colors.

	Primary				
Benchmark 5	Benchmark 6	Benchmark 7	Benchmark 8		
Experiments with and explores invisible forces, such as ramps and magnets.	Experiments and compares the movements of various objects and materials on a variety of surfaces.	Recognizes that gravity makes unsupported objects fall. Identifies objects that are attracted to magnets.	Explains how force is used to change the direction of moving objects.		
Manipulates matter and observes any physical changes that may occur.	Classifies and sorts materials by a variety of physical properties.	Identifies materials that are solid, liquid and gas.	Describe how materials change between different states of matte		

SCI 4 Technology



Experience Early Learning Framework includes 4 Science skills:

SCI 1 Investigation & Inquiry

Observes, describes and records observations, asks questions and makes predictions.

SCI 2 Natural & Earth Science

Understands living and nonliving things and their characteristics and demonstrates knowledge of Earth's environment.

SCI 3 Physical Science

Explores forces and motion, and examines the physical properties of materials.

SCI 4 Technology

Uses tools and technology to perform tasks

From infancy, children actively explore objects and gradually discover how to use tools to achieve goals. Research shows that even before age two, many toddlers can use simple tools, like reaching sticks, to solve problems. Around 18 months they succeed mainly after adult hints and by roughly 30 months many can innovate a solution independently. The richness of infants' object play is linked to emerging problem-solving skills; babies who frequently combine objects during play tend to perform better on later tooluse tasks (Rat-Fischer et al. 2024). Young children also learn tool use through observation and imitation. Preschoolers readily copy an adult's use of a new tool and can select the right tool for a task, yet they rarely invent new tools on their own. In one study, most children under five could not devise a hook tool unless shown a solution, though they succeeded after a demonstration (Colbourne et al. 2024). This shows a gap between using tools and inventing them that typically narrows with age and experience.

Young children today also use digital tools, like touchscreens and apps, to solve problems and explore. Research shows that preschoolers can transfer problem-solving strategies from digital platforms to real-world tasks, such as learning a puzzle on a tablet, then applying that solution to a physical model (Tarasuik et al. 2017). Interactive technology that is developmentally appropriate can support early cognitive skills, including spatial awareness and reasoning (Clemente-Suárez et al. 2024). However, how technology is used matters. Passive screen time is linked to weaker attention and cognitive outcomes, while guided, interactive use is associated with more positive effects (Swider-Cios et al. 2023). When used appropriately, digital media allows children to explore, create and solve problems in new ways, reinforcing their early development of technological reasoning.

SCI 4 Technology

	Infant		>	Toddler		Preschool
Sub-skill / Definition	Benchmark 1	Bene	chmark 2	Benchmark 3		Benchmark 4
SCI 4 Uses tools and technology to perform tasks	Explores simple toys.	Begins to us purposefull	se simple toys y.	Explores movable parts on toys.	inter	ores simple tools or acts with simple types of nology.

	Primary				
Benchmark 5	Benchmark 6	Benchmark 7	Benchmark 8		
Experiments with tools or	Uses familiar tools or technology to	Experiments with familiar and	Identifies which tools can best		
technology to solve problems or	produce a desired result or solve a	unfamiliar tools or technology to	help save time, solve a problem or		
accomplish tasks.	specific problem.	achieve a variety of results.	increase enjoyment.		





Social Studies

Social Studies in early childhood lays the foundation for understanding the world and a child's place within it, building on their innate curiosity and observations (National Association for the Education of Young Children 2024). Research shows that "children's perceptions about themselves, others and the environment are influenced long before children have language" (Iruka et al. 2021). These concepts emerge organically from their everyday interactions and explorations.

By building a strong sense of community, children begin to grasp how people are connected and the importance of shared spaces and responsibilities (Vilotti and Berson 2019). Connecting with a child's neighborhood experiences, such as visiting local parks, interacting with community helpers and understanding different types of buildings, makes learning meaningful. Providing opportunities for teamwork and collaborative play teaches children how to negotiate, share and work towards common goals. Creating expectations around routines like naps or meals helps children develop an understanding of history and the concept of time.

The pedagogical approach in these early years emphasizes active engagement through play-based learning, hands-on exploration and interactive activities. This allows children to actively construct their understanding rather than passively receiving information. It is through these opportunities that children learn leadership qualities, the value of including others and group contributions, laying the groundwork for responsible and engaged citizenship in the future.

The Experience Developmental Continuum of Skills includes four social studies skills with eight sub-skills.

SS 1 Culture & Community	SS 1a Identifies community and family roles SS 1b Explores and respects cultures and traditions SS 1c Respects diversity
SS 2 Civics & Economics	SS 2a Follows rules, limits and expectations SS 2b Understands concepts of money and economics
SS 3 Geography	SS 3a Identifies types of places SS 3b Interacts with maps
SS 4 History & Sense of Time	SS 4 Develops sense of time

SS 1 Culture & Community



Experience Early Learning Framework includes 4 Social Studies skills:

SS 1 Culture & Community

Explores communities, families, culture and traditions.

\$\$ 2 Civics & Economics

Follows familiar rules and routines and explores concepts of money and economics.

SS 3 Geography

Identifies types of places and interacts with maps.

SS 4 History & Sense of Time

Develops a sense of time.

Exploring community, family, culture, tradition and diversity forms the basis of culture and community skills for children. Through play, they safely investigate social rules and cultural norms relevant to their communities and experiment with varied community roles. As children recognize how they contribute to their community, their self-worth and ability to cooperate are strengthened (NAEYC 2022; Kaiser and Raminsky 2020).

An inclusive classroom establishes a safe environment where every child feels valued and respected (Swinder Boutte 2010). Meaningful interactions and the development of friendships among children from diverse backgrounds offer a sense of belonging and foster a deeper understanding of differing perspectives (ChildCare Education Institute 2024). This builds a child's confidence and resilience. By intentionally providing a nurturing space that celebrates the richness of various cultures and communities, we cultivate characteristics of empathy, mutual respect and a sense of global citizenship in young children. Not only does this approach enrich the overall learning experience for everyone involved, it also ignites innovative and creative approaches to problem-solving, preparing children to navigate the world with greater skill and sensitivity.

SS 1 Culture & Community

	Infant		Toddler	Preschool
Sub-skill / Definition	Benchmark 1	Benchmark 2	Benchmark 3	Benchmark 4
SS 1a Identifies community and family roles	Responds to and recognizes primary caregivers.	Recognizes the difference between a familiar and unfamiliar person.	Identifies familiar people and pets.	Describes family members and their relationship to self. Identifies and role-plays familiar community helpers.
SS 1b Explores and respects cultures and traditions	Listens to stories or music related to cultures and traditions.	Participates in activities related to cultures or traditions.	Recognizes familiar symbols or artifacts of traditions or customs.	Describes the routines, familiar stories, traditions, foods or celebrations of own family or community.
SS 1c Respects diversity	Sees diverse features of people in books, toys or media.	Explores people and their features, either in person or in pictures.	Identifies similarities and differences between self and others.	Respectfully participates in activities with others different than self.

		Primary		
Benchmark 5	Benchmark 6	Benchmark 7	Benchmark 8	
Identifies roles of self and others and describes the job each may do.	Compares roles, rules and responsibilities between different groups.	Describes how roles and responsibilities or families and groups change over time.	Identifies features of different communities and how these features impact roles and responsibilities.	
Explains the meaning and importance of their own traditions or customs. Begins to learn, ask questions and respect other cultures.	Explains the meaning and importance of traditions or customs of other people.	Compares diverse cultures or traditions.	Names influential people or events that have impacted familiar cultures and traditions.	
Shows interest in learning about and interacting with peers who look, learn, believe or move differently.	Explains and celebrates how individuals, families or cultures differ.	Demonstrates an understanding that some people have different needs or beliefs than self and seeks to support them accordingly.	Demonstrates respect for people who look different and have differing abilities or traditions.	

SS 2 Civics & Economics



Experience Early Learning Framework includes 4 Social Studies skills:

SS 1 Culture & Community
Explores communities, families, culture and traditions.

5S 2 Civics & Economics
Follows familiar rules and routines and explores concepts of money and economics.

SS 3 Geography
Identifies types of places and interacts with maps.

\$\$ 4 History & Sense of Time Develops a sense of time.

Young children develop fundamental civic and economic skills through play and daily interactions. They learn critical thinking by analyzing situations, making choices and solving problems within their environment (Halverson et al. 2024). Working together during play and activities fosters collaboration, negotiation and the achievement of shared goals. Simple trading systems, like exchanging toys, help children understand basic economic transactions. Additionally, they begin to grasp the concept of ownership and respecting others' belongings, which cultivates a sense of responsibility.

Introducing rules and expectations, such as classroom routines, helps children understand governance and social norms. These norms are acquired through the observation, imitation and modeling of others (Borg 2017). They experience group decision-making in simple scenarios, like choosing a game, laying the groundwork for understanding democracy (Illinois Early Learning Project 2023). Engaging in role-playing activities, like voting or as classroom leader, supports the development of children's civic skills (Halverson et al. 2024). Through these experiences, children develop a sense of community and learn the importance of shared spaces and responsibilities. These early lessons in civics and economics build social skills, promote empathy and prepare them for active participation in society.

SS 2 Civics & Fconomics

	Infant		Toddler	Preschool
Sub-skill / Definition	Benchmark 1	Benchmark 2	Benchmark 3	Benchmark 4
SS 2a Follows rules, limits and expectations	Attends to others in immediate environment.	Participates in communal activities.	Recognizes and attends to adults to hear rules, routines and expectations.	Follows familiar rules and routines and helps make group decisions. Expresses feelings about fairness.
SS 2b Understands concepts of money and economics	Reaches for desired objects.	Expresses a desire for an object or action. Expresses ownership such as by saying me or mine.	Expresses choice and recognizes interests and desires may be different from others. Explores the concepts of trade.	Asks before taking an object that doesn't belong to them and offers an object to others to get what they want. Explores the concept of money.

		Primary	
Benchmark 5	Benchmark 6	Benchmark 7	Benchmark 8
Applies familiar rules and suggests new rules in a variety of situations.	Discusses the purposes of rules, laws and civic leaders. Participates in voting to make decisions.	Identifies individual rights. Determines if rules support the common good.	Describes different levels of government, such as local, state and national. Makes democratic decisions.
Explores the use of trade of both goods and money to receive/buy objects or services.	Exchanges money, goods or services for other goods or services. Identifies value of differing coins.	Describes how and why we save, earn and spend money.	Explains how and why people work together in trade to get what they need and want. Explains why some items are more expensive or valuable.

SS 3 Geography



Experience Early Learning Framework includes 4 Social Studies skills:

SS 1 Culture & Community
Explores communities, families, culture and traditions.

\$\$ 2 Civics & Economics

Follows familiar rules and routines and explores concepts of money and economics.

SS 3 Geography

Identifies types of places and interacts with maps.

\$5 4 History & Sense of Time Develops a sense of time.

Geography focuses on helping children understand their immediate environment and place within it. Young learners naturally possess an innate curiosity and rely heavily on their five senses to explore and interact with the materials and people in their environment, constructing their initial understanding of the world. A child's awareness of their environment is key to their sense of belonging, which is critical for social-emotional growth and school readiness (Epstein 2014).

Educators can encourage children to observe and respond to changes in their surroundings, such as weather shifts or new decorations in the classroom. Engaging discussions about these changes can foster observation skills and an understanding of reoccurring patterns in nature.

Navigating within a familiar environment, like the classroom or neighborhood, helps build spatial awareness, creating a "mental map" of a child's surroundings. Incorporating activities that involve identifying and discussing geographical landmarks within their community, as suggested by Catling (2006), provides reference points for this developing spatial understanding. This could include parks, libraries, stores and unique features like bridges or hills (NAEYC; Brillante and Mankiw 2015).

Geography should emphasize exploration and observation. Children should be given ample opportunities to interact directly with their physical world, using all of their senses to gather information and construct their own understanding. This hands-on, experiential approach fosters a deeper and more meaningful connection to their environment.

SS 3 Geography

	Infant		Toddler	Preschool
Sub-skill/Definition	Benchmark 1	Benchmark 2	Benchmark 3	Benchmark 4
SS 3a Identifies types of places	Responds to changes in the immediate environment.	Recognizes familiar places.	,	Identifies different types of water bodies, streets, buildings or landmarks in own community.
SS 3b Interacts with maps	Navigates within a familiar environment.	Finds ways to move around obstacles in a familiar environment.	Follows a path.	Recognizes symbols or landmarks.

Primary				
Benchmark 5	Benchmark 6	Benchmark 7	Benchmark 8	
Explains the purpose for different	Compares the geographic features	Identifies and describes various	Explains how the physical	
types of structures, such as bridges	of one's community to another	types of landforms and natural	features and characteristics	
and buildings. Asks questions about	community.	resources.	of an environment affect how	
landmarks.	-		people live.	
Identifies what is represented	Recreates a map of something they	Locates familiar places on maps.	Uses a variety of maps to gather	
on a map and draws pictures of	cannot immediately see.	Uses cardinal directions to follow	information.	
current location.	·	and give directions.		

SS 4 History & Sense of Time



Experience Early Learning Framework includes 4 Social Studies skills:

SS 1 Culture & Community

Explores communities, families, culture and traditions.

SS 2 Civics & Economics

Follows familiar rules and routines and explores concepts of money and economics.

SS 3 Geography

Identifies types of places and interacts with maps.

SS 4 History & Sense of Time Develops a sense of time.

The knowledge of history is the understanding of events that have happened in the past. Understanding historical events enables children to link their present experiences with the past, fostering their sense of time and spatial awareness within their surroundings. By helping children understand events they have directly encountered, such as birthdays or holiday celebrations, they begin to understand the sequence of events that occur. Introducing time language like "yesterday," "today" and "tomorrow" builds vocabulary. Individual views and actions are shaped by both personal experiences and community history. "When we fail to consider history, we lose a valuable source of information about why people behave the way they do" (NAEYC; Bowman 2021).

Children's social and cognitive development, as well as life patterns, provide a framework for understanding time. This understanding is built upon concepts like rhythm, repetition, periodicity, classification and the order of events in a sequence (Fardi 2022). Using simple narratives and visual aids, educators can incorporate storytelling to illustrate timelines and the concept of past events. Activities that involve sequencing picture cards or discussing routines can reinforce the understanding of chronological order. By linking historical concepts to their immediate lives and routines, children can begin to grasp the passage of time and the idea that events have a beginning, middle and end.

SS 3 History & Sense of Time

	Infant		Toddler	Preschool
Sub-skill / Definition	Benchmark 1	Benchmark 2	Benchmark 3	Benchmark 4
SS 4 Develops sense of time	Focuses on interactions with others for a short time.	Indicates the beginning or ending of an event	Describes events as they happen. Uses words such as "first" and "then."	Recalls information and events from the past. Recognizes sequence of events to establish a sense of order and time.

		Primary	
Benchmark 5	Benchmark 6	Benchmark 7	Benchmark 8
Uses language of time to describe familiar sequences of events.	Retells historical, fictional or past events or stories.	Compares and contrasts current and historical conditions of familiar environments.	Describes relationships between past events and current conditions. Explains why it is important to understand historical events.





Creative Arts

Creative arts activities foster cognitive, social, emotional and physical growth, laying a strong foundation for lifelong learning. By participating in music, dance and movement, visual arts and drama, children explore their world, express themselves and build essential skills in a playful and engaging way (Mills 2014). Research highlights the significance of arts education in enhancing cognitive abilities, suggesting that arts integration can lead to improvements in problem-solving and critical thinking (Eisner 2002).

Early childhood arts engagement is crucial for young learners to understand their world. Active participation in art activities helps them use symbols and diverse expressions to explore their environment. Consistent, high-quality creative art skills are essential for cognitive, social and emotional development, fostering creativity, problem-solving, communication and self-awareness. Creative problem-solving develops children's thinking skills by encouraging them to use their imagination and intelligence to gain a broader understanding (Pulver 2018).

Exposure to music, visual arts, drama and dance develops critical thinking, creative expression and confidence. Lack of such experiences hinders foundational skill development and the ability to engage with the world. Integrating arts provides a holistic learning approach, nurturing well-rounded individuals (Barton 2015).

The Experience Developmental Continuum of Skills includes four creative arts (CA) skills with nine sub-skills.

	CA 1a Expresses through music
CA 1 Music	CA 1b Develops rhythm
	CA 1c Develops tone
	CA 2a Expresses through dance
CA 2 Dance & Movement	CA Ob Development and the later
	CA 2b Develops movement techniques
	CA 3a Expresses through 2D and 3D visual art
CA 3 Visual Arts	CA 3b Develops visual art techniques
64.4.5	CA 4a Participates in dramatic and symbolic play
CA 4 Drama	CA 4b Uses and creates props to represent other objects or ideas

CA 1 Music



Experience Early Learning Framework includes 4 Creative Arts skills:

CA 1 Music

Expresses through music and develops rhythm and tone.

CA 2 Dance & Movement

Expresses through dance and develops movement techniques.

CA 3 Visual Arts

Expresses through 2D and 3D visual art. Develops artistic techniques.

CA 4 Drama

Participates in dramatic and symbolic play. Uses props to represent other objects or ideas.

Music development is a child's exploration and understanding of sound, rhythm and tone. Singing, playing instruments and listening to music enhances language skills, memory and pattern recognition. Playful music activities like singing, rhymes, movement and instrument play help children understand musical elements and express themselves creatively. This multisensory exploration in a rich cultural environment boosts brain function, especially auditory, spatial and attention skills. Studies have shown that music can improve a child's spatial reasoning and overall cognitive development (Schellenberg 2004). Music activities also support emotional expression and social interaction as children learn to cooperate in group musical experiences. Music also promotes positive emotions and well-being. In musical group settings, children show more adaptive social behaviors, leading to happier interactions (Ruokonen et al. 2023).

beat or imitating musical sounds, young children develop a foundational understanding of rhythmic patterns and tonal variations. This exploration not only enhances their auditory perception and motor skills, but lays the groundwork for future musical endeavors and appreciation. Early exposure to diverse rhythms and tones can positively influence cognitive development, language acquisition and emotional expression in young learners. Music development in early childhood is strongly linked to lasting cognitive and sensory improvements. It enhances sound sensitivity, verbal skills (vocabulary, reading and communication) and general reasoning due to music's complex cognitive demands (memory, attention, pattern recognition and problem-solving). These benefits can persist into adulthood (Ruokonen et al. 2023).

Through active engagement with music, such as clapping along to a

CA 1 Music

	Infant		Toddler	Preschool
Sub-skill / Definition	Benchmark 1	Benchmark 2	Benchmark 3	Benchmark 4
CA 1a Expresses through music	Makes sounds to communicate feelings.	Repeats words in familiar songs and attempts to sing.	Expresses likes and dislikes of familiar songs. Explores shaking, pounding or tapping various instruments.	Uses voice, common objects or instruments to create music. Identifies self as a musician.
CA 1b Develops rhythm	Responds to rhythm.	Responds to changes in rhythm.	Claps to beat. May not always be consistent.	Claps along to simple rhythm patterns.
CA 1c Develops tone	Responds to sounds.	Responds to changes in sound, volume or melody.	Understands the difference between singing and speaking voices.	Controls voice to mimic the melodic direction.

	Primary			
Benchmark 5	Benchmark 6	Benchmark 7	Benchmark 8	
Uses voice or instruments to express feelings or to mimic sound effects.	Communicates ideas by creating rhythm or melody.	Interprets and compares many types of music.	Experiments and performs self- written music or rhythmic patterns.	
Repeats simple rhythm patterns.	Creates simple rhythm patterns.	Maintains a steady beat. Recognizes strong/weak beats. Begins to read rhythm notation.	Maintains rhythm in various meter groupings.	
Hears the change of musical phrases in a song. Sings along to familiar songs.	Controls pitch when singing a familiar song.	Matches vocal pitch in a limited range.	Participates in call-and-response and two-part rounds.	

CA 2 Dance & Movement



Experience Early Learning Framework includes 4 Creative Arts skills:

CA 1 Music

Expresses through music and develops rhythm and tone.

CA 2 Dance & Movement

Expresses through dance and develops movement techniques.

CA 3 Visual Arts

Expresses through 2D and 3D visual art. Develops artistic techniques.

CA 4 Drama

Participates in dramatic and symbolic play. Uses props to represent other objects or ideas.

Dance and movement activities promote physical development, coordination and body awareness. Children learn to express themselves through movement, developing rhythm and timing. Research shows that dance supports creativity, cultural understanding and self-esteem. Engaging in dance also improves motor skills, balance and spatial awareness. Dance is a natural form of expression for children, supporting overall development and offering benefits like stress reduction and improved physical skills (Theodotou 2025).

Dance offers physical, psychological and social benefits, including improved body image, self-awareness, stress reduction and decreased anxiety and aggression. It enhances coordination and provides social connection, enjoyment and spontaneous self-expression. This adaptability makes dance a valuable activity, especially for children with emotional challenges, allowing for customized programs that support physical and emotional well-being (Tao et al. 2022).

CA 2 Dance & Movement

	Infant		Toddler	Preschool
Sub-skill / Definition	Benchmark 1	Benchmark 2	Benchmark 3	Benchmark 4
CA 2a Expresses through dance	Uses body language to express feelings.	Uses purposeful gestures and body language to communicate.	Moves in own way to music and rhythm.	Demonstrates different levels of energy in dance, such as gentle versus explosive or small versus large movements.
CA 2b Develops movement techniques	Moves body in a variety of ways.	Moves body purposely such as by swaying or bouncing to music.	Follows the movements of others. Explores personal space and direction.	Demonstrates multiple ways to move body parts. Moves to the beat.

	Primary			
Benchmark 5	Benchmark 6	Benchmark 7	Benchmark 8	
Demonstrates the difference between spontaneous and planned movement. Creates movements based on own ideas.	Expresses ideas, feelings and stories through creative movement.	Coordinates movements of self and others to create a cohesive dance or idea.	Describes how dances and movements express certain ideas or feelings.	
Follows a leader to perform a simple movement pattern.	Recalls a simple movement pattern and performs it individually or in a group.	Recalls and dances a sequence of two or three movement patterns. Identifies the beginning, middle and end of a dance.	Creates simple movement sequences.	

CA 3 Visual Arts



Experience Early Learning Framework includes 4 Creative Arts skills:

CA 1 Music

Expresses through music and develops rhythm and tone.

CA 2 Dance & Movement

Expresses through dance and develops movement techniques.

CA 3 Visual Arts

Expresses through 2D and 3D visual art. Develops artistic techniques.

CA 4 Drama

Participates in dramatic and symbolic play. Uses props to represent other objects or ideas.

Visual arts, such as drawing, painting and sculpting, allow children to explore their creativity and develop fine motor skills. Activities like these stimulate imagination, problem-solving and decision-making. Classrooms that value visual arts promote a child's expression, communication skills and self-confidence. Such skills build on a child's well-being and social development, such as cooperation, experimentation and interpretation (Vasilaki 2024).

Visual arts enhance children's perceptual abilities and help them develop a deeper understanding of their environment. Throughout history, art has been a fundamental means of communication. Engaging in art allows children to activate their senses while simultaneously building brain connections (Tyler and Likova 2012). The visual arts serve as a channel for children to communicate their creativity, emotions, thoughts and individual and cultural beliefs (de Lautour 2020). It also promotes critical thinking skills in young children, actively processing information from various sources. The process of creating art provides an outlet for emotional expression and self-discovery.

CA 3 Visual Arts

	Infant		Toddler	Preschool
Sub-skill / Definition	Benchmark 1	Benchmark 2	Benchmark 3	Benchmark 4
CA 3a Expresses through 2D and 3D visual art	Expresses emotions while exploring materials.	Scribbles, colors or paints intentionally on paper.	Explores a variety of artistic tools and media.	Makes choices throughout the artistic process.
CA 3b Develops visual art techniques	Explores materials using gross motor movements	Uses hands and feet to explore a variety of media.	Uses materials to create shapes or symbols.	Chooses an object or art tool to use with a given

	Primary			
Benchmark 5	Benchmark 6	Benchmark 7	Benchmark 8	
Plans, designs and seeks materials to make a creation.	Creates art to represent an idea or object. Explains how it was made.	Creates art to express ideas, thoughts and feelings.	Creates art and explains why and how they chose specific materials and techniques.	
Uses artistic tools and media to create intentional designs or images.	Demonstrates a variety of techniques using a given tool or medium.	Uses various tools and techniques to achieve desired artistic results.	Compares artistic techniques and creations of many artists.	

CA 4 Drama



Experience Early Learning Framework includes 4 Creative Arts skills:

CA 1 Music

Expresses through music and develops rhythm and tone.

CA 2 Dance & Movement

Expresses through dance and develops movement techniques.

CA 3 Visual Arts

Expresses through 2D and 3D visual art. Develops artistic techniques.

CA 4 Drama

Participates in dramatic and symbolic play. Uses props to represent other objects or ideas.

Drama and imaginative play allow children to step into different roles, explore emotions and develop social skills. Engaging in dramatic play enhances language and communication skills, as children learn to articulate their thoughts and ideas. Dramatic play teaches empathy and understanding by allowing children to role-play and consider different perspectives, behaviors and emotions. Dramatic play is characterized by symbolic representation, imaginative experiences, role-playing and the changing of events over time. Developmental research recognizes the importance of dramatic play as it promotes self-regulation (Khomais et al. 2019).

Engaging in dramatic play with peers also helps children develop crucial social skills, such as negotiation, cooperation and navigating group interactions (Ambrosio 2023). Pretend play fosters social development by offering a platform for experimenting with social behaviors and peer engagement within a pretend context and is crucial to a child's social growth. Providing dramatic play opportunities for children allows them to practice and refine their social behaviors through interactions (Jaggy et al. 2023).

CA 4 Drama

	Infant		Toddler	Preschool
Sub-skill / Definition	Benchmark 1	Benchmark 2	Benchmark 3	Benchmark 4
CA 4a Participates in dramatic and symbolic play	Imitates simple movements and facial expressions.	Mimics observed behaviors and words.	Uses words, actions and props to pretend.	Plays a role in group dramatic play.
CA 4b Uses and creates props to represent other objects or ideas	Responds to props or puppets.	Mimics the use of familiar objects.	Uses realistic toys as replacements for real objects. Distinguishes between real and pretend.	Uses an object as a replacement for a realistic prop or real object.

Primary				
Benchmark 5	Benchmark 6	Benchmark 7	Benchmark 8	
Assigns roles and plays out unscripted scenes in dramatic play.	With cues, performs a simple pre- planned drama.	Describes how a character may feel in a given situation, then integrates that emotion into performance.	Rehearses, memorizes and performs a short play.	
Uses a combination of real and imaginary props or characters to play out a scene.	Uses a combination of real and imaginary props or characters to play out multiple scenes or events.	With adult support, plans a story and creates costumes, settings or props to create a mood or environment.	Plans a story and creates costumes, settings or props to create a mood or environment.	



Second Language Acquisition

Young children acquiring a second language in classroom settings typically progress through identifiable stages. Initially, many experience a silent period, during which they observe and comprehend the new language without yet speaking it. During this time, children often rely on gestures, facial expressions and their first language to communicate (Kan et al. 2025). As comprehension builds, they begin to use single words and memorized phrases, such as "thank you" or "want toy," often in routine or familiar contexts (Latta 2019). Many children then enter a productive speech phase, forming simple sentences and engaging in basic conversations. While grammar may still be developing, children can express needs, share observations and begin participating in classroom discussions (Kan et al. 2025; Latta 2019).

During the preschool and early elementary years, children's narrative skills in the second language begin to emerge. Even with limited vocabulary, bilingual preschoolers can tell structured stories that include a beginning, middle and end (Bonifacci et al. 2018). These narratives tend to be shorter and less detailed than those of monolingual peers, but they still reflect an understanding of sequencing and story structure. As fluency increases, children start to use more complex sentences and demonstrate awareness of past tense, plurals and descriptive language. Narrative ability in a second language has been shown to support later reading comprehension and academic success (Uchikoshi et al. 2018).

By ages 7 to 8, many children have developed social fluency in their second language and are beginning to acquire academic language, the vocabulary and structures needed for classroom learning. This includes understanding instructions, describing concepts and participating in more abstract discussions. However, research shows that full academic proficiency often takes 4 to 7 years to develop, especially in environments with limited support or inconsistent exposure (Thompson 2017). Children benefit from continued scaffolding, such as visual aids and opportunities to use their first language alongside the second, to support deeper understanding and expression (Latta 2019).

	SLA 1a Participates using target language
SLA 1 Approach to second language acquisition	SLA 1b Demonstrates initiative with target language
	SLA 1c Demonstrates use of varied vocabulary in target language
	SLA 2a Demonstrates comprehension of target language
SLA 2 Comprehension of	
second language	SLA 2b Demonstrates use of words and sentence structure of target language

SLA 1 Approach to Second Language Acquisition



Experience Early Learning Framework includes 2 Second Language Acquisition skills:

SLA 1 Approach to Second Language Acquisition

and sentence structures.

Participates and demonstrates initiative and varied vocabulary use in the target language, as well as comprehension and use of its words and sentence structures.

SLA 2 Comprehension of Second Language Understands the target language, as well as using its words

Young children approach a second language through observable developmental stages. One of the earliest is the silent period, during which children communicate primarily through gestures while listening and observing. This period is now understood as an active, agentive phase of learning rather than passive behavior (Bligh and Drury 2015). Children later begin using single words or memorized phrases and gradually initiate speech. Individual differences, such as temperament and previous exposure, affect when and how children choose to speak (Siklander et al. 2023).

Code-switching, where children mix their two languages, is common and helpful in supporting communication and conceptual development (Kavak and Gül 2020). Embracing children's full linguistic repertoire, rather than enforcing monolingual norms, supports positive attitudes toward language learning. Bilingual preschool programs that support the home language alongside English foster gains in both languages without compromising English proficiency (Raikes et al. 2019). Social contexts, especially interactive play, provide ideal environments for second language use. Children naturally engage and practice language in peer-driven play, where they are motivated by shared goals and enjoyment (Siklander et al. 2023). Educators can support language development by creating emotionally safe, language-rich environments that include play, visual aids and modeling strategies to encourage language participation.

SLA 1 Approach to Second Language Acquisition

Sub-Skill Code/Definition	Pre-Production	Early Production
SLA 1a Participates using target language	Observes interactions in target language, but may not participate.	When prompted, uses gestures and words in target language to participate in group interactions.
SLA 1b Demonstrates initiative with target language	Uses cues and gestures to understand interactions in target language.	Asks for repetition of target language to clarify understanding.
SLA 1c Demonstrates use of varied vocabulary in target language	Uses cues and gestures to understand interactions in target language.	Repeats often heard words in target language.

Speech Emergence	Intermediate Fluency	Advanced Fluency
Uses target language to actively participate, working around any language barriers.	Initiates interactions in target language, displaying adequate conversational proficiency with minimal language barriers.	Uses target language confidently and comfortably to participate. Begins to display written and academic proficiency for developmental level.
Seeks explanations for unknown words and phrases in target language.	Asks questions in target language to clarify meaning of idioms and complex interactions.	Uses context clues and resources to clarify any misunderstandings.
Uses social vocabulary to actively communicate and participate in the target language. Begins to use academic vocabulary in the target language.	Asks questions in target language to clarify meaning of idioms and complex interactions. Uses more advanced academic vocabulary in the target language.	Uses context clues and resources to clarify any misunderstandings.

SLA 2 Comprehension of Second Language



Experience Early Learning Framework includes 2 Second Language Acquisition skills:

SLA 1 Approach to Second

Language Acquisition

Participates and demonstrates initiative and varied vocabulary use in the target language, as well as comprehension and use of its words and sentence structures.

SLA 2 Comprehension of Second Language
 Understands the target language, as well as using its words
 and sentence structures.

Receptive language typically precedes expressive ability in dual language learners. Young children often understand instructions and vocabulary before they can verbalize responses, and this receptive-expressive gap is especially pronounced in children with limited exposure (Keller et al. 2015).

Children's language comprehension develops through repeated exposure to meaningful input supported by context, gestures and visual aids. Vocabulary comprehension benefits from multi-sensory input, including picture support and physical movement (Andrä et al. 2020). Grammar comprehension also improves with interactive support, particularly when teachers use strategies like dialogic reading, open-ended questions and sentence modeling (Boese et al. 2023).

Effective instruction reinforces meaning through multiple exposures across varied contexts. Shared reading, explicit vocabulary teaching and routine language use (e.g., in songs and daily rituals) help children internalize new language forms and meanings (Davison and Qi 2017). Strategic use of the home language to clarify or connect ideas enhances understanding without impeding language development (Raikes et al. 2019).

SLA 2 Comprehension of Second Language

Sub-Skill Code/Definition	Pre-Production	Early Production
SLA 2a Demonstrates comprehension of target language	Responds to cues, such as gestures and visualizations.	Responds to simple words, phrases and questions in target language, especially in combination with other cues.
SLA 2b Demonstrates use of words and sentence structure of target language	Uses cues, gestures and visualizations to communicate.	Uses words and memorized phrases in target language to communicate.

Speech Emergence	Intermediate Fluency	Advanced Fluency
Responds to simple stories and short discussions in target language.	Responds to stories, shares opinions and engages in discussions in target language.	Demonstrates near-native comprehension of target language in all contexts.
	Uses increasingly complex linguistic structures in target language with minimal programmatical errors.	Uses target language effectively in all contexts.



experience Developmental Continuum of Skills

Individual children develop at a unique pace.	It a unique pace.	Infant		Toddler	Preschoo	log		Primary	
Skill /Skill Code	Sub-skill /	Renchmark 1	Renchmark 2	Benchmark 3	Benchmark 4	Benchmark 5	Benchmark 6	Benchmark 7	Benchmark 8
	SED 1a Knows self and expresses confidence	ēs	Responds to name and interacts with self in mirror. Recognizes self as being separate from others.	Names self and names basic body parts.	of self.	Describes thoughts and characteristics of self and expresses confidence in own abilities.	P	plish a personal	Reflects and describes strengths and areas of growth. Begins to have and apply a growth mindset.
Self-Awareness	SED 1b Expresses needs and preferences	oves to	Seeks out or responds to favorite or preferred toys, objects or people.	Expresses likes and dislikes.	When given two to three options, chooses their most desired option.	Describes and compares preferences of self and others.	Expresses and advocates for one's needs or personal preferences.	Understands others might have different needs and preferences than self.	Expresses and advocates ways for self and others to both participate according to unique preferences and to attain differing worths.
13 & Iniso2	SED 1c Completes tasks independently	Reaches for a familiar object or toy.	Attempts to do a familiar task or explore objects independently.	Completes familiar tasks or activities independently. May still need adult support on occasion.	Expresses interest in planning or trying new or complex tasks and activities with help.	Takes risks and pushes self to accomplish new tasks independently.	Revisits a familiar task or activity with a different approach.	Revisits and plans a familiar task and describes ways to improve results.	Predicts how self and others might be able to perform in a task and describes and plans what is needed to improve.
	SED 1d Identifies emotions	Makes facial expressions Shows a range of or occalizations to express emotions with facial engagement, contentment, expressions and gestures, stress or discomfort.	Shows a range of emotions with facial expressions and gestures.	s. se	Identifies and describes personal feelings.	Recognizes that feelings can change.	Identifies complex feelings and recognizes that they can have more than one feeling at the same time.	Identifies past, current and future feelings and explains when they might experience different feelings.	Anticipates an emotional response that may result from a given situation.
	SED 2a Manages feelings and behavior	from	Seeks out a familiar adult, item or behavior to provide comfort when upset or in a new situation.	Begins to use strategies to regulate emotions or behavior with support from familiar adult.	Uses a variety of strategies to regulate emotions or behavior. May still need adult prompting on occasion.	Independently chooses and uses a variety of strategies to regulate emotions or behavior.	and demonstrates te responses to different and behaviors.	ies to calm stressful	Applies strategies for managing own emotions and behaviors.
SED 2 Self-Regulation	SED 2b Follows routines and transitions	Reacts to changes in tone of voice or expression.		Recognizes a familiar activity or routine and redirects to a new activity with support.	what comes daily routine. when the typical followed and change.	Follows daily routines. With support, negotiates ways to handle new routines or transitions.	Transitions from one activity to the next and helps others through the transition.	Describes strategies to adjust and colm oneself in new or stressful situations.	Adapts to new situations or routines quickly and with minimal stress.
	SED 3a Develops relationships with adults	Recognizes, interacts with sand responds to primary is caregivers.	Stays close to and interacts with familiar adults for comfort and support.	Engages in interactions with new adults, but returns to the primary caregivers for comfort and support.	Engages in positive back-and- forth interactions with new or familiar adults.	Initiates interactions and uses prosocial behavior skills in back- and-forth exchanges with adults.	Identifies trusted adults in the community and describes when to seek help.	Describes characteristics of trusted adults and seeks help when needed.	Describes how trusted adults can provide support in various settings and how to build positive relationships.
SED 3 Social	SED 3b Develops relationships with peers	Notices, responds to and looks at peers.	Engages in simple interactions with peers.	st in ith peers nonstrate or S.	Engages in interactions with peers and has preferred friends that they play with consistently.	Demonstrates connection with others and identifies similar interests as friends.	Describes personal friendships and meaningful relationships.	Describes characteristics of positive friendships and how to build positive relationships.	Describes different types of relationships. Takes care of self, others and considers the needs of others.
Kelationships	SED 3c Participates cooperatively in groups	Engages in simple social interactions, such as games like peek-a-boo.	Mimics actions of others.	yroup and stes in an activity ked.	With support from an adult, initiates play with peers and uses prosocial behavior skills such as sharing, waiting and taking turns.	Initiates play with peers and uses prosocial behavior skills such as sharing, waiting and taking turns. May still need adult prompting on occasion.	Identifies roles of self and others during group tasks or activities. Offers to help others.	Fulfils personal roles and responsibilities when working in a group.	Begins to use active listening and inclusion of other's ideas to support collaboration in a group setting.
	SED 3d Identifies and respects emotions of others	Adjusts behavior according to emotional or facial response of a familiar person.	Explores different facial expressions, such as in pictures.	Recognizes the emotions of others and demonstrates concern for others.	v and why xy be feeling a ion.	Identifies complex feelings of others and responds accordingly.	Explains how self and others may self eel similar or different in a variety of situations and explains why.	Seeks to understand and support others' feelings.	Demonstrates respect for others who have differing feelings and needs. Shows empathy to others.
	Seb 4a Solves problems	sated ments to	Explores how things work using repeated trial and error to solve a problem.	Recognizes a problem and asks for adult help to solve the problem.	Suggests and explores possible solutions to a problem with support from an adult.	Uses previous knowledge to determine which solution to try first when solving a problem.	Eliminates possible solutions to a problem by thinking through their potential results and consequences.	Explains the sequence of their problem solving strategy.	Solves problems by connecting personal experiences to possible solutions.
SED 4 Problem-Solving	SED 4b Responsible Begins to recognize Decision-Making choices, such as rear for a toy when multiple options are available	ching ole e.	Responds to simple guidance on safe and kind choices.	Identifies basic consequences of actions, such as "If I throw my toy, it might break".	With adult support, lists choices or solutions before making a decision.	Makes independent choices based on rules and faimess.	Considers others' feelings when I making decisions.	Evaluates possible solutions and their consequences before acting.	Demonstrates responsible decision-making by applying past experiences to new situations.

Attention &	ATL 1a Attends	Focuses for a short time on a person, sound or thing.	Focuses for a short time on Attends to what others are Focuses on an engaging a person, sound or thing. Icoking at or pointing to. activity for a short period of time with adult reminders.	Focuses on an engaging activity for a short period of time with adult reminders.	Focuses on an engaging activity Sustains focus for at least for a short period of time fire minutes, even if there independently. distractions.	Sustains focus for at least five minutes, even if there are distractions.	Sustains focus for at least ten minutes, even if there are distractions.	Sustains focus for at least thirty minutes, even if there are distractions.	Sustains focus for forty-five minutes, even if there are distractions.
AIL I Persistence	ATL 1b Persists	Engages in a continued interaction or activity with a familiar object or adult.	Repeats actions to gain a result.	lesire to start or erred activity. Ip as needed.	Practices or repeats an activity Begins to persist on a challen until successful. Expresses delight activity with teacher support, over a successful project.	ging	Persists on a challenging activity independently.	With adult support, plans steps to pursue a challenging activity or idea and implements it with persistence.	Plans steps to pursue an idea and implements it with persistence independently.
ATL 2 Flexibility &	ATL 2a Shows flexibility	Shifts attention from one Shifts attention from person or thing to another. one task to another with prompting and adult support.	Shifts attention from one task to another with prompting and adult support.	With adult support, demonstrates ability to shift ideas, plans or imagination while working on a simple task or activity.	With adult support, demonstrates ability to shift ideas, plans or imagination while participating in complex tasks or role-play scenarios.	Demonstrates ability to shift ideas, plans or imagination while participating in simple trasks or role-play scenarios independently.	Demonstrates ability to shift ideas, plans or imagination while completing complex tasks or games independently.	Imagines new ways to approach a task or discover information when obstacles are present.	Demonstrates ability to fluently shift approaches within complex tasks independently.
A DIA	ATL 2b Engages in play	Explores and manipulates Entertains and plays by materials, themselves without adu or child involvement.	Entertains and plays by themselves without adult or child involvement.	Watches others play and plays side by side with another person.	Joins a group and participates in group play. May have different purposes of play.	Engages in cooperative play by sharing, taking tums and offering to help others. Identifies roles of self and others during tasks and play.	Engages in social play and creates goals and scenarios that involve creative problem-solving.	With adult support, plays games or activities with complex rules.	Plays games or activities with others that have complex rules. May create own rules to games.
PD 1 Gross Motor	PD 1 Builds strength, coordination and balance of large muscles	Rolls, crawls, sits independently and pulls self into a standing position. Kicks or grabs from a seated or lying position.	Walks and climbs. Carries, drags, kicks and tosses objects.	Runs. Balances on a wide beam. Throws objects in an intended direction. Carches objects against body.	Balances and hops on one foot. Throws both overhand and underhand. Catches or kicks moving objects.	Hops from one foot to the other. Begins to skip. Coordinates multiple movements in simple sequences.	Changes direction and speed of movement.	Balances on a variety of objects. Kicks or strikes moving objects with aim and accuracy. Leaps. Stops at a boundary.	Uses conditioning methods to strengthen muscles and increase endurance. Coordinates multiple complex movements in continuous play.
PD 2 Fine Motor	PD 2 Builds strength and coordination of small movements	PD 2 Builds strength Reaches for objects in and coordination of sight and uses lands or small movements feet to make contact with an object.	Purposefully grasps objects with finger and thumb. Uses hands to accomplish tasks, such as feeding self.	Opens, closes, stacks, twists and pulls objects with one or both hands.	Uses hands and fingers to manipulate objects, such as stringing large beads or snipping with sassors.	Manipulates objects through tasks like buttoning, zipping, buckling, lacing and following a straight line when cutting and copying drawings.	Manipulates objects through tasks like following an outline with saissors, tying shoes and dressing self.	Threads small beads. Stacks small objects. Uses scissors to cut more challenging materials, such as fabric or cardstock.	Manipulates objects of all sizes with speed and accuracy.
PD 3 Safety	PD 3 Demonstrates safe practices	Reacts to unexpected noises, lights or sights.	Responds to possible dangers in environment and avoids them when prompted.	Follows simple safety rules and avoids danger.	Follows simple safety rules and helps and avoids danger. Ond avoids danger. others blow rules, Identifies dangerous situations and seeks help.	for safety rules to follow them.	Applies general safety rules to a variety of everyday situations with little prompting.	Identifies emergency situations and how to behave accordingly. Describes how to get help.	Takes appropriate initiative in dangerous and emergency situations.
PD 4 Personal Care	PD 4a Implements self-care routines including rest, toileting, handwashing, exercise and dressing	Cries or moves body when physical needs are not met.	Begins to participate in self-care activities and recognizes the difference between dirty and clean.	With help, participates in self-care routines.	Recognizes personal needs and how to get them met and implements with adult support.	Meets most personal and hygiene needs when prompted by an adult.	Maintains personal needs and proper lygiene with occasional reminders.	Independently maintains personal and hygiene needs.	Explains how to manage health and role of exercise and rest in self and others.
	PD 4b Understands bodily functions	PD 4b Understands Explores body parts, such Points to body parts bodily functions as hands and feet.	Points to body parts when prompted.	Identifies basic body parts.	Describes the function of basic body parts. Can locate body parts.	Explains how germs spread and describes simple strategies for preventing the spread.	When feeling sick, describes symptoms. Describes some contagious diseases.	Identifies basic organs.	Describes the functions of basic organs.
PD 5 Nutrition	PDS Follows healthy nutrition routines	Cries when hungry.	Communicates the need Begins to identify fam to eat and feeds self some foods, anticipates the finger foods. self with spoon or self with spoon or other ideas.	Begins to identify familiar foods, anticipates the need to eat and feeds self with spoon or short those its poon or the state of the st	od and serves a a bowl or plate and	Identifies food groups, sorts food and identifies food that is nutritious	Describes how nutritious food Describes what happ helps the body grow and develop consumption of food and helps to prepare food.	Describes what happens after the Prepares simple food for self. consumption of food.	Prepares simple food for self.

Individual children develop at a unique pace.	at a unique pace.	Infant		Toddler	Preschool	loo		Primary	
Skill / Skill Code	Sub-skill / Definition	Benchmark 1	Benchmark 2	Benchmark 3	Benchmark 4	Benchmark 5	Benchmark 6	Benchmark 7	Benchmark 8
LLD 1 Listening	LLD 1a Understands and interprets language	Turns head toward the person speaking.	Shows understanding of Shows understanding of a variety of single familiar a wide variety words, such as by pointing and sentences, at named objects, people	Shows understanding of a wide variety of phrases and sentences.	Listens, then responds oppropriately.	Listens and understands inferred requests.	Shows understanding of a series of complex statements that explain how or why.	Shows understanding about key details from information or stories shared verbally.	Listens to gather new information and demonstrates understanding.
	LLD 1b Follows directions	Responds to speaking in the environment and imitates actions.	and ws a tion.	Follows related two-step directions given verbally.	Follows unrelated two-step directions given verbally.	With prompting, follows multi-step directions directions given verbally.	Follows multi-step directions given verbally.	Remembers and follows previous rules or directions given verbally.	Responds to verbal statements that have implied directions or requests.
	LLD Za Uses language to express information and ask/answer questions	Uses vocalizations and gestures to communicate.	signs s to	Communicates needs, desires and ideas or asks simple questions.	Uses descriptions and observations to communicate information and answer questions, or asks more complex questions.	Talks about adivities or tells stories. Answers "who," "what," "when," "why," and "how," questions.	Explains personal thoughts about familiar people, places and events.	Discusses ideas and feelings about a wide range of age- appropriate topics.	Uses expression, tone and pacing to reinforce the meaning of what they are communicating.
LLD 2 Communication		Responds with babbles or sounds with prompting.	Responds to one exchange, but is not on topic.	Responds on topic for one exchange.	Stays on topic for two to three exchanges.	Engages in conversations through Initiates conversation with adults multiple exchanges.	Initiates conversation with adults and peers.	Demonstrate understanding of conversation norms, such as listening, taking turns talking, distance between talkers and body orientation.	Asks for darification about information or topics that occur during a conversation.
	LLD 2c Uses sentence structure	Mimics single sounds.	Communicates using one- to two-word sentences.	Communicates using two- to four-word sentences.	Communicates in sentences. May not always follow grammatical rules.	Communicates in simple, complete sentences.	Uses question words in speech. Speaks audibly. Makes nouns plural by adding /s/. Uses common prepositions.	Uses many types of sentences, including simple and compound. Uses verb tense to express past, present and future.	Uses common irregular plural nouns and conjugated verbs.
	LLD 2d Uses and expands vocabulary	Uses sounds and gestures to communicate.	Repeats words heard frequently in environment.	Identifies familiar people, places and objects. Asks what a specific person or object is called.	Describes familiar people, places and objects. Seeks additional words for new ways to describe.	Includes new and technical words in everyday conversations. Asks what unfamiliar words mean.		Identifies words whose meaning are similar. Determines the meaning of unknown words from context or roof word.	Explains the difference between closely related words. Uses multiple strategies to determine and learn the meaning of unfamiliar words.
	LLD 3a Rhyme	Listens to and moves to rhyming songs.	Repeats the last word in familiar rhymes when prompted.	Suggests a missing rhyming word within a poem or song.	Identifies when two words rhyme.	Produces rhyming words when given a word.	Rhymes with real and nonsensical words.	Independently identifies and repeats rhyming word pairs from a poem or song.	Creates an original rhyming song or poem.
LLD 3 Phonological Awareness	LLD 3b Hears Large Units of Sound	Babbles and vocalizes using sound, volume and inflection.	or short	Shows awareness of separate words in spoken language.	nd, such lables	Segments large units of sound, such as compound words, syllables or onset-rime.	Deletes large units of sound.	Substitutes large units of sound.	Manipulates, blends, substitutes and deletes large units of sound
	LLD 3c Hears Small Units of Sound		Imitates or repeats sounds and tones.	Engages in word and sound play through songs and games.		d of a word	Identifies medial sound of a word and blends CVC (consonant-vowel-consonant) words.	Segments phonemes in words.	Substitutes and deletes phonemes in words.
LLD 4 Alphabetic Knowledge	LLD 4 Identifies letters, makes letter-sound connections and decodes words	Explores books and toys with letters and related images.	Participates in letter songs and activities.	Recognizes the first letter and letter sound in their name.	Identifies five to ten upper- and lowercase letters and letter sounds.	Identifies eleven to twenty upper- and lowercase letters and letter sounds.	Identifies all upper- and lowercase letters and letter sounds.	Decodes words with long and short vowel sounds, digraphs and blends with increasing automaticity.	Applies phonics strategies and word analysis skills to decode words, such as irregular high-frequency and unfamiliar words with increasing automaticity.
LLD 5 Concepts of Print		Opens and closes books, looks at them and points to pictures.	Recognizes if pictures are right-side up. Tums pages from the front to the back of the book.	Distinguishes between pictures and words. Identifies the front and back cover.	Distinguishes between letters and words. Indicates where to start reading on a page.	Identifies some punctuation and recognizes spaces between words.	Recognizes common types of text, such as poems, storybooks or fact books. Names author and illustrator, Identifies punctuation.	Explains the difference between books that tell stories and those that give information.	Identifies and uses text features to find information in texts.
LLD 6 Reading		Interacts by reaching for or patting when a book is read.	d holds a oks intently at	Talks about pictures and ideas in familiar stories.	Anticipales what comes next in familiar stories. Expresses likes or dislikes within the story.	Relates to the characters or events of the story and shares a similar experience or object from their own life.	With support, compares similarities between two texts.	Makes many text-to-text, text- to-self and text-o-real-world connections. Compares similarities and differences between texts.	Evaluates texts based on content, personal experiences and knowledge of the world. Compares the main points of two texts.
Comprehension	LLD 6b Retells, asks and answers questions about a text or story	Looks at and listens to books read aloud by an adult.	With prompling, answers "where" questions by pointing to pictures and repeating words from familiar stories.	Identifies the characters and setting in a story.	Retells portions of a story using pictures, gestures or props.	With prompting, answers simple questions about the characters, setting and events in a story and retells a story.	Asks and answers questions about the characters, setting and events in a story and retells the events of a story in sequence.	Makes inferences about character goals or causal connections in a story, and retells stories in sequence using more details.	Summarizes texts and their messages. Describes the points of view of various characters.
	LLD 7a Emergent Writing	With adult support, makes a mark with a writing tool or other material.	Makes random marks or draws with writing tools.	Marks or scribbles. Begins to make letter-like forms.	Writes letter-like forms or mock letters and letter strings from left to right.	Writes first name and some letters. Begins to use inventive spelling. Letters may be out of order or backward.	Writes first and last name and upper- and lowercase letters appropriately. Writes short phrases with more accuracy.	Writes simple sentences. Begins to Writes simple and compound use conventional spelling. Checks and corrects spelling.	Writes simple and compound sentences. Uses punctuation. Checks and corrects spelling.
LLD7 Writing	writing to	Explores various tools used to write.	Makes handprints or fingerprints with adults.	Scribbles or draws marks as a representation of an	Uses a combination of drawing, dictating and writing to explain	nation of drawing, writing to record an	Draws and writes to express ideas Writes to give information about or share an opinion.	Writes to give information about a topic, including some facts.	Writes ideas or groups information in logical order. Uses

	M 1a Verbally counts numbers	Listens to counting songs and chants.	Says or sings random numbers, may be out of order.	ly counts to five.	Verbally counts to ten.	Verbally counts to twenty.	Verbally counts to 100 by ones and tens. Counts forward from a given number.	Verbally counts in sequence to 120 from a given number.	Verbally counts by fives, tens and hundreds to 1000.
	M 1b Identifies and writes numerals	Sees numbers in everyday context.	Begins to identify numbers. Identifies the numeral 1.	Identifies numerals up to five.	Identifies numerals up to ten and understands the numeral reflects the quantity of objects. Writes numerals up to five.	Identifies numerals up to twenty and understands the numeral reflects the quantity of objects. Writes numerals up to ten.	Identifies numerals up to fifty. Writes numerals up to twenty.	Identifies numerals to 100 and understands place value for twoto three-digit numbers.	Identifies and writes numerals to 1000. Understands place value for three- to four-digit numbers.
M 1 Number Sense	M 1c Counting one-to-one, and composing and decomposing numbers	Points to objects.	Uses one-to-one correspondence to match objects or pictures.	Points to one object at a time while counting up to five.	Counts up to ten objects and indicates that the last number counted tells how many objects were counted.	Count up to twenty objects and indicates that the last number counted tells how many objects were counted.	Understands that a whole number is greater than its parts and can identify the number combinations that add up to five with prompting.	Identifies the number combinations that add up to five.	Decomposes numbers less than or equal to ten in more than one way.
	M 1d Number Quantities and Comparison	Looks for an object that is taken out of sight.	Recognizes amounts up to Recognizes amounts up two without counting.	٥	Recagnizes amounts up to five without counting. Greates and counts groups of up to five objects and identifies which group has more, less or if they are equal.	Creates and counts groups of up to five objects and recognizes which group has more, even if the objects in the larger group are smaller.	Creates and counts groups of up to ten objects and identifies which group has more, less or if they are equal.	Uses the concept of a numbers are to compare which numbers are closer to each other.	Uses place value to compare numbers.
	M 1e Addition and Subtraction	Watches an adult add or take away toys.	Adds to and removes objects from a group as prompted.	Adds and subtracts by adding or removing objects and demonstrating understanding of the total up to three.	Adds and subtracts by adding to or removing objects and recounting to find the total up to five.	Adds and subtracts by adding to or removing objects and recounting to find the total up to ten.	Adds and subtracts by counting on or counting up to for totals up to ten.	Uses addition and subtraction strategies to solve problems with totals up to twenty.	Solves for the unknown in one - and two-step addition or subtraction word problems. Explains problem-solving strategies.
M 2 Spatial Awareness	M 2a Understands how objects move in space	Tries to put one object inside another.	Purposely manipulates objects, such as tuming or spinning them, to discover how things move or fit into a space.	Recognizes objects that are upside-down and turns them rightside up. Puts together three pieces to create a whole object.	Moves objects to assemble a whole, such as simple puzzles with prompting.	Moves objects to assemble a whole, such as simple puzzles. May take several attempts to determine the correct orientation.	Identifies and corrects the orientation of familiar objects and symbols. Assembles a puzzle without using a guide.	Creates complex pictures or objects by putting together or taking apart shapes.	Determines when shapes have been slid, turned or flipped and describes the translation.
	M 2b Determines object location	Participates as caregiver raises arms or legs and says up/down.	Follows simple positional directions such as on/off, over/under and up/down.	ss objects sen, in front elf.	When prompted, places objects next to, between, in front of or behind objects not related to self.	Explains the location of an object in relation to another object.	Makes simple maps or models to represent the location of objects.	Gives and follows positional instructions to find objects.	Uses representations, coordinates systems and maps to identify locations of objects or places.
M 3 Shapes	M 3 Identifies shapes and their characteristics	Manipulates objects that are a variety of shapes.	Matches two identical shapes.	Identifies one to three two-dimensional shapes.	Identifies four to six two- dimensional shapes.	Identifies sides and angles or "corners" of shapes and uses materials to construct a shape when given a target shape to view.	Compares shapes by describing the attributes, such as the number and length of the sides and the number of angles or "comers" and recognizes shapes regardless of orientation.	Describes objects in the environment as two- and three-dimensional shapes, Identifies one to four three-dimensional shapes.	Separates a shape into halves, thirds and fourths.
M 4 Measurement	M 4a Measures and Estimates	Recognizes when to use whole hand or just two fingers to pick up an object.	Explores size and weight of objects in relation to self.	Determines which object is bigger when given two to three objects.	Determines which object is Identifies that things can be bigger when given two to measured and uses nonstandard three objects. measurement vocabulary such as weight, length or volume.	Compares the length, weight and capacity of two objects to determine which is bigger or if they are the same and uses measurement vocabulary.	Makes logical estimates and uses measurement tools to check estimation.	Explains which measurement tool makes the best sense for the object being measured. Tells time in hours and half-hours.	Tells time. Estimates length in inches, feet, centimeters or meters. Measures an object using a variety of measurement standards.
	M 4b Compares and Orders	Picks up and puts down objects.	Places objects in a row in any order.	Compares and orders two to three objects. Identifies the first object.	Compares and orders up to five objects. Describes order using words like first, second and third.	Compares and orders up to ten objects. Describes order using words like first to tenth.	Orders objects by one feature, then reorders using a different feature. Orders events in time.	Compares objects by using a measuring tool, then orders.	Compares and explains how much longer one object is than another using standard units of measurement.
M 5 Patterns	M 5 Copies, Creates, and Extends Patterns	Plays predictable activities with caregivers, such as pat-a-cake and peekaboo.	Notices things that repeat Fills in in the environment.	the missing piece of pattern.	Copies, creates and extends AB pattems.	Fills in the missing piece of complex patterns, such as ABC or AABB.	Copies, creates and extends complex patterns, such as ABC or AABB.	Identifies the smallest unit of a pattern, such as AAB as the smallest unit of the pattern AABAABAAB.	Develops and explains own formula for creating a variety of patterns.
M 6 Classification	M 6 Sorts and graphs	Notices when two objects are similar in some way.	Creates groups of objects Sorts object by common characteristics one feature. but may be mixed or inconsistent.	Sorts objects by one feature.	After sorting objects by one feature, sorts again by a different feature	Sorts objects by more than one feature and explains why.	Gathers, sorts and categorizes objects or data into two categories and counts how many are in each.	Gathers, represents and answers questions about objects or data in three categories.	Gathers, represents and answers questions about objects or data in four categories.

100		Sub-skill /	- Anna Maria	6 1	6 1	7	n	7 1 a	P of the state of	o characteristics
Š	Skill / Skill Code	Definition	benchmark I	Benchmark 2	benchmark 3	Benchmark 4	benchmark 5	benchmark o	benchmark /	benchmark 8
Science &		SCI 1a Asks questions and makes predictions	Looks for a person or toy that has moved out of sight.	Asks simple questions about a familiar environment through words or gestures.	Begins to understand how things are connected and asks more complex questions about a familiar environment.	When given a question, guesses a possible answer or outcome.		comes to a and explains	Uses prior knowledge and gathered information to make predictions about a scientific phenomenon. Makes hypotheses about scientific phenomenon to phenomena with teacher support.	Asks questions and makes hypotheses about scientific phenomena or hypothetical problems. Conducts an experiment multiple times.
	& indenic	SCI 1b Observes, describes and records	Uses senses to explore environment.	Demonstrates curiosity about objects by touching and manipulating them. Begins to understand cause and effect.	Begins to observe, describe and record a simple scientific phenomenon with teacher support.	Observes and uses prior knowledge to describe and record a scientific phenomenon with teacher prompting.	Observes, describes and records a scientific phenomenon.	Gathers information or experiments to prove/disprove a prediction.	Records findings in charts or diagrams and explains one's problem-solving strategy.	Records and discusses observations and evaluates information to explain a phenomenon or prove/disprove a hypothesis.
	:	SCI 2a Understands living and nonliving things	Explores immediate environment using senses.	Plays with natural materials and reacts to animals or plants in the immediate environment.	Identifies familiar natural materials, animals or plants and groups them by common characteristics.	Demonstrates an understanding that all living things have needs. Identifies if an object can grow, ear or move.	Describes the characteristics of living things, sorts objects by living and nonliving and explains why.	Describes how living things obtain Describes how a living thing's what they need to survive. Groups features and surroundings help living things by complex features. It survive.	Describes how a living thing's features and surroundings help it survive.	Describes threats that living things must overcome to survive. Explains the relationships between a variety of species.
SCI 2	1 2 Natural & Earth Science	SCI 2b Demonstrates knowledge of Earth's environment	Reacts to weather changes in immediate environment.	s	Recognizes day and night. Notices changes in temperature and weather.	Identifies the climate and weather in the immediate environment and describes ways to care for the natural world.	Identifies current season and explains how weather affects personal life.	Explains that different places have disparate kinds of weather and climates.	Explains weather patterns and the basic properties and role of the sun, moon and earth.	Describes how the sun and movements of the earth affect climate.
SCI	SCI 3 Physical Science	SCI 3a Explores forces and motion	Kicks feet or shakes arms to make other objects move.	Uses body to push or pull toys.	Explores motion by moving, rolling, blowing on or dropping a toy.	Explains how vehicles, animals or people move.	Experiments with and explores invisible forces, such as ramps and magnets.	ري وح	Recognizes that gravity makes unsupported objects fall. Identifies objects that are attracted to magnets.	Explains how force is used to change the direction of moving objects.
		SCI 3b Explores the physical properties of materials	Uses senses to explore objects in an immediate environment.	Reacts to changes in texture, temperature, smell, sound or sight.	Begins to name colors.	Describes basic physical properties of objects, such as textures and colors.	Manipulates matter and observes any physical changes that may occur.	Classifies and sorts materials by a layariety of physical properties.	Identifies materials that are solid, liquid and gas.	Describe how materials change between different states of matter.
SCI	SCI 4 Technology	SCI 4 Uses tools and technology to perform tasks	Explores simple toys.	toys	Explores movable parts on toys.	Explores simple tools or interacts with simple types of technology.	Experiments with tools or technology to solve problems or accomplish tasks.	Uses familiar tools or technology It to produce a desired result or solve a specific problem.	Experiments with familiar and unfamiliar tools or technology to achieve a variety of results.	Identifies which tools can best help save time, solve a problem or increase enjoyment.
Sejbut		SS 1a Identifies community and family roles	Responds to and recognizes primary caregivers.	Recognizes the difference between a familiar and unfamiliar person.	Identifies familiar people and pets.	Describes family members and their relationship to self. Identifies and role-plays familiar community helpers.	Identifies roles of self and others and describes the job each may do.	Compares roles, rules and responsibilities between different groups.	Describes how roles and responsibilities or families and groups change over time.	Identifies features of different communities and how these features impact roles and responsibilities.
	SS 1 Culture & Community	SS 1b Explores and respects cultures and traditions	Listens to stories or music related to cultures and traditions.	Participates in activities related to cultures or traditions.	Recognizes familiar symbols or artifacts of traditions or customs.	Describes the routines, familiar stories, traditions, foods or celebrations of own family or community.	Explains the meaning and importance of their own traditions or customs. Begins to learn, ask questions and respect otheres.	Explains the meaning and importance of traditions or tcustoms of other people.	Compares diverse cultures or traditions.	Names influential people or events that have impacted familiar cultures and traditions.
		SS 1c Respects diversity	Sees diverse features of people in books, toys or media.	Explores people and their features, either in person or in pictures.	Identifies similarities and differences between self and others.	Respectfully partialpates in activities with others different than self.	st in learning about g with peers who elieve or move	Explains and celebrates how individuals, families or to cultures differ.	Demonstrates an understanding that some people have different needs or beliefs than self and seeks to support them accordingly.	Demonstrates respect for people who look different and have differing abilities or traditions.
		SS 2a Follows rules, limits and expectations	Attends to others in immediate environment.	Participates in communal activities.	Recognizes and attends to adults to hear rules, routines and expectations.	<u>o</u> .		Discusses the purposes of rules, laws and civic leaders. I Participates in voting to make decisions.	Identifies individual rights. Determines if rules support the common good.	Describes different levels of government, such as local, state and national. Makes democratic decisions.
γ,	SS 2 LIVIES & Economics	SS 2b Understands concepts of money and economics	Reaches for desired objects.	Expresses a desire for an object or action. Expresses ownership such as by saying me or mine.	Expresses choice and recognizes interests and desires may be different from others. Explores the concepts of trade.	Asks before taking an object that doesn't belong to them and offers an object to others to get what they want. Explores the concept of money.	Explores the use of trade of both goods and money to receive/buy objects or services.	s money, goods or or other goods or dentifies value of oins.	Describes how and why we save, eam and spend money.	Explains how and why people work together in trade to get what they need and want. Explains why some items are more expensive or valuable.
SS	SS 3 Geography	SS 3a Identifies types of places	Responds to changes in the immediate environment.	Recognizes familiar places.	Identifies a variety of familiar places in own community.	Identifies different types of water bodies, streets, buildings or landmarks in own community.	Explains the purpose for different types of structures, such as bridges and buildings. Asks questions about landmarks.		Identifies and describes various types of landforms and natural resources.	Explains how the physical features and characteristics of an environment affect how people live.
		SS 3b Interacts with maps		Finds ways to move around obstacles in a familiar environment.	Follows a path.				Locates familiar places on maps. Uses cardinal directions to follow and give directions.	Uses a variety of maps to gather information.
SS	SS 4 History & Sense of Time	SS 4 Develops sense of time	Focuses on interactions with others for a short time.	Indicates the beginning or ending of an event	Describes events as they happen. Uses words such as "first" and "then."	Recalls information and events from the past. Recognizes sequence of events to establish a sense of order and time.	Uses language of time to describe familiar sequences of events.	Retells historical, fictional or past of events or stories.	Compares and contrasts current and historical conditions of familiar environments.	Describes relationships between past events and current conditions. Explains why it is important to understand historical events.

	CA 1a Expresses through music	Makes sounds to communicate feelings.	Repeats words in familiar songs and attempts to sing.	Expresses likes and dislikes of familiar songs. Explores shaking, pounding or tapping various instruments.	Uses voice, common objects or instruments to create music. Identifies self as a musician.	Uses voice or instruments to express feelings or to mimic sound effects.	Communicates ideas by creating rhythm or melody.	Interprets and compares many types of music.	Experiments and performs self- written music or rhythmic patterns.
CA 1 Music	CA 1b Develops rhythm	Responds to rhythm.	Responds to changes in rhythm.	Claps to beat. May not always be consistent.	Claps along to simple rhythm patterns.	Repeats simple rhythm patterns.	Creates simple rhythm patterns.	Maintains a steady beat. Recognizes strong/weak beats. Begins to read rhythm notation.	Maintains rhythm in various meter groupings.
	CA 1c Develops tone	Responds to sounds.	Responds to changes in Understands the sound, volume or melody: difference between singing and speaking voices.	Understands the difference between singing and speaking voices.	Controls voice to mimic the melodic direction.	Hears the change of musical phrases in a song. Sings along to familiar songs.	Controls pitch when singing a familiar song.	Matches vocal pitch in a limited range.	Participates in call-and-response and two-part rounds.
Dance &	CA 2a Expresses through dance	Uses body language to express feelings.	Uses purposeful gestures and body language to communicate.	Moves in own way to music and rhythm.	Demonstrates different levels of energy in dance, such as gentle versus explosive or small versus large movements.	Demonstrates the difference between spontaneous and planned movement. Creates movements based on own ideas.	Expresses ideas, feelings and stories through creative movement.	Coordinates movements of self and others to create a cohesive dance or idea.	Describes how dances and movements express certain ideas or feelings.
Movement	CA 2b Develops movement techniques	Moves body in a variety of ways.	Moves body purposely such as by swaying or bouncing to music.	Follows the movements of others. Explores personal space and direction.	Demonstrates multiple ways to move body parts. Moves to the beat.	Follows a leader to perform a simple movement pattem.	Recalls a simple movement pattern and performs it individually or in a group.	Recalls and dances a sequence of Creates simple movement two or three movement pathems. sequences. sequences. and of comment and of comment ond end of a dance.	Creates simple movement sequences.
	CA 3a Expresses through 2D and 3D visual art		Expresses emotions while Scribbles, colors or paints Explores a variety of exploring materials.	Explores a variety of artistic tools and media.	Makes choices throughout the artistic process.	Plans, designs and seeks materials (Creates art to represent an to make a creation. idea or object. Explains ho it was made.	Creates art to represent an idea or object. Explains how it was made.	Creates art to express ideas, thoughts and feelings.	Creates art and explains why and how they chose specific materials and techniques.
CA 3 Visual Arts	CA 3b Develops visual art techniques	Explores materials using gross motor movements and senses.	Uses hands and feet to explore a variety of media.	Uses materials to create shapes or symbols.	Chooses an object or art tool to use with a given medium for a desired effect.	Uses artistic tools and media to create intentional designs or images.	Demonstrates a variety of techniques using a given tool or medium.	Uses various tools and techniques Compares artistic techniques and to achieve desired artistic results.	Compares artistic techniques a creations of many artists.
	CA 4a Participates in dramatic and symbolic play	Imitates simple movements Mimics observed and facial expressions. behaviors and wa	Mimics observed behaviors and words.	Uses words, actions and props to pretend.	Plays a role in group dramatic play.	Assigns roles and plays out unscripted scenes in dramatic play.	With cues, performs a simple pre-planned drama.	Describes how a character may feel in a given situation, then integrates that emotion into performance.	Rehearses, memorizes and performs a short play.
CA 4 Drama	CA 4b Uses and creates props to represent other objects or ideas	Responds to props or puppets.	Mimics the use of familiar objects.	Uses realistic toys as replacements for real objects. Distinguishes between real and pretend.	Uses an object as a replacement for a realistic prop or real object.	Uses a combination of real and for a realistic prop or real object, imaginary props or characters to play out a scene.	Uses a combination of real and imaginary props or characters to play out multiple scenes or events.	With adult support, plans a story and creates costumes, settings or props to create a mood or environment.	Plans a story and creates costumes, settings or props to create a mood or environment.

	Skill C	B .	SLA 1	ugnal bu isiupsA	Q Secon	SLA Z sec
	Skill Code/Skill		Approach to second language	acquisition	Comprehension of	second language
	Sub-Skill Code/Definition	SLA 1a Participates using target language	SLA 1b Demonstrates initiative with target language	SLA 1c Demonstrates use of varied vocabulary in target language	SLA 2a Demonstrates comprehension of target language	SLA 2b Demonstrates use of words and sentence structure of target language
	Pre-Production	Observes interactions in larget language, but may not participate.	Uses cues and gestures to understand interactions in target language.	Uses ones and gestives to understand hierocitions in bargest language.	SLA 2a Demonstrates comprehension Responds to ares, such as gestives and visualizations. of target language	SI.A 2b Demonstrates use of words and Uses aues, gestures and visualizations to communicate.
and pretend.	Early Production	When prompted, uses gestures and words in target language to participate in group interactions.	Asks for repetition of farget language to clarify understanding.	Repeats often heard words in target languages.	Responds to simple words, phrases and questions in target language, especially in combination with other cues.	Uses words and memorized phrases in target language to communicate.
	Speech Emergence	Uses karget language to actively participate, working around any language barriers.	Seeks explanations for unknown words and phrases in largel language.	Uses social occabulary to controlly communicate and participate in the taget! Adult questions in taget language to clarify meaning of rideans and language. Engine to use accelerate excellations in the baget language. Integral Impagage.	Responds to simple stories and short discussions in target language.	Formulates sentences by combining familiar words and phrases in target language. May make frequent errors.
	Intermediate Fluency	h inities i the rodion in target language, displaying adequate convessational. Uses target language confidently and confrontably to participate, Begins to profit instruction in institution (sargings barriers). display withen and academic profitency for developmental level.	Akt questions in tages language to clarify meaning of idioms and complex. Uses context clues and resources to clarify any misuralentandings interactions.	A&x questions in target language to dentify meaning of idforms and complex interactions. Uses more advanced accedemic vacabulary in the target language.	Responds to sto fees, shares op inions and engages in discussions in target language.	Uses increasingly complex linguistic structures in target language with minimal Uses target language effectively in all contexts, programmatical errors.
	Advanced Fluency	Uses target language confidently and confortably to participate. Begins to display written and academic proficiency for developmental level.	Uses context clues and resources to clarify any misunderstandings.	Uses cort est dues and resources to darify any misunderstandings.	Demonstrates near-native comprehension of larget language in all contexts.	Uses target language effectively in all contexts.
						_



References

Abruscato, Joe, and Don A. DeRosa. 2010. *Teaching Children Science: A Discovery Approach*. 7th ed. Boston: Allyn & Bacon.

Alessandroni, Nicolás, and Carla Rodríguez. 2020. "The Development of Categorisation and Conceptual Thinking in Early Childhood: Methods and Limitations." *Psicologia: Reflexão e Crítica* 33 (1): 17. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41155-020-00154-9.

Ambrosio, Lisa. 2023. "The Impact of Dramatic Play in Early Childhood Education." Penn Foster, November 15. https://www.pennfoster.edu/blog/benefits-of-dramatic-play-in-ece.

American Academy of Pediatrics. 2021a. "Power of Play in Early Childhood." American Academy of Pediatrics, December 21. https://www.aap.org/en/patient-care/early-childhood/early-childhood-health-and-development/power-of-play.

American Academy of Pediatrics. 2021b. "Healthy Active Living for Families." American Academy of Pediatrics, July 9. https://www.aap.org/en/patient-care/healthy-active-living-for-families.

American Academy of Pediatrics. 2021c. "Safe Environments in Early Childhood." American Academy of Pediatrics, December 21. https://www.aap.org/en/patient-care/early-childhood/early-childhood-health-and-development/safe-environments.

Andrä, Christian, Brian Mathias, Anika Schwager, Manuela Macedonia, and Katharina von Kriegstein. 2020. "Learning Foreign Language Vocabulary with Gestures and Pictures Enhances Vocabulary Memory for Several Months Post-Learning in Eight-Year-Old School Children." Educational Psychology Review 32: 815–850. Illinois Early Learning Project. 2020. "Approaches to Learning: Persistence, Effort & Attentiveness." March 12. https:// illinoisearlylearning.org/ielg/persistence/.

Asasher. 2024. "The Importance of Cultural Diversity in the Classroom." CCEI A StraighterLine Company, June 12. https://www.cceionline.com/the-importance-of-cultural-diversity-in-the-classroom/.

Aslan, Derya, Seda Dağaynası, and Müge Ceylan. 2024. "Technology and Geometry: Fostering Young Children's Geometrical Concepts through a Research-Based Robotic Coding Program." *Education and Information Technologies* 29: 22699–22721. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-024-12747-3.

Ayers, A. Jean. 2005. Sensory Integration and the Child: Understanding Hidden Sensory Challenges. Los Angeles: Western Psychological Services.

Baillargeon, Renée. 2004. "Infants' Physical World." *Current Directions in Psychological Science* 13 (3): 89–94.

Baker, Sarah. 2024. "Positive Relationships Build a Foundation for Children's Learning." IBE Science of Learning Portal.

Ballantyne, Kate, Amy R. Sanderman, and Nancy McLaughlin. 2008. *Dual Language Learners in the Early Years: Getting Ready to Succeed in School*. National Clearinghouse for English Language Acquisition & Language Instruction Educational Programs. http://www.eric.ed.gov/PDFS/ED512635.pdf.

Morrongiello, Barbara A., Lisa Ondejko, and Amanda Littlejohn. 2004. "Understanding Toddlers' In-Home Injuries: Examining Parental Strategies and Their Efficacy for Managing Child Injury Risk." *Journal of Pediatric Psychology* 29 (6): 433–446. Baroody, Arthur J., Nusrat Bajwa, and Megan Eiland. 2009. "Why Can't Johnny Remember the Basic Facts?" *Developmental Disabilities Research Reviews* 15 (1): 69–79.

Barton, Georgina. 2015. "Arts-Based Educational Research in the Early Years." *Education Resource Information Center* (*ERIC*). https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ EI1150970.pdf.

Berk, Laura E., and Adam Winsler. 2002. Scaffolding Children's Learning: Vygotsky and Early Childhood Education. Washington, DC: National Association for the Education of Young Children.

Berson, Ilene R., and Kimberly Villotti. 2019. "A Position Statement of Early Childhood in the Social Studies Context." Washington, DC: National Council for the Social Studies.

Bianco, Michel, Pascal Bressoux, Anne Doyen, Etienne Lambert, Luis Lima, Claude Pellenq, and Marie Zorman. 2010. "Early Training in Oral Comprehension and Phonological Skills: Results of a Three-Year Longitudinal Study." *Scientific Studies* of *Reading* 14 (3): 211–246.

Björklund, Camilla, Marja van den Heuvel-Panhuizen, and Anette Kullberg. 2020. "Early Mathematics Education." *ZDM–Mathematics Education* 52 (4): 607–619.

Blakey, Emma, Ingmar Visser, and Daniel J. Carroll. 2016. "Different Executive Functions Support Different Kinds of Cognitive Flexibility." *Child Development* 87 (2): 513–526.

Blankson, A. Nayena, Jennifer M. Weaver, Esther M. Leerkes, Marion O'Brien, Susan D. Calkins, and Sabine Marcovitch. 2016. "Cognitive and Emotional Processes as Predictors of a Successful Transition into School." *Early Education and Development* 28 (1): 1–20.

Blewitt, Pamela, and Ryan Langan. 2016. "Learning Words During Shared Book Reading: The Role of Extratextual Talk Designed to Increase Child Engagement." Journal of Experimental Child Psychology 150: 404–421.

Bligh, Caroline A., and Rose Drury. 2015. "Perspectives on the 'Silent Period' for Emergent Bilinguals in England." Journal of Research in Childhood Education 29 (2): 259–274.

Bobis, Janette. 2008. "Early Spatial Thinking and the Development of Number Sense." *Australian Primary Mathematics Classroom* 13 (3): 4–9.

Bodrova, Elena. 2008. "Make-Believe Play Versus Academic Skills: A Vygotskian Approach to Today's Dilemma of Early Childhood Education." *European Early Childhood Education Research Journal* 16 (3): 357–369.

Boese, Jannika, Julian Busch, Birgit Leyendecker, and Anna-Lena Scherger. 2023. "Supporting Second Language Acquisition of Bilingual Preschool Children through Professionalization of Caregivers in Specialized Preschool Programs." *Frontiers* in Psychology 14: 1149447.

Bonifacci, Paola, Elena Tobia, Gian Marco Bernabini, and Alessandro Marzocchi. 2018. "In Few Words: Linguistic Gap but Adequate Narrative Structure in Preschool Bilingual Children." Journal of Child Language 45 (1): 120–147.

Borg, Fredrik. 2017. "Kids, Cash and Sustainability: Economic Knowledge and Behaviors among Preschool Children." *Cogent Education* 4 (1). https://doi.org/10.1080/2331186X.2017.1349562.

Bosse, Susan, Gloria Jacobs, and Tom Anderson. 2009. "Science in the Air." *Young Children* 64 (6): 10–15.

Boutte, Gloria Swindler. 2008. "Beyond the Illusion of Diversity: How Early Childhood Teachers Can Promote Social Justice." *The Social Studies* 99 (4): 165–173. https://doi.org/10.3200/TSSS.99.4.165-173.

Boutte, Gloria Swindler. 2010. Beyond the Illusion of Diversity: How Early Childhood Teachers Can Promote Social Justice.

Washington, DC: National Association for the Education of Young Children.

Bowman, Barbara T. 2021. "Why History? Educating the Early Childhood Workforce for Equity." NAEYC. https://www.naeyc.org/resources/pubs/yc/summer2021/whyhistory.

Bowman, Barbara T., M. Susan Donovan, and M. Suzanne Burns. 2001. *Eager to Learn*. Washington, DC: National Academy Press.

Brack, Janice C. 2004. *Learn to Move, Move to Learn: Sensorimotor Early Childhood Activity Themes*. Shawnee Mission, KS: Autism Asperger Publishing Company.

Brillante, Pamela, and Susan Mankiw. 2015. "A Sense of Place: Human Geography in the Early Childhood Classroom." Young Children, July. Washington, DC: National Association for the Education of Young Children. https://www.naeyc.org/resources/pubs/yc/jul2015/sense-of-place-human-geography.

Britsch, Susan. 2010. "Photo-Booklets for English Language Learning: Incorporating Visual Communication into Early Childhood Teacher Preparation." *Early Childhood Education Journal* 38 (3): 171–177.

Brummelman, Eddie, and Sander Thomaes. 2017. "How Children Construct Views of Themselves: A Social-Developmental Perspective." *Child Development* 88: 1763–1773.

Brussoni, Mariana, Leanne L. Olsen, Ian Pike, and David A. Sleet. 2012. "Risky Play and Children's Safety: Balancing Priorities for Optimal Child Development." *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* 9 (9): 3134–3148. doi:10.3390/ijerph9093134.

Cameron, Claire E., Laura L. Brock, Whitney M. Murrah, Laura H. Bell, Sarah L. Worzalla, David Grissmer, and Frederick J. Morrison. 2012. "Fine Motor Skills and Executive Function Both Contribute to Kindergarten Achievement." *Child Development* 83 (4): 1229–1244. Cao, Yanhong, and Young-Suk Grace Kim. 2021. "Is Retell a Valid Measure of Reading Comprehension?" *Educational Research Review* 32: 100375. doi:10.1016/j. edurey.2020.100375.

Carpenter, Thomas P., Elizabeth Fennema, Megan L. Franke, Linda Levi, and Susan B. Empson. 1999. Children's Mathematics: Cognitively Guided Instruction. Portsmouth, NH: Heinemann.

Cartwright, Kelly B., and Nicole Guajardo. 2015. "The Role of Hot and Cool Executive Functions in Pre-Reader Comprehension." In *Developing Early Comprehension: Laying the Foundation for Reading Success*, 151–177.

Castles, Anne, Kathleen Rastle, and Kate Nation. 2018. "Ending the Reading Wars: Reading Acquisition from Novice to Expert." *Psychological Science in the Public Interest* 19 (1): 5–51. doi:10.1177/1529100618772271.

Catling, Simon. 2006. "What Do Five-Year-Olds Know of the World?—Geographical Understanding and Play in Young Children's Early Learning." *Geography* 91: 55–74. doi:10.1080/0016748 7.2006.12094150.

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). 2023. "Creating a Healthy and Supportive School Environment." August 3. https://archive.cdc.gov/www_cdc_gov/healthyschools/sec_schools.htm.

CDC. 2024a. "CDC's Developmental Milestones." May 8. https://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/actearly/milestones/index.html.

CDC. 2024b. "Healthy Habits: Child Development." May 15. https://www.cdc. gov/child-development/about/index.html.

CDC. 2025. "Good Nutrition Starts Early." March 20. https://www.cdc.gov/nutrition/features/good-nutrition-starts-early.html.

Chaddock, Laura, Charles H. Hillman, Matthew B. Pontifex, Catherine R. Johnson, Lauren B. Raine, and Arthur F. Kramer. 2012. "Childhood Aerobic Fitness Predicts Cognitive Performance One Year Later." *Journal of Sports Sciences* 30 (5): 421–430. doi:10.1080/02640414.2011.64 7706.

106 Development 83 (4): 1229–1244.

Chawla, Louise. 2015. "Benefits of Nature Contact for Children." *Journal of Planning Literature* 30 (4): 433–452.

Chen, Xiaoyun, Katherine E. Twomey, and Gert Westermann. 2022. "Curiosity Enhances Incidental Object Encoding in 8-Month-Old Infants." *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology* 223: 105508.

Chinn, Lauren K., Catherine F. Noonan, Katherine S. Patton, and Joseph J. Lockman. 2024. "Tactile Localization Promotes Infant Self-Recognition in the Mirror-Mark Test." *Current Biology* 34: 1370–1375.

Christodoulakis, Nikos, and Katarina Adbo. 2024. "Exploring the Emergence of Chemistry in Preschool Education: A Qualitative Perspective." *Education Sciences* 14 (9): 1033. https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci14091033.

Clemente-Suárez, Vicente J., Ana I. Beltrán-Velasco, Silvia Herrero-Roldán, Stephanie Rodriguez-Besteiro, Ismael Martínez-Guardado, Alexandra Martín-Rodríguez, and Jose F. Tornero-Aguilera. 2024. "Digital Device Usage and Childhood Cognitive Development: Exploring Effects on Cognitive Abilities." Children 11 (11): 1299.

Clements, Douglas H., and Julie Sarama. 2009. *Learning and Teaching Early Math: The Learning Trajectories Approach*. New York: Routledge.

Clements, Douglas H., and Julie Sarama. 2019. "Learning and Teaching with Learning Trajectories." Marsico Institute, Morgridge College of Education, University of Denver.

Clements, Douglas H., Julie Sarama, Swaminathan Swaminathan, Deborah Weber, and Jeffrey Trawick-Smith. 2019. "Teaching and Learning Geometry: Early Foundations." *Quadrante* 27 (2): 7–31.

Cleveland Clinic Medical Professional. 2025. "Gross Motor Skills." Cleveland Clinic, March 19. https://my.clevelandclinic.org/health/articles/grossmotor-skills.

Colbourne, Jennifer A. D., Alice M. I. Auersperg, and Sarah R. Beck. 2024. "Children's Limited Tooling Ability in a Novel Concurrent Tool Use Task Supports the Innovation Gap." *Scientific Reports* 14: 21374.

Collins, Molly F. 2022. "Beyond Questions: A Fellowship of Opportunities for Fostering Preschoolers' Story Comprehension." *The Reading Teacher* 76 (4): 400–411. https://doi.org/10.1002/trtr.2095.

Curby, Timothy W., Kevin J. Grimm, and Robert C. Pianta. 2010. "Stability and Change in Early Childhood Classroom Interactions During the First Two Hours of a Day." *Early Childhood Research Quarterly* 25 (3): 373–384.

Davison, Megan Dunn, and Cathy Huaqing Qi. 2017. "Language Teaching Strategies for Preschool English Learners." Perspectives of the ASHA Special Interest Groups 2 (1): 170–178.

Day, Monimalika, and Rebecca Parlakian. 2003. How Culture Shapes Social-Emotional Development: Implications for Practice in Infant-Family Programs. Washington, DC: Zero to Three.

de Lautour, Nicky. 2020. "The Visual Arts and Children's Thinking and Theorising in Early Childhood." Educational Leadership Project. https://elp.co.nz/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/The-Visual-Arts-and-Childrens-Thinking-and-Theorising-in-Early-Childhood-Nicky-de-Lautour-2020.pdf.

DeBruin-Parecki, Andrea, and Kelly B. Cartwright. 2023. "Supporting Inferential Comprehension in the Preschool Classroom: The Roles of Theory of Mind and Executive Skills." *The Reading Teacher* 77: 146–155.

Donnellan, Emma, Caroline Bannard, Michelle McGillion, Katherine E. Slocombe, and Danielle Matthews. 2019. "Infants' Intentionally Communicative Vocalizations Elicit Responses from Caregivers and Predict the Transition to Language." *Developmental Science* 23 (1): e12843. https://doi.org/10.1111/desc.12843.

Duke, Nell K., and Kelly B. Cartwright. 2021. "The Science of Reading Progresses: Communicating Advances Beyond the Simple View of Reading." *Reading Research Quarterly* 56 (S1): S25–S44.

Early Math Collaborative. 2014. *Big Ideas of Early Mathematics: What Teachers of Young Children Need to Know.* Boston, MA: Pearson Education.

Eisner, Elliot W. 2002. "What the Arts Teach and How It Shows." *The Arts and the Creation of Mind*, 70–92. New Haven: Yale University Press.

Epstein, Ann S. 2014. "HighScope: The Key to Building a Better Future for All Children." HighScope. https://highscope. org/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/ ReSource2014spring_Soc-Emo.pdf.

Falkner, Amanda, and Natalia Naseem Rodríguez. 2024. "Rocking and Rolling: Supporting Curiosity and Inquiry in Early Social Studies." Young Children. Washington, DC: National Association for the Education of Young Children. https://www.naeyc.org/resources/pubs/yc/spring2024/rocking-and-rolling.

Fardi, Konstantinos. 2022. "The Concept of Historical Time in Early Childhood Education: Theoretical, Methodological Approaches and Practice." *History Education Research Journal* 19 (1): 11. https://doi.org/10.14324/HERJ.19.1.11.

Fox, Dana S., Amanda Ribner, Jessica Camarote, Elizabeth Votruba-Drzal, Hope J. Bachman, and Melissa E. Libertus. 2025. "Parents' Spatial Talk Predicts Toddlers' Spatial Language Gains." *Learning and Instruction* 97: 102107.

Frosch, Cynthia, Sarah Schoppe-Sullivan, and Diane O'Banion. 2021. "Parenting and Child Development: A Relational Health Perspective." *American Journal of Lifestyle Medicine* 15 (1): 45–59. doi:10.1177/1559827619849028.

Gerde, Hope K., Gary E. Bingham, and Barbara A. Wasik. 2012. "Writing in Early Childhood Classrooms: Guidance for Best Practices." *Early Childhood Education Journal* 40 (6): 351–359.

Ginsburg, Herbert P. 1987. *Children's Arithmetic: The Learning Process*. 2nd ed. Austin, TX: Pro-Ed.

Ginsburg, Herbert P. 1989. *Children's Arithmetic: How They Learn It and How You Teach It.* 2nd ed. Austin, TX: Pro-Ed.

Goodson, Barbara, and Carol Layzer. 2009. Learning to Talk and Listen: An Oral Language Resource for Early Childhood Caregivers. Washington, DC: National Institute for Literacy. http://www.eric. ed.gov/PDFS/ED511969.pdf.

Gopnik, Alison, David M. Sobel, Laura E. Schulz, and Clark Glymour. 2001. "Causal Learning Mechanisms in Very Young Children: Two- to Four-Year-Olds Infer Causal Relations from Patterns of Variation and Covariation." *Developmental Psychology* 37 (5): 620–629.

Gough, Philip B., and William E. Tunmer. 1986. "Decoding, Reading, and Reading Disability." *Remedial and Special Education* 7 (1): 6–10. https://doi.org/10.1177/074193258600700104.

Graziano, Paulo A., Rebecca D. Reavis, Susan P. Keane, and Susan D. Calkins. 2007. "The Role of Emotion Regulation in Children's Early Academic Success." *Journal* of School Psychology 45 (1): 3–19. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jsp.2006.09.002.

Greenberg, Mark T. 2023. "Evidence for Social and Emotional Learning in Schools." Learning Policy Institute.

Greensmith, Amanda. 2008. "Puppets in Education." Accessed September 4, 2008. www.creativityinstitute.com/index. asp?PageAction=Custom.

Griffin, Sharon. 2004. "Building Number Sense with Number Worlds: A Mathematics Program for Young Children." Early Childhood Research Quarterly 19 (1): 173–180.

Grissmer, David, Kevin J. Grimm, Sarah M. Aiyer, Whitney M. Murrah, and Jesse S. Steele. 2010. "Fine Motor Skills and Early Comprehension of the World: Two New School Readiness Indicators." *Developmental Psychology* 46 (5): 1008–1017.

Halle, Tamara, Elizabeth Hair, Laura Wandner, Megan McNamara, and Nicole Chien. 2012. "Predictors and Outcomes of Early Versus Later English Language Proficiency among English Language Learners." *Early Childhood Research Quarterly* 27 (1): 1–20.

Halverson, Laurie R., Ellen Tucker, and Gregory H. Smith. 2024. "Teaching Civics: An Overview of Instructional Strategies Using Primary Sources, Role-Play and Simulations, and Academic Service Learning for Teaching Civic Knowledge, Skills, and Dispositions." *The Social Studies*: 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1080/00377996.20 24.2379908.

Han, Jisu, and Stacey Neuharth-Pritchett. 2015. "Meaning-Related and Print-Related Interactions Between Preschoolers and Parents During Shared Book Reading and Their Associations With Emergent Literacy Skills." *Journal of Research in Childhood Education* 29 (4): 528–550.

Hao, Li, Yan Fan, Xiaohan Zhang, Xiang Rong, Yanan Sun, and Ke Liu. 2023. "Functional Physical Training Improves Fitness and Cognitive Development in 4-5-Year-Old Children." *Frontiers in Psychology* 14: 1266216. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2023.1266216.

Hardy, Jessica K., Yasmin Mere-Cook, and Hsiu-Wen Yang. 2024. "Critical Issues in Measuring and Teaching Social Problem-Solving in Early Childhood Research." Topics in Early Childhood Special Education.

Harris, Justin, et al. 2018. "Where Will It Go? How Children and Adults Reason About Force and Motion." *Cognitive Development* 45: 113–124.

Head Start ECLKC. 2024. "Early Science Learning for Infants and Toddlers." *News You Can Use*, updated September 2024.

Hespos, Susan J., Alissa L. Ferry, and Lance J. Rips. 2009. "Five-Month-Old Infants Have Different Expectations for Solids and Liquids." *Psychological Science* 20 (5): 603–611.

Hindman, Annemarie H., Laura E. Skibbe, Angela L. Miller, and M. Monica Zimmerman. 2010. "Ecological Contexts and Early Learning: Contributions of Child, Family, and Classroom Factors During Head Start to Literacy and Mathematics Growth Through First Grade." Early Childhood Research Quarterly 25 (2): 235–250.

Hjetland, Hanne N., Else Brinchmann, Ronny Scherer, Charles Hulme, and Arne Lervåg. 2020. "Literacy and Early Language Development: Insights from Computational Modelling." *Journal of Child Language* 47 (1): 1–30. https://doi.org/10.1017/S030500091900045X.

Hogan, Tiffany P., Suzanne M. Adlof, and Christopher N. Alonzo. 2014. "On the Importance of Listening Comprehension." *International Journal of Speech-Language Pathology* 16 (3): 199–207. doi:10.3109/17549507.2014.904441.

Horm, Diane, Deborah Norris, Deborah Perry, Ruth Chazan-Cohen, and Tamara Halle. 2016. "Developmental Foundations of School Readiness for Infants and Toddlers: A Research to Practice Report." OPRE Report #2016-07. Washington, DC: Office of Planning, Research and Evaluation, Administration for Children and Families, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

Hosokawa, Rie, Yui Matsumoto, Chikako Nishida, Kohei Funato, and Akemi Mitani. 2024. "Enhancing Social-Emotional Skills in Early Childhood: Intervention Study on the Effectiveness of Social and Emotional Learning." *BMC Psychology* 12: 761.

Hospodar, Colleen M., Jennifer E. Hoch, Dana K. Lee, Peter E. Shrout, and Karen E. Adolph. 2021. "Practice and Proficiency: Factors That Facilitate Infant Walking Skill." *Developmental Psychobiology* 63 (7): e22187. doi:10.1002/dev.22187.

Institute of Medicine (IOM) and National Research Council. 2015. *Transforming the Workforce for Children Birth Through Age 8: A Unifying Foundation*. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. https://doi.org/10.17226/19401.

Immordino-Yang, Mary Helen, Linda Darling-Hammond, and Christina Krone. 2018. "The Brain Basis for Integrated Social, Emotional, and Academic Development." Aspen Institute and National Commission on Social, Emotional, and Academic Development.

Imura, Tomoko, et al. 2015. "Eleven-Month-Old Infants Infer Differences in the Hardness of Object Surfaces from Observation of Penetration Events." Frontiers in Psychology 6: 1005.

International Literacy Association. 2020. Meeting the Challenges of Early Literacy Phonological Awareness Instruction: A Research Brief. Newark, DE: International Literacy Association.

Iruka, Iheoma U., Stephanie M. Curenton, Jessica Sims, Kevin Harris, and Ngozi Ibekwe-Okafor. 2021. "Ethnic-Racial Identity Formation in the Early Years." Durham, NC: Hunt Institute.

Jaggy, Anna-Katharina, Ilona Kalkusch, Christine Burkhardt Bossi, Bettina Weiss, Fiona Sticca, and Sonja Perren. 2023. "The Impact of Social Pretend Play on Preschoolers' Social Development: Results of an Experimental Study." *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0885200623000108.

Jago, Lana, Padraic Monaghan, Katie Alcock, and Kate Cain. 2025. "The Effect of Preschool Vocabulary and Grammar on Early Reading Comprehension and Word Reading: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis." Educational Research Review 47: 100680.

Jones, David, Alison Innerd, Emma L. Giles, and Luciana B. Azevedo. 2020. "Association Between Fundamental Motor Skills and Physical Activity in the Early Years: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis." Journal of Sport and Health Science 9 (6): 542–552.

Jones, Cindy D., Sarah K. Clark, and D. Ray Reutzel. 2013. "Enhancing Alphabet Knowledge Instruction: Research Implications and Practical Strategies for Early Childhood Educators." *Early Childhood Education Journal* 41 (2): 81–89.

Jones, Damon E., Mark Greenberg, and Max Crowley. 2015. "Early Social-Emotional Functioning and Public Health: The Relationship Between Kindergarten Social Competence and Future Wellness." *American Journal of Public Health* 105 (11): 2283–2290.

Jordan, Nancy C., Brianna L. Devlin, and Maria Botello. 2022. "Core Foundations of Early Mathematics: Refining the Number Sense Framework." *Current Opinion in Behavioral Sciences* 46: 101181.

Justice, Laura M., and Helen K. Ezell. 2002. "Use of Storybook Reading to Increase Print Awareness in At-Risk Children." American Journal of Speech-Language Pathology 11 (1): 17–29.

Kaiser, Barbara, and Judy Sklar Rasminsky. 2020. "Valuing Diversity: Developing a Deeper Understanding of All Young Children's Behavior." NAEYC, January. https://www.naeyc.org/resources/pubs/tyc/dec2019/valuing-diversity-developing-understanding-behavior.

Kan, Pui Fong, Morgan Jones, Christina Meyers-Denman, and Natalya Sparks. 2025. "Emergent Bilingual Children During the Silent Period: A Scoping Review of Their Communication Strategies and Classroom Environments." *Journal of Child Language* 52 (3): 558–591. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0305000924000151.

Kavak, Şule, and Ebru Deretarla Gül. 2020 "Bilingualism in Early Childhood: Code Switching." *Psycho-Educational Research Reviews* 9 (3): 70–83.

Keller, Karin, Larissa M. Troesch, and Alexander Grob. 2015. "A Large Receptive— Expressive Gap in Bilingual Children." Frontiers in Psychology 6: 1284.

Khomais, Suad, Noura Al-Khalidi, and Dana Alotaibi. 2019. "Dramatic Play in Relation to Self-Regulation in Preschool." *Education Resource Information Center* (ERIC). https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EI1267575.pdf.

Kozioł-Kozakowska, Anna. 2023. "Adequate Nutrition in Early Childhood." *Children* 10 (7): 1155. doi:10.3390/children10071155.

Krol, Sandra A., and Jennifer A. Bartz. 2021. "The Self and Empathy: Lacking a Clear and Stable Sense of Self Undermines Empathy and Helping Behavior." *Emotion*. Advance online publication.

Kuhl, Patricia K. 2011. "Early Language Learning and Literacy: Neuroscience Implications for Education." *Mind, Brain, and Education* 5 (3): 128–142. doi:10.1111/ j.1751-228X.2011.01121.x.

La Paro, Karen M., Angela C. Williamson, and Bridget Hatfield. 2014. "Assessing Quality in Toddler Classrooms Using the CLASS-Toddler and the ITERS-R." *Early Education and Development* 25 (6): 875–893. https://doi.org/10.1080/10409289.2014.8 83586.

Landerl, Karin, Anne Castles, and Rauno Parrila. 2021. "Cognitive Precursors of Reading: A Cross-Linguistic Perspective." Scientific Studies of Reading 26 (2): 111–124.

Latta, Gail F. 2019. "Second Language Acquisition and the Five Stages of Language Learning." *Language and Literacy Spectrum* 29 (1): 1–10.

Lenroot, Rhoshel K., Jennifer E. Schmitt, Stephen J. Ordaz, Gregory L. Wallace, Michael C. Neale, Jason P. Lerch, et al. 2009. "Differences in Genetic and Environmental Influences on the Human Cerebral Cortex Associated with Development During Childhood and Adolescence." Human Brain Mapping 30 (1): 163–174. doi:10.1002/hbm.20494.

Leonard, Julia A., Yuna J. Lee, and Laura E. Schulz. 2017. "Infants Make More Attempts to Achieve a Goal When They See Adults Persist." *Science* 357 (6357): 1290–1294.

Lervåg, Arne, Charles Hulme, and Monica Melby-Lervåg. 2018. "Unpicking the Developmental Relationship Between Oral Language Skills and Reading Comprehension: It's Simple, But Complex." *Child Development* 89 (5): 1821–1838. doi:10.1111/cdev.12861.

Light, Janice, and David McNaughton. 2019. "Literacy Instruction: Letter Sound Correspondences." Penn State University.

Liu, Yanmei. 2020. "Effects of Metacognitive Strategy Training on Chinese Listening Comprehension." Languages 5 (2): 21.

Luinge, Marieke R., Willem J. Post, Henk P. Wit, and Sijmen M. Goorhuis-Brouwer. 2006. "The Ordering of Milestones in Language Development for Children from 1 to 6 Years of Age." *Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research* 49 (5): 923–940.

Mahoney, Joseph L., Roger P. Weissberg, Mark T. Greenberg, Linda Dusenbury, Robert J. Jagers, Karen Niemi, Michael Schlinger, Jennifer Schlund, Timothy P. Shriver, Kristin VanAusdal, and Nicholas Yoder. 2021. "Systemic Social and Emotional Learning: Promoting Educational Success for All Preschool to High School Students." *American Psychologist* 76 (7): 1128–1142.

Manning, Brooke L., Meredith Y. Roberts, Rebecca Estabrook, Amanda Petitclerc, Jennifer L. Burns, Margaret Briggs-Gowan, Lauren S. Wakschlag, and Emily S. Norton. 2019. "Relations Between Toddler Expressive Language and Temper Tantrums in a Community Sample." *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology* 65: 101070. doi:10.1016/j.appdev.2019.101070.

McGee, Lea M., and Donald J. Richgels. 2003. *Designing Early Literacy Programs*. New York: Guilford Press.

McGee, Lea M., and Judith A. Schickedanz. 2007. "Repeated Interactive Read-Alouds in Preschool and Kindergarten." *The Reading Teacher* 60 (8): 742–751.

Miendlarzewska, Ewelina A., and W. Jay Dowling Trost. 2014. "How Musical Training Affects Cognitive Development: Rhythm, Reward and Other Modulating Variables." *Frontiers in Neuroscience* 7: 279. doi:10.3389/fnins.2013.00279.

Mills, Heather. 2014. "The Importance of Creative Arts in Early Childhood Classrooms." *Child Care Quarterly*. https://www.ilgateways.com/docman-docs/faculty-resources/ece-resources/2798-cpd-5-the-importance-of-creative-arts-in-early-childhood-classrooms/file.

Miquelote, Amanda F., Daniela C. C. Santos, Patricia M. Caçola, Maria I. de L. Montebelo, and Carl Gabbard. 2012. "Effect of the Home Environment on Motor and Cognitive Behavior of Infants." Infant Behavior and Development 35 (3): 329–334.

Morgan, Paul L., George Farkas, Marianne M. Hillemeier, Steve Maczuga, Richard Scheffner Hammer, and Barbara Cook Shelden. 2015. "24-Month-Old Children with Larger Oral Vocabularies Display Greater Academic and Behavioral Functioning at Kindergarten Entry." *Child Development* 86 (5): 1351–1370. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12398.

Morrongiello, Barbara A., and Trina Dawber. 2004. "Identifying Factors That Relate to Children's Risk-Taking Decisions." *Canadian Journal of Behavioural Science / Revue canadienne des sciences du comportement* 36 (4): 255–266. https://doi. org/10.1037/h0087235.

Morrow, Lesley M., and Mary K. Rand. 2021. "The Contribution of Play Experiences in Early Literacy: Expanding the Science of Reading." *Reading Research Quarterly* 56 (S1): S239–S248.

Moses, Adam. 2024. "Knowledgeable and Engaged Young Citizens: Social Studies in Early Childhood." NAEYC. https://www.naeyc.org/resources/pubs/yc/spring2024/social-studies-early-childhood.

Murata, Nathan M., and Charles A. Tan. 2009. "Collaborative Teaching of Motor Skills for Preschoolers with Developmental Delays." *Early Childhood Education Journal* 36 (6): 483–489.

National Academies of Sciences, Engineering and Medicine. 2022. Science and Engineering in Preschool Through Elementary Grades: The Brilliance of Children and the Strengths of Educators. Washington, DC: National Academies Press. National Association for the Education of Young Children (NAEYC). 2022. "Literacy Learning for Infants, Toddlers, and Preschoolers: Key Practices for Educators."

NAEYC. 2024. "Developmentally Appropriate Practices."

National Center on Improving Literacy. 2023. "The 5 Big Ideas of Beginning Reading." Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education, Office of Elementary and Secondary Education, Office of Special Education Programs. National Center on Improving Literacy.

National Council of Teachers of Mathematics (NCTM). 2000. *Principles* and Standards for School Mathematics. Reston, VA: National Council of Teachers of Mathematics.

National Council of Teachers of Mathematics. 2006. Curriculum Focal Points for Prekindergarten through Grade 8 Mathematics: A Quest for Coherence. Reston, VA: NCTM.

National Early Literacy Panel. 2008.

Developing Early Literacy: Report of the
National Early Literacy Panel. Washington,
DC: National Center for Family Literacy.

National Reading Panel. 2000. Teaching Children to Read: An Evidence-Based Assessment of the Scientific Research Literature on Reading and Its Implications for Reading Instruction. NIH Publication No. 00-4769. National Institute of Child Health and Human Development.

National Research Council. 1998. Preventing Reading Difficulties in Young Children. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press.

National Research Council. 2009.

Mathematics Learning in Early Childhood:
Paths Toward Excellence and Equity.
Washington, DC: The National Academies
Press. https://doi.org/10.17226/12519.

National Science Teachers Association (NSTA). 2014. NSTA Position Statement: Early Childhood Science Education. Arlington, VA: National Science Teachers Association. https://www.nsta.org/nstasofficial-positions/early-childhood-science-education.

NCSS Board of Directors. 2019. "Early Childhood in the Social Studies Context." *Social Studies*. https://www.socialstudies. org/position-statements/early-childhood-social-studies-context.

Neuman, Susan B., and David K. Dickinson, eds. 2001. *Handbook of Early Literacy Research*. New York: Guilford Press.

New, Rebecca S., and Moncrieff Cochran. 2007. Early Childhood Education: An International Encyclopedia, Volume 1 A-D. Westport, CT: Praeger Publishers.

Newman, Barbara M., and Philip R. Newman. 2022. *Theories of Human Development.* 3rd ed. New York: Routledge.

Nguyen, Susan P., and Sandra A. Gelman. 2021. "The Role of Language in Children's Developing Ability to Cross-Classify." *Child Development* 92 (5): e841–e858. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.13555.

Nguyen, Susan P., and Gregory L. Murphy. 2019. "An Investigation of Children's Ability to Cross-Classify Items." *Journal of Cognition and Development* 20 (1): 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1080/15248372.2018.1531354.

Nguyen, Tutrang, Tyler W. Watts, Greg J. Duncan, Douglas H. Clements, Julie Sarama, Christopher Wolfe, and Mary E. Spitler. 2016. "Which Preschool Mathematics Competencies Are Most Predictive of Fifth Grade Achievement?" *Early Childhood Research Quarterly* 36: 550–560.

Niland, Amanda. 2009. "The Power of Musical Play: The Value of Play-Based, Child-Centered Curriculum in Early Childhood Music Education." *General Music Today* 23 (1): 17–21.

Noble, Claire, Giovanni Sala, Michelle Peter, Jamie Lingwood, Caroline F. Rowland, Fernand Gobet, and Julian Pine. 2019. "The Impact of Shared Book Reading on Children's Language Skills: A Meta-Analysis." *Educational Research Review* 28: 100290.

Onoshakpokaiye, E. O. 2023. *Mathematics Education Journal* 7 (1): 16–30.

Pascual-Leone, Alvaro, Amir Amedi, Felipe Fregni, and Lotfi B. Merabet. 2005. "The Plastic Human Brain Cortex." *Annual Review of Neuroscience* 28: 377–401. doi:10.1146/annurev. neuro.27.070203.144216.

Pentimonti, Jill M., Tricia A. Zucker, Laura M. Justice, Yaacov Petscher, Shayne B. Piasta, and Julie N. Kaderavek. 2012. "A Standardized Tool for Assessing the Quality of Classroom-Based Shared Reading: Systematic Assessment of Book Reading (SABR)." *Early Childhood Research Quarterly* 27 (3): 512–528.

Perry, Bruce D. 2001. "The Neurodevelopmental Impact of Violence in Childhood." *Textbook of Child and Adolescent Forensic Psychiatry*, edited by Diane Schetky and Elissa P. Benedek, 221–238. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Press.

Petscher, Yaacov, Laura M. Justice, and Tiffany Hogan. 2018. "Modeling the Early Language Trajectory of Language Development When the Measures Change and Its Relation to Poor Reading Comprehension." *Child Development* 89 (6): 2136–2156.

Piaget, Jean. 1964. "Development and Learning." Piaget Rediscovered: A Report on the Conference of Cognitive Studies and Curriculum Development, edited by R.E. Ripple and V.N. Rockcastle, 7–20. Ithaca, NY: Cornell University.

Pillinger, Claire, and Emma J. Vardy. 2022. "The Story So Far: A Systematic Review of the Dialogic Reading Literature." *Journal of Research in Reading* 45 (4): 533–548.

Platas, Linda M. 2017. "The Why and What of Spatial Relations." DREME Network, Stanford University. https://dreme.stanford.edu/news/why-and-what-spatial-relations.

Pollard-Durodola, Sharolyn D., Jorge E. Gonzalez, Lillian Saenz, Nelson Resendez, Oi-Man Kwok, Lingzi Zhu, and Holly Davis. 2018. "The Effects of Content-Enriched Shared Book Reading Versus Vocabulary-Only Discussions on the Vocabulary Outcomes of Preschool Dual Language Learners." Early Education and Development 29 (2): 245–265.

Porta, Mariana E., and Gabriela Ramirez. 2019. "The Impact of an Early Intervention on Vocabulary, Phonological Awareness, and Letter–Sound Knowledge among Spanish–Speaking Kindergarteners." *International Journal of School & Educational Psychology* 8 (sup1): 65–79.

Pulver, Thomas. 2018. "Teach Creativity to Enhance Problem-Solving Skills." Institute of Competition Sciences, March 12. https://www.competitionsciences.org/2018/03/12/teach-creativity-to-enhance-problem-solving-skills/.

Puranik, Cynthia S., Christopher J. Lonigan, and Young-Suk Grace Kim. 2011. "Contributions of Emergent Literacy Skills to Name Writing, Letter Writing, and Spelling in Preschool Children." Early Childhood Research Quarterly 26 (4): 465–474.

Puranik, Cynthia S., and Christopher J. Lonigan. 2012. "Name-Writing Proficiency, Not Length of Name, Is Associated with Preschool Children's Emergent Literacy Skills." *Early Childhood Research Quarterly* 27 (2): 284–294.

Puranik, Cynthia S., and Christopher J. Lonigan. 2014. "Emergent Writing in Preschoolers: Preliminary Evidence for a Theoretical Framework." *Reading Research Quarterly* 49 (4): 453–467.

Raghubar, Kimberly P., and Marcia A. Barnes. 2017. "Early Numeracy Skills in Preschool-Aged Children: A Review of Neurocognitive Findings and Implications for Assessment and Intervention." *The Clinical Neuropsychologist* 31 (2): 329–351.

Raikes, Helen H., Laura White, Susan Green, Margaret Burchinal, Kenneth Kainz, Diane Horm, Gary Bingham, Amy Cobo-Lewis, Laura St. Clair, Daryl Greenfield, and Jennifer Esteraich. 2019. "Use of the Home Language in Preschool Classrooms and First- and Second-Language Development Among Dual-Language Learners." Early Childhood Research Quarterly 47: 145–158.

Rat-Fischer, Lauriane, Kim Plunkett, Auguste M. P. von Bayern, and Alex Kacelnik. 2024. "Object Play and Problem Solving in Infancy: Insights into Tool Use." *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology* 244: 105957.

Raven, Stephanie, and Jennifer A. Wenner. 2023. "Science at the Center: Meaningful Science Learning in a Preschool Classroom." *Journal of Research in Science Teaching* 60 (4): 484–514.

Rice, Molly, F. Erbeli, C. G. Thompson, M. Sallese, and M. Fogarty. 2022. In press. "Phonemic Awareness: A Meta-Analysis for Planning Effective Instruction." *Reading Research Quarterly*.

Rittle-Johnson, Bethany, Emily R. Fyfe, Amanda M. Loehr, and Mary R. Miller. 2015. "Beyond Numeracy in Preschool: Adding Patterns to the Equation." *Early Childhood Research Quarterly* 31: 101–112.

Roberts, Theresa A., Patricia F. Vadasy, and Elizabeth A. Sanders. 2018. "Preschoolers' Alphabet Learning: Letter Name and Sound Instruction, Cognitive Processes, and English Proficiency." *Early Childhood Research Quarterly* 44: 257–274.

Roberts, Theresa A., Patricia F. Vadasy, and Elizabeth A. Sanders. 2019a. "Preschoolers' Alphabet Learning: Cognitive, Teaching Sequence, and English Proficiency Influences." Reading Research Quarterly 54 (3): 413–437.

Roberts, Theresa A., Patricia F. Vadasy, and Elizabeth A. Sanders. 2019b. "Preschool Instruction in Letter Names and Sounds: Does Contextualized or Decontextualized Instruction Matter?" *Reading Research Quarterly* 55 (4): 573–600.

Roberts, Theresa A. 2021a. "Learning Letters: Evidence and Questions From a Science-of-Reading Perspective." *Reading Research Quarterly* 56 (S1): S171–S192.

Roberts, Theresa A. 2021b. "Learning to Read in English: A Global Perspective." *Reading Research Quarterly* 56 (S1): S171– S192 Rohloff, Amy, et al. 2024. "The Impact of Oral Language and Transcription Skills on Early Writing Development." *Early Childhood Education Journal* 52 (2): 123–138.

Rosanbalm, Kimberly D., and Desiree W. Murray. 2017. "Promoting Self-Regulation in Early Childhood: A Practice Brief." OPRE Brief #2017-79. Washington, DC: Office of Planning, Research and Evaluation, Administration for Children and Families, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

Rovee-Collier, Carolyn. 1999. "The Development of Infant Memory." *Current Directions in Psychological Science* 8 (3): 80–85.

Rowe, Deborah W. 2018. "The Unrealized Promise of Emergent Writing: Reimagining the Way Forward for Early Writing Instruction." *Language Arts* 95 (4): 229–241.

Rungsattatharm, L., P. Tasingha, P. Trairatvorakul, et al. 2025. "Longitudinal Associations Between Executive Function and Positive Parenting During Early Childhood and Resilience, Self-Regulation, and Behavioral Problems in School-Age Children." Child and Adolescent Psychiatry and Mental Health 19: 19.

Ruokonen, Inkeri, Mari Tervaniemi, and Jyrki Reunamo. 2023. "Education for the Future: Learning and Teaching for Sustainable Development in Education." Frontiers Research Topic, May 31. https://www.frontiersin.org/research-topics/57037/education-for-the-future-learning-and-teaching-for-sustainable-development-ineducation.

Sarama, Julie, and Douglas H. Clements. 2009. *Early Childhood Mathematics Education Research*. New York: Routledge.

Sarama, Julie, Angela A. Lange, Douglas H. Clements, and Christopher B. Wolfe. 2011. "The Impacts of an Early Mathematics Curriculum on Oral Language and Literacy." *Early Childhood Research Quarterly* 27 (3): 489–502.

Scarborough, Hollis S. 2001. "Connecting Early Language and Literacy to Later Reading (Dis)Abilities."

Schachter, Rachel E., and Sang Ah Jo. 2018. "An Examination of Teachers' Developmentally Appropriate Beliefs and Practices and Preschool Children's Approaches to Learning." *Early Childhood Education Journal* 46 (2): 185–193. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10643-017-0844-5.

Schellenberg, E. Glenn. 2004. "Music Lessons Enhance IQ." *Psychological Science* 15 (8): 511–514.

Schindler, Virginia. 2002. "Young Children and Spatial Reasoning: Tools for Success." *Early Childhood Education Journal* 30 (3): 123–128. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1021220703234.

Schum, Thomas R., Timothy M. Kolb, Timothy L. McAuliffe, Margaret D. Simms, Rebecca L. Underhill, and Michael Lewis. 2002. "Sequential Acquisition of Toilet-Training Skills: A Descriptive Study of Gender and Age Differences in Normal Children." *Pediatrics* 109 (3): e48.

Seefeldt, Carol, and Alice Galper. 2008. Active Experiences for Active Children: Science. 2nd ed. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Education.

Sénéchal, Monique, Gene Ouellette, and Hoa N. L. Nguyen. 2023. "Invented Spelling: An Integrative Review of Descriptive, Correlational, and Causal Evidence." In *Handbook on the Science of Early Literacy*, edited by Sonia Q. Cabell, Susan B. Neuman, and Nicole Patton Terry, 95–106. New York: Guilford Press.

Shah, Prachi E., Heidi M. Weeks, Blair Richards, and Niko Kaciroti. 2018. "Early Childhood Curiosity and Kindergarten Reading and Math Academic Achievement." *Pediatric Research* 84 (3): 380–386.

Shinskey, Jessica L., and Lauren J. Jachens. 2014. "Picturing Objects in Infancy." *Child Development* 85 (5): 1813–1820.

Siklander, Signe, Dung Nguyen, Nils Jaekel, and Lijuan Wang. 2023. "Second Language Learning Through Play in Early Childhood Education: A Systematic Review."

112 Development 29 (2): 245–265.

Snowling, Margaret J., Charles Hulme, Andrew M. Bailey, Susan E. Stothard, and Geoff Lindsay. 2011. "Language and Literacy Attainment of Pupils During Early Years and Through KS2: Does Teacher Assessment at Five Provide a Valid Measure of Children's Current and Future Educational Attainments?" Department for Education Research Report DFE-RR172a.

Snowling, Margaret J., Katharina Moll, and Charles Hulme. 2021. "Language Difficulties Are a Shared Risk Factor for Both Reading Disorder and Mathematics Disorder." *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology* 202: 105009. doi:10.1016/j. jecp.2020.105009.

Snowling, Margaret J., and Charles Hulme. 2005. The Science of Reading: A Handbook. Malden, MA: Blackwell Publishing.

Solis, S. Lynneth, et al. 2017. "Children's Exploration of Physical Phenomena During Object Play." *Journal of Research in Childhood Education* 31 (1): 122–140.

Sousa, David A. 2008. How the Brain Learns Mathematics. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.

Stahl, Aimee E., and Lisa Feigenson. 2015. "Observing the Unexpected Enhances Infants' Learning and Exploration." *Science* 348 (6230): 91–94.

Stone, Brian. 2024. "The Impact of Authentic Early Childhood STEM Experiences on Cognitive Development." International Journal of the Whole Child 9 (1).

Strickland, Dorothy S., and Shannon Riley-Ayers. 2006. "Early Literacy: Policy and Practice in the Preschool Years." *NIEER Policy Report*. National Institute for Early Education Research. http://nieer.org/resources/policybriefs/10.pdf.

Swanson, Meredith R., Kelly Donovan, Sally Paterson, Jed Elison, Patricia S. Oakes, et al. 2019. "Early Language Exposure Supports Later Language Skills in Infants With and Without Autism." *Autism Research* 12 (12): 1784–1795. Swider-Cios, Edyta, Anouk Vermeij, and Margriet M. Sitskoorn. 2023. "Young Children and Screen-Based Media: The Impact on Cognitive and Socioemotional Development and the Importance of Parental Mediation." *Cognitive Development* 66: 101319.

Tao, Di, Yifan Gao, Alex Cole, Jason S. Baker, Yi Gu, Rachna Supriya, Tsz-Kit Tong, Qi Hu, and Rachel Awan-Scully. 2022. "The Physiological and Psychological Benefits of Dance and Its Effects on Children and Adolescents: A Systematic Review." *Frontiers in Physiology* 13: 925958.

Tarasuik, Joanne, Ana Demaria, and Jordy Kaufman. 2017. "Transfer of Problem-Solving Skills from Touchscreen to 3D Model by 3- to 6-Year-Olds." *Frontiers in Psychology* 8: 1586.

Temple, Judy A., Katherine C. Walker, and Michael E. Brown. 2020. "The Impact of Spatial Language on Early Cognitive Development." *Journal of Child Language Studies* 45 (1): 55–70.

Texas Education Agency. n.d. "The Alphabetic Principle." Reading Rockets.

Theodotou, Eleni. 2025. "Dancing with Children or Dancing for Children? Measuring the Effects of a Dance Intervention in Children's Confidence and Agency." *Early Child Development and Care* 195 (1–2): 64–73. https://doi.org/10.1080/03004430.2025.2452587.

Thompson, Karen D. 2017. "English Learners' Time to Reclassification: An Analysis." *Educational Policy* 31 (3): 330–363.

Thompson, Ross A. 2002. "The View from Research: The Roots of School Readiness in Social and Emotional Development." *The Kauffman Early Education Exchange* 1 (1): 8–29.

Tomblin, J. Bruce, Mary Harrison, Susan E. Ambrose, Elizabeth A. Walker, Jacob J. Oleson, and Mary Pat Moeller. 2015. "Language Outcomes in Young Children with Mild to Severe Hearing Loss." Ear and Hearing 36 (Suppl 1, November–December): 76S–91S. https://doi. org/10.1097/AUD.00000000000000219.

Tompkins, Virginia, Ying Guo, and Laura M. Justice. 2013. "Inference Generation, Story Comprehension, and Language Skills in the Preschool Years." *Reading and Writing* 26 (3): 403–429.

Treiman, Rebecca, Liane Hompluem, Jessica Gordon, Kristine Decker, and Laura Markson. 2016. "Young Children's Knowledge of the Symbolic Nature of Writing." *Child Development* 87 (2): 583–592.

Treiman, Rebecca, Jessica Gordon, and Emily Boada. 2020. "Learning Letter Names and Sounds: The Role of Letter-Sound Structure." *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology* 191: 104743.

Tyler, Christopher W., and Lora T. Likova. 2012. "The Role of the Visual Arts in Enhancing the Learning Process." Frontiers in Human Neuroscience 6: 8.

Uchikoshi, Yuuko, Lu Yang, and Siwei Liu. 2018. "Role of Narrative Skills on Reading Comprehension: Spanish-English and Cantonese-English Dual Language Learners." *Reading and Writing* 31 (2): 381–404.

University of Illinois. 2025. "Things We Need: Economics for Preschoolers." Illinois Early Learning Project, March 28. https://illinoisearlylearning.org/tipsheets/needs/.

VanDerHeyden, Amanda M., Courtney Broussard, Patricia Snyder, Judith George, Sarah Lafleur, and Caroline Williams. 2011. "Measurement of Kindergartners' Understanding of Early Mathematical Concepts." School *Psychology Review* 40 (2): 296–306.

Vasilaki, Vasiliki. 2024. "Preschool Teachers' Views on the Impact of Visual Arts." *Education Resource Information Center (ERIC)*. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ ED652998.pdf.

Vilotti, Emelina, and Ilene R. Berson. 2019. "Social Studies in the Early Childhood Years: A Position Statement of the National Council for the Social Studies." *Social Education* 83 (1): 16–22.

Vygotsky, Lev S. 1962. *Thought and Language*. Translated by Eugenia Hanfmann and Gertrude Vakar. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.

Vygotsky, Lev S. 1978. *Mind in Society: The Development of Higher Psychological Processes*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

Vygotsky, Lev S. 1987. *Thinking and Speech*. Vol. 1. New York: Plenum Press.

Walker, Olga L., Kathryn A. Degnan, Nathan A. Fox, and Heather A. Henderson. 2013. "Social Problem-Solving in Early Childhood: Developmental Change and the Influence of Shyness." *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology* 34 (4): 185–193.

Watts, Tyler W., Greg J. Duncan, Robert S. Siegler, and Pamela E. Davis-Kean. 2014. "What's Past Is Prologue: Relations Between Early Mathematics Knowledge and High School Achievement." *Educational Researcher* 43 (7): 352–360.

Webster-Stratton, Carolyn, and Mary J. Reid. 2004. "Strengthening Social and Emotional Competence in Young Children—The Foundation for Early School Readiness and Success: Incredible Years Classroom Social Skills and Problem-Solving Curriculum." *Infants and Young Children* 17 (2): 96–113.

Werker, Janet F., and Takao K. Hensch. 2015. "Critical Periods in Speech Perception: New Directions." Annual Review of Psychology 66: 173–196.

Westfall, David R., Anne K. Gejl, Jesper Tarp, Niels Wedderkopp, Arthur F. Kramer, Charles H. Hillman, et al. 2018. "Associations Between Aerobic Fitness and Cognitive Control in Adolescents." *Frontiers in Psychology* 9: 1298.





